
Date Published:16 January 2023     

Adult Social Care and Communities Scrutiny Committee

Tuesday 24 January 2023 at 10.00 am

Cabinet Suite - Shire Hall, Gloucester

AGENDA

1  APOLOGIES 

To note any apologies for absence.

Cllr Stephan 
Fifield

2  DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 

To advise of any declarations of interest relating to matters for discussion 
at the meeting.

Cllr Stephan 
Fifield

3  MINUTES (Pages 1 - 32)

To confirm and agree the minutes of the meeting held on 6 September 
2022

Cllr Stephan 
Fifield

SCRUTINY ITEMS

4  DIRECTOR OF PUBLIC HEALTH ANNUAL REPORT 2022/23 
(Pages 33 - 64)

The Director of Public Health to present the Public Health Annual Report 
2022/23. 

The title of the report is ‘No Person is an Island: Social Connections in 
Gloucestershire’.

Siobhan 
Farmer

5  GLOUCESTERSHIRE SAFEGUARDING ADULTS BOARD 
ANNUAL REPORT (Pages 65 - 98)

Paul Yeatman, Independent Chair of the Gloucestershire Safeguarding 
Adults Board, and Sarah Jasper, Head of Safeguarding (Adults) at 

Paul Yeatman
Sarah Jasper



    

Gloucestershire County Council to present the Gloucestershire 
Safeguarding Adults Board GSAB Annual Report 2021/2022. 

INFORMATION ITEMS

6  PUBLIC HEALTH UPDATE REPORT (Pages 99 - 104)

A report from the Director of Public Health (Gloucestershire County 
Council)

Siobhan 
Farmer

7  ADULT SOCIAL CARE UPDATE REPORT (Pages 105 - 126)

A report from the Executive Director of Adult Social Care, Wellbeing and 
Communities.

Professor 
Sarah Scott

8  CHIEF FIRE OFFICER UPDATE REPORT (Pages 127 - 134)

An update on matters relating to the portfolio of services delivered by the 
Chief Fire Officer, (Gloucestershire Fire and Rescue Service), and within 
the remit of the Gloucestershire County Council’s Adult Social Care and 
Communities Scrutiny Committee, (Trading Standards, Civil Protection 
and Coroners Services).

Mark Preece

9  QUARTER 2 (2022/23) PERFORMANCE SCORECARD REPORT 
(Pages 135 - 140)

To note the Adult Social Care Quarter 2 (2021/22) Performance Scorecard 
Report.

Lead Officers/
Cabinet 
Members

10  WORK PLAN 

To suggest items for consideration at future meetings.

Cllr Stephan 
Fifield

Membership –  Cllr Stephan Fifield (Chair), Cllr Cate Cody, Cllr Terry Hale, Cllr Stephen Hirst, 
Cllr Steve Robinson, Cllr Lisa Spivey (Vice-Chair), Cllr Pam Tracey MBE, Cllr Susan Williams and 
Cllr Suzanne Williams 

(a) DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST – Members requiring advice or clarification about 
whether to make a declaration of interest are invited to contact Rob Ayliffe, Monitoring 
Officer/Head of Strategic Planning, Performance & Change.  01452 328506 e-mail: 
rob.ayliffe@gloucestershire.gov.uk) prior to the meeting.

(b) INSPECTION OF PAPERS AND GENERAL QUERIES - If you wish to inspect minutes or 
reports relating to any item on this agenda or have any other general queries about the 
meeting, please contact: Jo Moore, Senior Democratic Services Adviser :01452 
324196/fax: 425240/e-mail: jo.moore@gloucestershire.gov.uk

Please note that photography, filming and audio recording of Council meetings is 
permitted subject to the Local Government Access to Information provisions.  Please 

mailto:rob.ayliffe@gloucestershire.gov.uk
mailto:jo.moore@gloucestershire.gov.uk


    

 

contact Democratic Services (Tel 01452 324202) to make the necessary arrangements 
ahead of the meeting.  If you are a member of the public and do not wish to be 
photographed or filmed please inform the Democratic Services Officer on duty at the 
meeting.

EVACUATION PROCEDURE - in the event of the fire alarms sounding during the meeting please leave as 
directed in a calm and orderly manner and go to the assembly point which is outside the main entrance to 
Shire Hall in Westgate Street.  Please remain there and await further instructions.



This page is intentionally left blank



- 1 -

ADULT SOCIAL CARE AND COMMUNITIES SCRUTINY 
COMMITTEE

Minutes of the meeting of the Adult Social Care and Communities Scrutiny Committee 
held on Tuesday 6 September 2022.

Present: Cllr Stephan Fifield 
(Chair)
Cllr Cate Cody
Cllr Terry Hale
Cllr Stephen Hirst
Cllr Steve Robinson

Cllr Lisa Spivey (Vice-Chair)
Cllr Susan Williams
Cllr Dr Andrew Miller
Cllr Ben Evans

1. APOLOGIES 

Apologies were received from Cllr Pam Tracey, (substituted by Cllr Andrew Miller), 
and Cllr Suzanne Williams, (substituted by Cllr Ben Evans). 

2. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 

No declarations of interest were made at the meeting.

3. MINUTES 

The minutes of the meetings held on 5 and 20 July 2022 were confirmed as an 
accurate record of those meetings.

4. BEHAVIOURAL SCIENCE 

The committee received a detailed presentation on the use and application of 
behavioural science in local government, including proposed next steps to the 
integration of behavioural science in the delivery of the council’s services. Please 
refer to the report circulated with the agenda and the attached PowerPoint 
presentation presented at the meeting for information. 

Behavioural science is the scientific, evidence-based, study of human behaviour 
used to better understand and influence desired changes. Expanding on the 
rationale for the application of behavioural science in local government decision 
making, it was explained that, whilst individuals may have access to lots of 
information and appear to have the best of intentions, they didn’t always necessarily 
behave in a logical or rational way. 

Tom Beasley and Sarah Haden-Godwin from Active Gloucestershire attended the 
meeting to respond to questions and to share some of the success stories 
emerging from the use of behavioural science with their work. Responding to 
questions, it was confirmed that one of the advantages of using behavioural science 
was that it could applied to a range of different levels and, from local experience, 

Page 1

Agenda Item 3



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a correct record at the next meeting

- 2 -

had proven to be successful across the whole of the county. It was recognised, 
however, that it was important to adhere to firm principles in its application.

Members were advised to refer to the Public Health England ‘Achieving Behaviour 
Change’ publication, (guide for local government and partners), for more 
information on the application of behavioural science in local government. 

Agreeing to provide further updates at future meetings, it was hoped the examples 
referred to at this meeting would help highlight the benefits to local councils from 
using evidence-based behavioural science. The committee noted the report, 
including further opportunities for embedding behavioural science in the council’s 
business. 

5. SUICIDE PREVENTION 

Claire Procter, Assistant Director of Prevention, Wellbeing and Communities and 
Nicky, Commissioning Officer for Public Mental Health, gave a detailed presentation 
on the Council’s suicide prevention work in Gloucestershire. The presentation 
included the latest data on suicide trends, both nationally and locally, and an 
overview of the Council’s work with system partners to help reduce suicide and to 
offer support to those affected by it. The PowerPoint presentation presented at the 
meeting is attached for information. 

It was explained that, as part of the its public health responsibilities, the Council 
was responsible for co-ordinating the Gloucestershire Suicide Prevention 
Partnership and for overseeing delivery of the countywide Suicide Prevention 
Strategy and Suicide Audit.  

Suicide prevention in Gloucestershire is led by the Gloucestershire Suicide 
Prevention Steering Group. Chaired by the Public Health Team, the Steering Group 
includes representation from the Corners Office, Police, Mental Health Trust, and 
Integrated Care Board. The Steering Group reports to the Mental Health and 
Wellbeing Partnership Board, which in turn reports to the Gloucestershire Health 
and Wellbeing Board. 

The Steering Group works alongside the Gloucestershire Suicide Prevention 
Partnership Forum, a broad network of partners from across the public, voluntary 
and community sector. The forum is open to all with an interest in preventing 
suicide and is designed to encourage information exchange and joint working. The 
forum meets several times a year

Highlighting the importance of the Gloucestershire ‘Support After Suicide Service’ 
(GSAS) launched in February 2022, members were informed that investment in the 
service had arisen from the allocation of NHS England funding in 2021 for the 
purposes of improving support to those bereaved through suicide. The service 
supported people aged 18 plus living in the county who had been affected or 
bereaved by suicide. This included family, partners, friends, colleagues, health & 
social care professionals and those who may have witnessed a death. The service 
provides a range of support including practical and emotional support, bereavement 
counselling and peer support groups. 

Page 2



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a correct record at the next meeting

- 3 -

Gloucestershire had also benefitted from the allocation of NHS England funding for 
wider suicide prevention. A tranche of this funding, (allocated in 2029/20), had been 
used to part fund the Gloucestershire Wellbeing Community Grant Programme. It 
was confirmed that a total of 28 grants had been awarded to facilitate a range of 
projects. These include: a mental health and postnatal depression support project 
for mothers; a counselling project for young people; new sporting clubs for children 
and adults with disabilities, and wellbeing workshops to help improve people’s 
mental health, wellbeing and resilience.

Responding to questions, it was confirmed that nationally, there did not appear to 
have been an increase in overall suicides culminating from the pandemic. 
Nevertheless, the impact of the past two years had almost certainly exacerbated 
some of the key risk factors that contributed to poor mental health and suicide. 
These included, social isolation, financial challenges, and bereavement. 
Acknowledging the importance continuing to promote the support available to 
people who may be experiencing mental health issues, the committee was informed 
that this would be a key focus of the council’s new Suicide Prevention Strategy. 

The most recent Gloucestershire Suicide Prevention Strategy covered the period 
2015-20. Unfortunately, a planned update of the strategy in 2020 had been delayed 
due to the pandemic. Work was now underway to engage with stakeholders on the 
development of a new five-year strategy. In the interim, work on delivering the 
current suicide prevention action plan, (which underpinned the strategy), was 
continuing.

Responding to concerns about the provision of services offered by GP’s/NHS 
Gloucestershire for people reaching out for support with mental health issues, 
including children and young people, it was acknowledged that more work was 
required to improve access to services. It was explained that the Council’s role was 
a preventative role, and that, whilst working closely with the county’s mental health 
services, the provision of services were in fact commissioned by NHS 
Gloucestershire. It was suggested that the members of the committee who were 
also members of the Gloucestershire Health, Overview and Scrutiny Committee, 
(HOSC), might wish to suggest this as a topic for HOSC to consider at a future 
meeting or as a joint scrutiny item for ASCC and HOSC to consider. In the 
meantime, members noted the huge amount of investment being invested in 
children’s mental health services and of the work by the Integrated Care Board 
(ICB) to transform access to mental health services. 

Expanding on the commissioning of suicide awareness and mental health training 
for individuals working or volunteering in public or voluntary and community sector 
(VCS) organisations in the county, it was confirmed that a range of courses were 
available. These included: Applied Suicide Intervention Skills Training (ASIST); 
‘Let’s Talk Suicide Prevention’ courses; Self-Harm Awareness training; Mental 
Health First Aid, and training to support those bereaved through suicide. 

Members were encouraged to download a copy of the ‘It’s safe to Talk about 
Suicide’ leaflet and to consider completing the free online suicide awareness 

Page 3

https://www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/media/2109474/lets-talk-about_8pp_dlroll-fold_210x397mm_v8.pdf
https://www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/media/2109474/lets-talk-about_8pp_dlroll-fold_210x397mm_v8.pdf


Minutes subject to their acceptance as a correct record at the next meeting

- 4 -

training provided by the Zero Suicide Alliance. A link to the training is available on 
the County Council website. 

The report was noted. 

6. VOLUNTARY AND COMMUNITY SECTOR STRATEGIC PARTNERSHIP 
UPDATE 

Di Billingham, Head of Commissioning, (Voluntary and Community Partnerships), 
updated members on the council’s voluntary and community sector (VCS) strategic 
partnership arrangements, including an overview of new developments emerging 
from the pandemic. 

The report circulated with the agenda was taken as read at the meeting. 

One area of work highlighted at the meeting was work being undertaken by the 
Gloucestershire Voluntary and Community Sector (GVCS) Alliance. It was noted 
that, since April 2018, Gloucestershire NHS had invested in the GVCS Alliance to 
enable it to extend its work and improve the health and wellbeing of Gloucestershire 
residents. 

Noting an earlier presentation to the committee, it was reported that the Alliance, 
whilst still very much in its formative stage, was progressing well in the recruitment 
of volunteers. It was confirmed that a partnership action plan had been produced, 
with a focus on the better use of resources and on raising more awareness on the 
role of the Alliance. 

A key area of focus for the Alliance in 2022-23 was the Development of a 
Memorandum of Understanding from which to commit to new ways of working 
based on shared values and principles. It was hoped that the bringing together of 
organisations and improved partnership working would make a significant 
difference to the county.  

Members were advised to refer to the link here for more information on the work of 
the Alliance: ICS - Gloucestershire VCS Alliance (glosvcsalliance.org.uk)

Members noted that funding allocated to the Alliance during the past 12 months 
had helped local VCS groups secure over £220,000 to maintain their delivery. For 
more information please visit Gloucestershire VCS Alliance - Gloucestershire VCS 
Alliance (glosvcsalliance.org.uk)

The report was noted.

7. QUARTER 1 PERFORMANCE REPORT (2022-23) 

The committee considered a detailed analysis of performance relating to the 
delivery of services within the remit of the Adult Social Care and Communities 
Scrutiny Committee. The analysis was produced by the County Council’s 
Performance & Improvement Team, based on data to the end of June 2022. 

Page 4

https://www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/health-and-social-care/public-health/gloucestershire-suicide-prevention-partnership/suicide-prevention-training/
https://www.glosvcsalliance.org.uk/ics
https://www.glosvcsalliance.org.uk/
https://www.glosvcsalliance.org.uk/


Minutes subject to their acceptance as a correct record at the next meeting

- 5 -

The information was noted. 

8. PUBLIC HEALTH UPDATE 

The committee received an update from the Director of Public Health on matters 
relating to Public Health in Gloucestershire. To view the published information 
report relating to this item, please open the link here

The report included detailed updates on the following areas of work (undertaken by 
the Prevention, Wellbeing and Communities Team): - 

1. Gloucestershire Combatting Drugs Partnership
2. Covid-19 Update
3. Health Protection Strategy 
4. Monkey Pox 
5. Update on work to tackle Adverse Childhood Experiences (ACEs)

Expanding on the latest daily Covid-19 vaccine statistics published via 
https://coronavirus.data.gov.uk/details/interactive-map/vaccinations it was 
confirmed that, as of 9 August 2022, 88.0% of the population aged over 12 years in 
the county had received at least one dose of the vaccine. Work was underway 
within the system to offer everyone over 50 years of age, or in a clinical risk group, 
an Autumn Civid-19 booster vaccine from the middle of September. Members were 
advised that the vaccines would be delivered in line with the JCVI cohort groups to 
ensure that those most clinically vulnerable to Covid were offered the booster 
vaccination as a priority, commencing with care home residents.

Concerns were noted that the potential for people to experience flu symptoms 
during the winter period presented an equally significant risk to people’s health. 
Conscious of the impact an increased number of flu cases might have on the 
healthcare system highlighted the importance of encouraging people to take up the 
offer of the flu vaccine.

Updating members on the outbreak of the Monkeypox infection, (commonly found 
in West or Central Africa), it was confirmed that, since May 2022, there had been 
reports of cases of monkeypox reported in multiple countries that did not normally 
experience the virus, including the UK.  

Members were advised that people with likely or confirmed monkeypox would be 
able to isolate at home. More serious cases would need to seek professional 
treatment and advice. It was clarified that Monkeypox did not spread easily between 
people but, in some circumstances, may spread through:

 Direct contact with monkeypox skin lesions or scabs (including during sexual 
contact, kissing, cuddling, or holding hands); 

 Coughing or sneezing of an individual with a monkeypox rash when they’re 
close to you

 Contact with clothing or linens (such as bedding or towels) used by an 
infected person

Page 5

https://glostext.gloucestershire.gov.uk/documents/s84878/Item%208%20-%20Public%20Health%20Information%20Report.pdf
https://coronavirus.data.gov.uk/details/interactive-map/vaccinations


Minutes subject to their acceptance as a correct record at the next meeting

- 6 -

As of 15 August 2022, 3,081 cases of Monkeypox and 114 highly probable cases 
had been confirmed in the UK. Cases in Gloucestershire were low, with 8 confirmed 
or highly probable cases, (at the time of the report). It was noted that the UK Health 
Security Agency (UKHSA) was closely monitoring the situation, with vaccinations 
being offered to individuals at higher risk of exposure to the disease, (including 
healthcare workers in settings such as sexual health services). 

Vaccination offered protection and helped to reduce the spread of disease.  In 
Gloucestershire, vaccination against the disease was being delivered by 
Gloucestershire Health and Care via the Specialist Sexual Health service.  It was 
confirmed that, nationally, there were limited supplies of the vaccine, although it 
was anticipated that more supplies would become available in the country from late 
September. Supply volumes to local areas was determined based on a proportion 
of the estimated total number of people eligible for vaccination.  Gloucestershire, (at 
the time of the meeting), had received 40 doses to date, with further supplies due in 
September. 

A Monkeypox Vaccination Task and Finish Group had been established to oversee 
the local vaccination programme.

Acknowledging the temporary pause in the work of the Action on Adverse 
Childhood Experiences (ACEs) Gloucestershire collaboration due to the pandemic, 
it was suggested that a report to the committee on the reinstatement/progress of 
the work be added to the committee work plan for consideration at a future meeting 
and this was agreed. 

The report was noted.

9. ADULT SOCIAL CARE UPDATE 

The committee received an update from the Executive Director of Adult Social Care 
and Public Health on matters relating to the delivery of Adult Social Care services in 
Gloucestershire. To view the information report relating to this item, please open 
the link here

Included in the update, (Appendix 1 of the report) was an overview of the Council’s 
Frailty Strategy. The strategy focuses on prevention, early identification of health 
needs, and improving urgent support, when needed. This proactive approach, 
combined with improved collaboration between primary, community, acute and 
social care, aimed to provide support to frail and older adults and enable them to 
live independently for longer.

The committee noted an update on the Cabinet decision to decommission four care 
homes within the Gloucestershire Care Partnership. The decision, (following a six-
week consultation and engagement exercise), agreed to the closure of the following 
care homes: - 

Orchard House, Bishops Cleeve, Tewkesbury 
Westbury Court, Westbury, Forest of Dean
Bohanam House, Gloucester

Page 6

https://glostext.gloucestershire.gov.uk/documents/s84879/Item%209%20-%20Adult%20Social%20Care%20Information%20Report.pdf


Minutes subject to their acceptance as a correct record at the next meeting

- 7 -

The Elms, Stonehouse, Stroud

Members recalled the call in of the cabinet decision in July and the outcome of the 
Adult Social Care and Communities Scrutiny Committee meeting to uphold the 
Cabinet decision.

Members received an update on Market Sustainability and Fair Cost of Care and 
Care Act Reform. It was explained that the purpose of the Fair Cost of Care Act, 
(referred to as Cost of Care), would be to redress the gap between the charges 
paid for care by Local Authorities and those paid by self-funding individuals. It was 
confirmed that a national exercise was underway to establish the median cost of 
care for domiciliary care for over 18s and care homes for over 65s in every local 
authority. Once determined, the figures, submitted as part of a “Market 
Sustainability Plan”, would be used to inform the financial settlement awarded to 
each local authority from the “Market Sustainability and Fair Cost of Care Fund.

It was reported that the Council had appointed a third party to act as an 
independent receiver of the data from the exercise, (due to providers being 
reluctant to share market sensitive information with commissioners). A working 
group had been established, made up of representatives from Finance, the Adult 
Transformation Programme, Performance and Commissioning. The group would be 
required to analyse the returns/outcomes of the exercise. 

The Government Care Cap, (plans to introduce a new £86,000 cap on the amount 
any one individual in England would be required to spend on their personal care 
over their lifetime), would be introduced in October 2023. A consequence of this 
decision is that each local authority will be responsible for funding the cost of care 
for everyone reaching the care cap; subsequently impacting on the Council’s spend 
on external care. 

From October 2023, the Government is proposing to make the means test for 
accessing local authority funding support more generous. The upper capital limit, 
(threshold above which somebody is not eligible for local authority support), will 
increase from £23,250 to £100,000. The lower capital limit, (threshold at which a 
person is not required to contribute towards their care costs from personal capital), 
will increase from £14,250 to £20,000. This decision will also have a significant 
impact on the local authority’s expenditure on care costs. 

Members acknowledged the significance and importance of the new legislation and 
requested further updates to be included as part of the Adult Social Care update 
reports to the committee. 

The report was noted.

10. CHIEF FIRE OFFICER UPDATE 

The committee received a detailed overview of matters relating to the delivery of 
services within the portfolio of services covered by the Chief Fire Officer, 
(Gloucestershire Fire and Rescue Service), and within the remit of the 

Page 7



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a correct record at the next meeting

- 8 -

Gloucestershire County Council Adult Social Care and Communities Scrutiny 
Committee, (Trading Standards, Civil Protection and Coroners Services).

To view the full report, please open the link here

Cllr Terry Hale reiterated concerns about risks associated with free roaming sheep 
in the Forest of Dean District and advised of the intention to arrange a meeting 
involving representatives from each of the statutory organisations responsible for 
the welfare and safety of the sheep. 

Responding to questions, it was agreed to make a recommendation to the 
Environment Scrutiny Committee that the committee, (Air Quality Management 
Task Group), consider the impact of air pollution from wood burners and the 
burning of other substances.

The report was noted.

11. WORK PLAN 

The following items were suggested as items to add to the committee work plan: - 

 Joint review (ASCC and HOSC) of work to support people of all ages at risk 
of taking their own lives.

 Action on Adverse Childhood Experiences (ACEs) Gloucestershire 
Collaboration Presentation

 Recommendation to the Environment Scrutiny Committee that the 
committee, (Air Quality Management Task Group), consider the impact of air 
pollution from wood burners and the burning of other substances.

 Behavioural Science – 6 Month Update (March meeting)

 Gloucestershire Combatting Drug Partnership Update 

 Care Act Reform – Information Session to all Councillors 

Chair of the Committee, Cllr Stephan Fifield, conveyed his intention to seek the 
views of the committee on how best to take forward committee work planning 
arrangements. 

CHAIRPERSON

Page 8

https://glostext.gloucestershire.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=774&MId=10795&Ver=4


Minutes subject to their acceptance as a correct record at the next meeting

- 9 -

Meeting concluded at 12.25 

Page 9



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 10



Applications of Behaviour Change 

Science in Public HealthP
age 1

M
inute Item

 4

P
age 11



Outline  

• What is behavioural (or behaviour change) science? 

• Why use behavioural science in our work? 

• How to use evidence-based behaviour change models – brought to 

life with local examples of behavioural science in practice

• Next steps - embedding behavioural science across our business.  

P
age 2

P
age 12



What do all these issue have in common?   

P
age 3

P
age 13



What is behavioural science?

• Behavioural science is the scientific, 

evidence-based study of human 

behaviour in order to influence 

desired changes.

• There are over 80 theories of 

behaviour change applicable to 

individuals in the literature and many 

tools and techniques. 

P
age 4

P
age 14



Why use behavioural science?

• Most outcomes are dependent on someone changing their 

behaviour 

• Interventions designed to address known barriers / enablers for the 

desired behaviour more likely to be effective

• Moves interventions ‘upstream’ to address root causes of 

‘undesired’ behaviour – more likely to help address associated 

inequality, and to have a positive knock on for other outcomes   

• More efficient use of resources

• Opportunity to develop relationships, trust and greater mutual 

understanding between public sector and communities

• Can be used to understand behaviour within complex systems.   

P
age 5

P
age 15



• Synthesis of 19 existing frameworks 

into one

• A step-by-step, transparent, systematic 

approach to intervention design

• COM-B model of behaviour at the hub 

of the wheel

• Nine intervention types e.g. training, 

incentives, enablement.

• Seven policy categories e.g. service 

provision, environmental planning, 

communications 

Behaviour Change Wheel

P
age 6

P
age 16



Behaviour Change Wheel Process

Identify 
outcome

Identify 
behavioural 

determinants 
of outcome

Understand 
the target 
behaviour: 

COM-B 

Design and 
deliver 

intervention

Evaluation 
of impact 

P
age 7

P
age 17



Behaviour, determinant or outcome?

1) Walking to work

2) Having the confidence to ride a bike

3) Driving within the speed limit

4) Losing weight

5) Checking on a neighbour

6) Intending to eat fruit every day

7) Achieving 5 A*to C grades at GCSE

8) Reducing blood pressure

P
age 8

P
age 18



Behaviour, determinant or outcome?

1) Walking to work - behaviour

2) Having the confidence to ride a bike – determinant

3) Driving within the speed limit – behaviour 

4) Losing weight – outcome 

5) Checking on a neighbour – behaviour 

6) Intending to eat fruit every day – determinant

7) Achieving 5 A*to C grades at GCSE – outcome 

8) Reducing blood pressure – outcome 

P
age 9

P
age 19



Sources of evidence – e.g. taking up offer of Covid vaccination

• Published evidence on vaccine hesitancy  (e.g. WHO)

• Specific evidence on Covid vaccine hesitancy (e.g. SAGE)

• Local vaccination uptake data and tacit intelligence  

• Surveys (e.g. HealthWatch Gloucestershire)

• Interviews / focus groups with representatives from different communities with lower 

than average vaccine uptake. 

P
age 10

P
age 20



P
age 11

P
age 21



wecanmove.net 1/16/2023 12

Why and how did Fall-proof emerge?

We can move approach: Using a behaviour change process to design a suitable 
intervention 

Outcome: Reducing morbidity associated with falls in older adults in Gloucestershire

Behaviour 1: Older adults in Gloucestershire engaging in self-directed strength and 
balance exercises to maintain functioning

Behaviour 2: Eligible frail older adults taking part in a community strength and balance 
class

P
age 12

P
age 22



wecanmove.net 1/16/2023 13

Some behavioural diagnosis examples

• Not aware that they are at risk of a fall – PSYCHOLOGICAL CAPABILITY

• Many do not know what to do – PSYCHOLOGICAL CAPABILITY

• Didn’t know how to embed these things into daily routine – SOCIAL OPPORTUNITY

• Accessibility of classes is mixed – PHYSICAL OPPORTUNITY

• It isn’t currently socially normal for OA to do S&B – MOTIVATION (Beliefs)

• Lack of suitable role models – MOTIVATION (Identity)

• Lack of conversation on this topic – OPPORTUNITY / MOTIVATION

P
age 13

P
age 23



wecanmove.net 1/16/2023 14

Some Interventions by type and policy change required

• Simplified and easy to understand public health style messaging campaign –

EDUCATION / MARKETING AND COMMS

• How to do activities and create habits – TRAINING, ENV RESTRUCTURING / 

MARKETING AND COMMS

• Restructure social norms and imagery – MODELLING / MARKETING AND COMMS

• Working with community influencers – ENV RESTRUCTURING / SERVICE PROVISION

• Easy to access community classes – ENABLEMENT / MARKETING AND COMMS

P
age 14

P
age 24



wecanmove.net 1/16/2023 15

Campaign materials

P
age 15

P
age 25



wecanmove.net 1/16/2023 16

Impact and evaluation at the end of 2021 – community outreach only

Based on the results from the pilot, these figures were extrapolated to the total number of people 
receiving community packs at the time of evaluation (4945) with the following results.

These results are only from community outreach and although not collected, with downloads too 
the figures are likely very well underestimated

Question Baseline 3 Months % change

Awareness of their 
falls risk

1434 1384 No statistical change

Awareness of S&B 
exercises

1187 1582 33.28% increase

Awareness of benefits 
of S&B exercise

890 1582 77.75% increase

Doing S&B exercises at 
home

791 1434 81.29% increase

P
age 16

P
age 26



wecanmove.net 1/16/2023 17

Contact details

For any Fall-proof enquiries on the development or to access resources please contact:

Sarah Haden-Godwin

sarahhaden@Activegloucestershire.org

01452 393605

P
age 17

P
age 27

mailto:sarahhaden@Activegloucestershire.org


• Locally used term to describe a range of conversational skills and techniques proven 
effective in encouraging and enabling individuals to make a behaviour change

• Approaches include ‘Brief Intervention’ training (e.g. Making Every Contact Count), 
Motivational Interviewing and Health Coaching

• Central to the Personalised Care agenda

• Adults Single Programme ‘Three Conversations’ and Children’s Services’ ‘Restorative 
Practice’ programmes draw from these disciplines to encourage and people to become 
more active participants in their own health and care

• Better Conversations work well alongside COM-B, which provides a framework for 
exploring and building individuals’ and families’ Motivation, and their practical barriers and 
enablers (Capability and Opportunity) for behaviour change.  

‘Better Conversations’ 

P
age 18

P
age 28



Gloucestershire Healthy Lifestyles Service (HLS): Supporting pregnant 

women to ‘quit’ using COM-B and Better Conversations

• HLS use behaviourally informed delivery to maximise relationships and outcomes for clients

• Pregnant women are often ambivalent to stopping smoking. 

“I want to stop smoking for my baby, but it’s how I cope with stress”

• HLS use COM-B and Motivational Interviewing techniques to explore and build Motivation and 

Capability for change and identify Opportunities for managing obstacles along the way.  

• Capability – consider when she may have quit in the past and / or what would need to happen to be 

able to maintain her quit this time – build confidence and strategies to succeed 

• Motivation – why quitting is important to the woman e.g. to protect my baby, to save money

• Opportunity – what actions she can take and what might get in her way e.g. if others smoke at home 

support will also be offered them; mindfulness techniques to manage stress

• In 2021/22 HLS supported 219 pregnant women to quit smoking (a 76% quit rate).  The national 

average quit rate is 47%

P
age 19

P
age 29



Bringing it all together – Covid Vaccs Behaviour Change Strategy

P
age 20

P
age 30



Better Conversations Training to Increase 

Vaccine Confidence and Uptake 

• Brief training sessions for front-line social care staff and volunteers 

who spend time with people known to have lower vaccine uptake

• Sessions designed to cover known barriers to vaccine uptake and 

included:

- Raising the issue

- Dealing with ambivalence and building motivation

- Helping people make an informed decision

• Training well attended and received by range of staff groups.

P
age 21

P
age 31



Adult Social Care and Communities Scrutiny Committee tasks the Public

Health team to:

• Lead a self-assessment of ‘where we are’ as a system

• Identify key opportunities for embedding behavioural science approaches

• Return to a future Committee meeting (three to six months) to present a

summary of findings and recommendations

Proposed next steps 

P
age 22

P
age 32



GLOUCESTERSHIRE COUNTY COUNCIL 

REPORT TO OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEE

Report Title: Director of Public Health Annual Report 2022/23

Reporting to: Adult Social Care and Communities Scrutiny Committee 

Date: Tuesday 24th January 2023

Author/ 
Presenting 
Officer: 

Siobhan Farmer, Director of Public Health and Communities

Purpose of the 
report: 

To present to the Committee the Director of Public Health 
Annual Report for 2022/23 – No Person is an Island: Social 
Connections in Gloucestershire

Background 
documents:

A copy of the PDF version of the Director of Public Health 
Annual Report 2022/23 accompanies this paper.

Summary: In her first annual report since taking up the position as Director 
of Public Health for Gloucestershire, Siobhan Farmer has 
highlighted the importance of social connections for good health 
and wellbeing. The report reflects on the challenges we all faced 
to maintain our social connections during the pandemic, and how 
this led to an increase in social isolation and loneliness. The 
report also provides an opportunity to showcase some of the 
excellent examples of activities and groups that are working to 
bring people together in Gloucestershire and provides 
recommendations of actions that individuals, communities and 
organisations can take to ensure Gloucestershire is a place which 
enables connections.

Outcomes:   The committee to note the report, promote within their 
organisations and communities, and reflect on how they may act 
on the recommendations.

        
                                                                                                                                                     

Page 33

Agenda Item 4



This page is intentionally left blank



Report of the  
Director of Public Health 
2022/23

NO PERSON IS  AN ISLAND: 
SOCIAL CONNECTIONS IN GLOUCESTERSHIRE

P
age 35



02REPORT OF THE DIRECTOR OF PUBLIC HEALTH 2022/23

Foreword           03

1. What the COVID-19 pandemic taught us about Social Connection   04

2. Why are social connections so important?       07

3. Communities          12

4.  Accessibility          16

5. Digital connections         20

6.  Building a culture and environment which enables connections   23

7. Summary of recommendations        25

8. References          27

CONTENTS

Our online version of this report has a 
selection of videos which provide more 
information about case studies with this 
icon. You can view the online version at 
www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/public-
health-report-2022

P
age 36

http://www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/public-health-report-2022
http://www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/public-health-report-2022


03REPORT OF THE DIRECTOR OF PUBLIC HEALTH 2022/23

It is almost three years since the start of the COVID-19 pandemic.

FORE WORD

Since last year, as most restrictions to prevent 
the spread of the disease were lifted and we 
began ‘living with COVID’, many people have 
finally been able to come together with their 
loved ones and friends and connect in person. 
Cafes, bars and restaurants have returned to 
being busier again, and workplaces have started 
to return to more face-to-face meetings. It is 
likely that 2022 was the first Christmas and  
New Year period that felt ‘normal’ for many 
people, however they chose to spend the 
national holidays. 

Many of us will have felt alone or isolated over 
the last three years; during the pandemic, a 
million more adults across the UK had become 
chronically lonely. This disproportionately 
affected young people, people living alone, 
people on low incomes or unemployed and 
people with mental health conditions. 

We know that having good-quality relationships 
can help us to live longer, happier lives with 
fewer mental health challenges and our support 
from social networks can strengthen our ability 
to bounce back after stressful situations. The 
Dalai Lama recognised this when he said:

“We humans are social beings. We come into 
the world as the result of others’ actions. We 
survive here in dependence on others. Whether 
we like it or not, there is hardly a moment of 
our lives when we do not benefit from others’ 
activities. For this reason, it is hardly surprising 
that most of our happiness arises in the context 
of our relationships with others.”

This is my first annual report since taking up 
the position of Director of Public Health in 
Gloucestershire; but I have been here working 
as the Deputy Director since the first case of 
COVID-19 was confirmed in Gloucestershire 
in February 2020. What I saw during this time 
was the incredible power of social connections 
across the county; the people of Gloucestershire 
supported each other, and this helped everyone 
to deal with the difficult circumstances. 

I want to use this report as an opportunity to 
reflect on the challenges we faced, and what 
our county did (and continues to do) to ensure 
we keep these social connections flourishing 
and the importance of this for our mental and 
physical wellbeing. 

And, despite the beginnings of recovery from the 
pandemic, 2022 was been equally full of change, 
anxiety, and emotion for many of us. The war in 
Ukraine, rising costs of living and pressures on 
services that help and support people, mean that 
it is more important than ever that we look out 
for each other and maintain our social links and 
networks to keep ourselves healthy and resilient. 

Tackling social isolation and loneliness is not 
the responsibility of an individual, or just one 
organisation or group of people – everyone can 
play their part in supporting people who may be 
at risk of experiencing loneliness and enabling 
our communities to have the social connections 
they need and want. 

We thought hard about what to name the report, but we settled  
on a title inspired by the famous poem by John Donne,  
“no person is an island”, because we all do need social connections  
to stay happy and healthy. I hope that this report offers an opportunity 
for you to reflect and think about how you can play your part in a more 
socially connected Gloucestershire.

Thank you to the broad range of contributors 
to this report;
Jacqueline Wright, Cotswold District Council
The Barnwood Trust
Steve Andrews, GCC
Ben Williams-shaw, Stroud and Berkeley Vale & 
Cotswolds ILP
Hawys Jones, GCC
Justine Rawlings, Rae Bell, Matt Williams, 
Gloucester Community Building Collective
Ailsa Lane, Inclusion Gloucestershire
Sarah Phipps, Caring for Communities and 
People (CCP)
Cheryl Bennett, Gloucestershire Fire  
and Rescue Service
Gloucestershire VCS Alliance
Cheryl Hampson, GCC
Louise Matthews, GCC
Jo Atkins, GCC
Philip Cameron, GCC
Philip Williams, GCC
Katie Hopgood, GCC
Vikki Clarke, GCC

Lorna Fizor, GCC
Meg Atkins, GCC
Greg Lucas-Mouat, GCC
Maria Arthurs-Hartnett, GCC
Sam Howe, GCC
Rob Niblett, GCC
Nigel Gabb, GCC
Carolyn Chandler, GCC
Vienna Michaels, GCC
Richard Gibson, Cheltenham Borough Council
Rachel Morgan, GCC
Emma Sidebotham, GCC
Di Billingham, GCC
Alice Brixey, NHS Gloucestershire
Emily Brown, GCC
Gloucestershire Gateway Trust
Inclusion Gloucestershire
Ramy Mousa and Cam Turner-Bales from Unit 
1 Films.
Emma Pearn, GCC
Alex Digby and Angela, Forest Voluntary Action 
Forum

SIOBHAN FARMER,  
DIRECTOR OF PUBLIC HEALTH 
2022

View online

P
age 37



We know that healthy and meaningful social 
connections are essential for good health and 
wellbeing. Whilst social-distancing and self-isolation 
was needed to protect ourselves and others, these 
interventions impacted our day-to-day relationships 
and led to a much-documented increase in 
loneliness. 

The organisation ‘Campaign to End Loneliness’ 
reported that between April 2020 and February 2021, 
one million more adults across the UK had become 
chronically lonely, disproportionately affecting young 
people, people living alone, people on low incomes 
or unemployed and people with mental health 
conditions1

Within Gloucestershire, up to 38,000 people (the vast 
majority aged 70 years or above) undertook ‘shielding’ 
at one point or another during the pandemic. Even for 
those that didn’t shield, there was a huge reduction in 
availability of social spaces and social opportunities, 
even outside periods of lockdown. In Gloucestershire, 
the number of referrals to the Community Wellbeing 
Service due to isolation and loneliness peaked 
between December 2020 and February 2021, quite 
possibly linked to the effects of the pandemic.

Friends are of particular importance to the 
development of an individual’s identity and 
provide vital support. Removing opportunities 
from children and young people to socialise 
with their peers appears to have contributed 
to feelings of loneliness amongst children and 
young people in Gloucestershire. Roughly 
a third of students that completed our Pupil 
Wellbeing Survey during 2021-22 indicated  
that the pandemic had adversely affected  
their wellbeing.2

Locally charity, ‘The Barnwood Trust’ published 
a report in 2021 entitled ‘Our Changing World’. 
This report explored the experiences of people 
in Gloucestershire with disabilities during 
the earlier periods of the pandemic, clearly 
identifying that isolation was exacerbated 
as relationships that were relied on to help 
manage day to day were restricted or altered.3

In England, the number of over-50s 
experiencing loneliness is set to 
reach two million by 2025/6. This 
compares to around 1.4 million in 
2016/17 – a 49% increase in 10 years.1

Research by Sense has shown that up to 50% of  
disabled people will be lonely on any given day.1

Characteristics of people 
who are more likely to 
experience loneliness 
include: those who are 
widowed, those with 
poorer health and those 
with long-term illness  
or disability.

Research commissioned by 
Eden Project initiative  
The Big Lunch found that 
disconnected communities  
could be costing the UK 
economy £32 billion every 
year.1

While higher percentages of older women report loneliness 
compared to men, a greater number of older men (50+)  
report moderate to high levels of social isolation.1

of adult carers who had 
as much social contact as 
they would like (18+ yrs) in 
Gloucestershire which was 
in line with England (32.5%) 
in 2018/194

of adult carers who had 
as much social contact as 
they would like (65+ yrs) in 
Gloucestershire which was 
in line with England (34.5%) 
in 2018/194

20.37% of adults  
felt lonely often/always 
or some of the time in 
Gloucestershire  in 2019/20 
which was significantly  
better than the England 
rate of 22.26%.5

50% of post 16 year olds 
from the Pupil Wellbeing 
Survey often felt close to 
other people often or all of 
the time in 2022.2

43.45% 
of the group reporting 
bad or very bad health  
are often/always lonely.1

30.8
%

33.4
%

04REPORT OF THE DIRECTOR OF PUBLIC HEALTH 2021/22

The COVID-19 pandemic had an unprecedented impact on our lives; from the ramifications on  
health and the delivery of healthcare, to our jobs, and on our ability to socialise and connect 
with others, at a time when perhaps we needed it most. The collective trauma experienced will 
likely continue to adversely affect our mental health and wellbeing for some time to come.

1 :  WHAT THE COVID-19 PANDEMIC TAUGHT US ABOUT 
SOCIAL CONNECTION

P
age 38

https://www.barnwoodtrust.org/news/our-changing-world


The impact on wellbeing for  
people at risk of loneliness is 
likely to be compounded by other 
economic and social impacts 
experienced by the same people, 
such as those experiencing job 
losses and health anxieties. 

According to UK government figures, one in four people in 
employment during the coronavirus (COVID-19) pandemic had 
been on furlough at some point between March 2020 and June 
2021. Furthermore, single working parents were particularly 
affected, as 31% of them were furloughed, compared with 24% 
of workers living as a couple with dependent children.6

Whilst the negative impacts are significant, the pandemic 
has in many ways been a catalyst for community cohesion. 
Many people discovered opportunities to maintain or make 
connections with neighbours and others within the local 
community. This included the internet and other digital 
technologies, turning previously face to face meetings  
such as book clubs and choirs to online sessions. 

Those with birthdays in the lockdown periods came up with new 
ways to celebrate virtually. And millions of children were part of 
online classrooms, learning in ways we did not think of before 
the pandemic began.

The pandemic has reminded us of the importance and vast 
benefits of connecting, emphasising how essential social 
networks, friends, family and communities are to our wellbeing 
and happiness. This report focuses on how individuals, 
communities and organisations in Gloucestershire can, and do, 
enable meaningful social connections throughout the county.

Barnwood Trust (2021) Our Changing World

05REPORT OF THE DIRECTOR OF PUBLIC HEALTH 2022/23

Im
p

ac
t 

o
n

 m
en

ta
l h

ea
lt

h

U
n

certain
ty

Experiences of
disabled people
and people with

mental health
challenges during

the Covid-19
pandemic

Information
provision

Accessing
practical

goods

Unpaid care
and

parenting

Increased
financial
pressure

Increased
risk of

domestic
abuse

Access to
services

under
lockdown

Isolation and
connection

Perceptions

P
age 39



Gloucestershire 
County Council 
has a dedicated 

information and 
advice section 
on its website

6REPORT OF THE DIRECTOR OF PUBLIC HEALTH 2022/23

It is widely recognised that the COVID-19 pandemic had a 
major impact on children and young people’s mental health 
and wellbeing on a global scale. UNICEF estimates that 
worldwide, at least 1 in 7 children has been directly affected 
by lockdowns, while more than 1.6 billion children have 
suffered some loss of education.7

School closures, while an important way to 
limit the spread of COVID-19, are likely to 
have resulted in increased social isolation 
for young people and the sustained 
disruption to routines, education, 
recreation. Additionally, concern for family 
income and health will have left many 
young people feeling afraid, angry, and 
concerned for their future.

In the UK, the Department for Education 
found that evidence indicated lower 
wellbeing amongst young people and 
children in December 2020 and February 
2021, when schools were closed to most 
pupils. Furthermore, data suggests that 
10.6% of 6 to 16 year olds missed more 
than 15 days of school during the 2020 
Autumn term.8

Children with probable mental health 
issues were twice as likely to have missed 
this much school (18.2%) as those unlikely 
to have a mental health issue (8.8%).9 

Whilst impacting on the lives of every child 
in the country, the pandemic is likely to 
have had a particularly harmful impact on 
the estimated four million children and 
young people already living in poverty in 
the UK.10

As part of its response to COVID-19, 
Gloucestershire County Council has a 
dedicated information and advice section 
on its website for children and young 
people, linking them to both in-county 
and national mental health support 
services and resources. More information 
can be found here:

In February 2022, to coincide with 
Children’s Mental Health Awareness Week, 
the NHS in Gloucestershire launched 
a new mental health support finder, 
which signposts children, young people, 
parents and professionals to appropriate 
mental health services, including CAMHS, 
Tic+, Young Minds Matter and Young 
Gloucestershire, amongst other local 
services. More information can be  
found here: 

Tic+, a Gloucestershire based mental 
health charity providing counselling 
and support for children, young people 
and their families offer tic+chat, an 
anonymous, safe, confidential, 1-2-1, 
support service for young people aged 
9-25 living in Gloucestershire who 
are struggling with mild or temporary 
mental health issues due to the Covid-19 
pandemic. More information can be  
found here:

COVID-19 AND YOUNG PEOPLE’S 
MENTAL WELLBEING

P
age 40

https://www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/covid-19-information-and-advice/looking-after-your-wellbeing/wellbeing-support-for-all-gloucestershire-citizens/national-and-in-county-mental-health-services/support-for-children-and-young-people/
https://www.onyourmindglos.nhs.uk/
https://www.ticplus.org.uk/ticpluschat/


2:  WHY ARE SOCIAL CONNECTIONS 
SO IMPORTANT?

We know that;

• Loneliness and social isolation put people at increased risk of anxiety, heart disease and depression and have a 
similar risk to premature mortality as smoking 15 cigarettes a day 

• Nationally, half a million older people go at least five or six days a week without seeing or speaking to anyone at all 
and 2/5ths of older people say that TV is their main company1 

• In Gloucestershire, only half of adult social care users have as much social contact as they would like

• 33% of 18 – 24 year olds report that they would like to be more involved in their community when surveyed by 
Gloucestershire Gateway Trust in 202111 

• 38% of service users responders to the Gloucestershire ‘Community Wellbeing Survey’ in 2017 feel lonely at times, 
with loneliness being highest in those with a mental health issue, a long-term illness and/or a learning disability11 

• A fifth of those surveyed by Inclusion Gloucestershire in 2021 faced disabling barriers with their access to leisure 
and social activities.12 

FIVE WAYS TO WELLBEING

The Five Ways to Wellbeing was a concept developed by 
the New Economics Foundation as a way of improving 
the nation’s mental health and wellbeing. 

Research suggests that if a person follows the Five Ways 
to Wellbeing, then they may develop improved mental 
health and wellbeing. It may also help with a person’s 
sense of resilience in combating stresses and challenges 
that come up in everyday life. 

The ‘Five Ways’ has been adopted by a number of 
government agencies, health and social care, mental 
health charities and workplaces and communities  
across the country in their practice. 

The Five Ways to Wellbeing are:

The importance of connecting is recognised as part of the 
Five Ways to Wellbeing.

More information on what the Five Ways To Wellbeing are 
can be found in one of our previous Director of Public 
Health reports – Leading The Way to Wellbeing, the 
mental wealth of Gloucestershire.

07REPORT OF THE DIRECTOR OF PUBLIC HEALTH 2022/23

P
age 41

https://www.gloucestershiregatewaytrust.org.uk/uploads/9/4/4/4/94442743/ggt_community_wellbeing_survey_2021__single_spreads_.pdf
https://www.inclusiongloucestershire.co.uk/research-strategy-and-partnerships/
https://neweconomics.org/2011/07/five-ways-well-new-applications-new-ways-thinking
https://www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/media/2082967/leading_the_way_to_wellbeing.pdf
https://www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/media/2082967/leading_the_way_to_wellbeing.pdf


“Feeling a part of 
something larger 

than yourself, 
feeling close to 
another person 

or group, feeling 
welcomed, and 

understood.” 

WHAT DO WE 
MEAN BY ‘SOCIAL 
CONNECTIONS’ 
AND ‘SOCIAL 
NETWORKS’?
Humans are naturally social creatures and have a 
fundamental need to connect with others. Social 
connection is a state of feeling close (or “connected”)  
to another person or other people. It can be defined as 

“Feeling a part of something larger than yourself, 
feeling close to another person or group, feeling 
welcomed, and understood.” 

The people that we connect with and have a relationship 
with are our social network. Our social networks can 
comprise of friends, family, colleagues, neighbours, or 
people we are acquainted with both online and offline.

A lack of meaningful social connections can lead 
to social isolation and loneliness. The words “social 
isolation” and “loneliness” are often used interchangeably, 
but they are not the same thing.

• Social isolation is defined as ‘an objective state 
determined by the quantity of social relationships  
and contacts between individuals, across groups  
and communities.’ 

• Loneliness can be defined as ‘a subjective state, 
based on a person’s emotional perception of 
the number and/or quality of social connections 
they need compared to what is currently being 
experienced’. 

Therefore, people can be isolated, with a small social 
network, and yet not feel lonely; and people can feel 
lonely and yet be surrounded by people.

We know that loneliness can affect anyone, teenagers, 
young adults, new parents, carers, the recently bereaved, 
students starting university, older people and those  
with disabilities, those new to or moving to a new  
area of the country.

WHY ARE SOCIAL CONNECTIONS IMPORTANT?

We know that having good-quality relationships can help 
us to live longer, happier lives with fewer mental health 
challenges. Support from social networks can strengthen 
our resilience and our ability to bounce back after  
stressful situations.

Good relationships are important for our mental wellbeing. 

They can:

• help to build a sense of belonging and self-worth

• give an opportunity to share positive experiences

• provide emotional support and allow us to support 
others.

This is why the Five Ways to Wellbeing recognises the 
important need for people to “connect” to stay healthy. 

There are lots of ways to connect to improve our  
mental health:

• Take time each day to reach out to family and friends. 
This could be arranging to go for a walk together, a 
telephone call or text, or a video call with loved ones 
who you cannot meet in person

• Join a local community group, sports team or  
hobby group to find other like-minded people with 
similar interest

• Volunteer for a local charity as a way to meet new 
people, support others and your local community. See 
the next page for more information on volunteering. 
volunteering.

08REPORT OF THE DIRECTOR OF PUBLIC HEALTH 2022/23

P
age 42



CASE

STUDY CASE

STUDY

Following engagement with thousands 
of local people, organisations and 
community groups, it was clear there was 
a need to bring together the wide range 
of volunteering opportunities available 
across Gloucestershire into a single, easily 
accessible online point of access. The ‘Go 
Volunteer’ Gloucestershire website was 
launched in July 2022 as the new digital 
home of volunteering and serves a dual 
purpose, for:

1) Gloucestershire residents aged 16+ 
looking to offer their time as  
a volunteer and 

2) Local organisations, charities and 
community groups looking for 
volunteers.

‘Go Volunteer’ was founded by 
the Gloucestershire Volunteering 
Collaborative, a new county-wide group 
drawn together from representatives 
from the local Voluntary, Community 
and Social Enterprise (VCSE) sector, 

public sector organisations, employers, 
and employees, along with volunteers 
themselves. Hosted by Gloucestershire 
VCS Alliance, the collaborative’s aim is to 
provide leadership to improve the way 
volunteering works in the county. 

People wanting to volunteer in 
Gloucestershire will now be able to use 
the website to match their skills, interests, 
location, and availability to the perfect 
volunteering role whether it be helping at 
a one-off event right through to regular 
commitments. If you’d like to connect to 
a local volunteering opportunity visit,  
Go Volunteer Glos 

If you work, it is also worth checking 
with your employer as many 
organisations offer time off (sometimes 
paid) to do one or two voluntary 
activities per year; this can be a way for 
companies to help their employees give 
back to the local community. 

Through the pandemic, fears, and 
concerns around COVID have been a 
central theme and concern with women 
that attend/connect at the hub. By being 
able to share these concerns with one 
another in a safe space they have been 
able to draw strength from the rest of the 
members which has supported them to 
be more resilient. 

The group has used ‘WhatsApp’ to stay 
connected. This has been particularly 
important to those who have been unable 
to return to face-to-face sessions for a 
variety of reasons to feel that they are 
connected to people, not isolated. 

We continue to signpost members to 
additional support where needed in 
individual cases. Through activities such 
as making crafts for NHS hospice care, 
we have made more links with local 
NHS professionals. This has built even 
more connections and trust, crossing the 
divide which can be experienced with 
professionals. 

We have facilitated sessions on 
alternative/new exercise opportunities 
including badminton and archery. In the 
archery session, most members were able 
to significantly improve their coordination 
and were able to hit the target by the 
end of the session. Badminton was not 
something which any members had previous 
experience of, and discussions have 
started to see if the badminton sessions 
can be run regularly with the Friendship 
Café providing equipment and someone 
to run the session on a weekly basis.

One of our members said:
“Had a wonderful session of badminton 
with our wellbeing group. It’s really 
good being able to work up a sweat, 
[on the] road to being healthy. Hoping 
there will be more opportunities in 
the near future. Archery session the 
week before was also very good. Helps 
with focus and concentration. Totally 
absorbed during the whole one hour. 
Look forward to more activities with the 
wellbeing group!”

As well as being a great way to connect with new 
people, volunteering can make a real difference 
to your community and be lots of fun!

Friendship Hub at the Friendship Café funded 
through a Thriving Communities Grant 
(Gloucestershire County Council)

REPORT OF THE DIRECTOR OF PUBLIC HEALTH 2022/23 9

GO VOLUNTEER INCLUSION 
GLOUCESTERSHIRE 

P
age 43

https://www.govolunteerglos.org/
https://www.govolunteerglos.org/
https://www.govolunteerglos.org/
https://www.govolunteerglos.org/


10REPORT OF THE DIRECTOR OF PUBLIC HEALTH 2022/23

JOINT HEALTH AND 
WELLBEING STRATEGY  
(2020-2030)

Acknowledging how important social 
connections are, the Gloucestershire 
Health and Wellbeing Board made 
social isolation and loneliness one of its 
priorities as part of our Joint Health and 
Wellbeing Strategy (2020-20230). The 
aim of this priority, is to ‘reduce social 
isolation and loneliness, and enable local 
people to take an active role in building 
and nurturing strong social networks and 
vibrant communities. 

To achieve this, a strengths-based 
approach has been adopted that focuses 
on opportunities to create, improve, 
and bolster community and individual 
connectedness. It is recognised that 
there is significant community-based 
activity in Gloucestershire, bringing 
people together, with many notable 
examples showcased throughout this 
report. The Board will continue to 
engage with people and communities 
to understand how what already exists 
can be best utilised, invested in, and/or 
championed to decrease social isolation 
and loneliness.

Social Prescribing supports people to develop relationships and connect people to relevant activities 
for their health and wellbeing. Individuals or local agencies can refer people to the service to meet 
with a dedicated professional who will focus on what matters to the individual, taking a holistic 
approach to health and wellbeing.

• with one or more long-term conditions
• who need support with their mental health 

and wellbeing

• who are lonely or isolated
• who have complex social needs which 

affect their wellbeing.

NHS Gloucestershire and Gloucestershire County Council have co-commissioned a service called 
the Community Wellbeing Service, which offers social prescribing.  
There are five providers covering the county.

SOCIAL PRESCRIBING AND THE 
COMMUNITY WELLBEING SERVICE

The Community Wellbeing Service connects people to community groups and statutory services 
for practical and emotional support. The service also helps people to start new community groups, 
as well as supporting existing community groups to be accessible and sustainable. The Community 
Wellbeing Service (CWS) has a strong and close working relationship across the Voluntary and 
Community sector in Gloucestershire, acting as a pathway to participation for residents to get 
involved in their community and develop meaningful social connections.

GLOUCESTERSHIRE COMMUNITY WELLBEING SERVICE

Forest of Dean
Forest of Dean 
District Council

Cheltenham and 
Tewkesbury
Caring for communities 
and people

Gloucester
Home Group

Cotswolds
Gloucestershire 
Rural 
Community 
Council

Stroud
Independence 
Trust

Who the service supports
• Individuals with non-medical needs which may be impacting on health and wellbeing such as 

stress, social isolation & loneliness, worry about debt, housing issues or managing a long-term 
health condition.

• Individuals who want to be linked to community opportunities in order to become more active, 
join community groups or volunteer

• Anyone aged 16 or over, living in Gloucestershire or registered with a Gloucestershire GP.

Cheltenham

Gloucester 
City

Newent and
Staunton

Forest of
Dean

Stroud and 
Berkeley Vale South 

Cotswolds

North 
Cotswolds

Social Prescribing works for a wide range of people, including people: 

P
age 44



• Take time each day to reach out 
to family and friends. This could 
be arranging to go for a walk 
together, a telephone call or 
text, or a video call with loved 
ones who you cannot meet  
in person.

• Join a local community group, 
sports team, or hobby group to 
find other like-minded people 
with similar interest to you.

• Volunteer for a local charity 
to meet new people, support 
others and your local 
community. See section  
4 for more information  
on volunteering.

• Build up digital resilience to 
help recognise and manage 
the risks you may come across 
when you socialise, explore, or 
work online. This is achieved 
primarily through experience, 
rather than learning and is 
fostered by opportunities 
to confide in trusted others 
and later reflect upon online 
challenges.

• Reach out to those that may 
be at increased risk of isolation 
and loneliness, this could be 
offering a neighbour a cup of 
tea or checking if they need 
help with anything.

RECOMMENDATIONS  
FOR EVERYONE

CASE

STUDY

Joanne came to us with several issues - 
the predominant one being her mental 
health. For some time, she has been on 
a waiting list for counselling. She was 
worried that they would not understand 
her and would push her to talk about 
challenging times in her life before she 
was ready. She shared her history with 
anxiety and how she often struggled to 
leave the house because of it. 

She was unable to work due to her physical 
health but was keen to get involved in 
activities to support her mental wellbeing. 

Joanne completed the NHS Live Better 
to Feel Better self-management course, 
engaged with a range of local art activities, 
and was signposted to other opportunities 
for the future. She proudly showed us 
the art projects she was working on 
at each follow-up meeting. Through 
the Community Advice, Links & Mental 
Health Support Service (CALMHS) she 
was connected to volunteering at a local 
animal shelter. 

Since working with the Community 
Wellbeing Service, Joanne has blossomed 
and has repeatedly told us how much 

more positive she is feeling and how 
much she has benefited from these 
groups. Upon closing Joanne’s case her 
wellbeing scores had improved by 25%, 
particularly around her positivity about life. 

We met outside the office approximately 
six weeks after her case was closed and 
she was thrilled to share how well she was 
doing and how ready she was feeling for 
her first counselling session which was 
starting that week. This was a significant 
change from the first meeting and great 
to hear.

(Real names have been changed in this case study)

CWS CHELTENHAM & TEWKESBURY 
– CARING FOR COMMUNITIES AND 
PEOPLE (CCP) 

11REPORT OF THE DIRECTOR OF PUBLIC HEALTH 2022/23

P
age 45



CASE

STUDY

The Community Help Hub was set up by Gloucestershire County Council in March 
2020 to facilitate connections between local people, businesses, and groups who 
could offer support to those with immediate needs but did not have established 
support networks of their own. Set up during lockdown, the Hub has now closed, but 
during 2020 and 2021 it offered four ways to give or seek support:14 

• ‘I can offer help’ – to allow individuals to sign up to support neighbours with 
tasks such as collecting prescriptions, dog walking, shopping etc 

• ‘I need help’ – for anyone looking for support

• ‘My neighbour needs help’ – a nominated person could indicate the need for 
support for friends, neighbours or families to ensure this was inclusive where 
there are barriers to using the online referral forms

• ‘My business can help’ – businesses could indicate the skills and resources they 
have available that may be useful to others

As of 01/03/22, the Community Help Hub facilitated 7,443 requests for support 
(Gloucestershire County Council, 2022).

CASE

STUDY

COMMUNITY
HELP HUB

Gloucestershire 
Community Help Hub
Do you need help with  
food or general supplies?
#GlosCommunity

3:  COMMUNITIES
Communities can come in all shapes and sizes, be virtual, based around where you 
live, or around shared interests or common cultural identity. Whilst being a part of a 
‘community’ is not essential to combat loneliness or social isolation, for many it is a 
positive and protective factor.

Promoting community cohesion (bonds between different individuals and groups) 
involves removing barriers to interaction and encouraging positive interaction between 
different individuals and groups. Good community cohesion can build communities 
where people feel confident that they belong and are comfortable mixing and interacting 
with others. 

The value of the relationships between people who work or live together and the 
knowledge and skills that they have, and share is sometimes referred to as ‘social capital’.

“Community connectedness is not just about warm fuzzy tales of civic triumph. 
In measurable and well-documented ways, social capital makes an enormous 
difference in our lives…Social capital makes us smarter, healthier, safer, richer,  
and better able to govern a just and stable democracy.” 

- Robert D. Putnam13

12REPORT OF THE DIRECTOR OF PUBLIC HEALTH 2022/23

P
age 46



REPORT OF THE DIRECTOR OF PUBLIC HEALTH 2021/22

GLOW GRANT SCHEME 
To contribute to the work around 
the Five Ways to Wellbeing within 
the county and to combat poor 
mental health, including addressing 
social isolation and loneliness, 
the GloW grant scheme was 
developed to provide funds to 
grass roots organisations working 
within communities to support 
Gloucestershire residents and  
build resilience.

GloW’s purpose was to address the 
factors (often known as the “wider 
determinants”) that contribute to our 
wellbeing and can help improve our 
mental health and build our resilience. 
These include social connections, 
access to green space, physical 
security, employment, transport, 
and housing. The grant funding was 
awarded to projects which were 
required to increase the range of ‘social 
support’ available in the community 
with a focus on individuals or groups 
who may have less likely access 
traditional support services provided in 
mainstream health or clinical settings. 

For example, they could:

• Promote good mental health  
and wellbeing;

• Seek to positively address one or 
more of the determinants for poor 
mental health; or

• Support the prevention of suicide 
and self-harm in individuals and 
groups who might be at higher risk.

A range of fantastic and creative 
applications were received. These 
included groups such as men’s sheds 
(a space where men can get together 
in a social atmosphere and often do 
woodwork together), community cafes, 
memory cafes (groups which help 
older people socialise if they have a 
diagnosis of dementia in a comfortable 
atmosphere), accessible sports groups, 
mindfulness groups in schools and 
groups which allowed people to open 
up about their mental health through 
horse therapy. 

With their grant, Gloucester FM created 
a series of adverts which acted to break 
down stigma and raise awareness of 
mental health support for those from 
Black and ethnic minority groups. 

In total the GloW Grant Scheme 
allocated approximately £210,000 
to 29 community groups working 
alongside individuals and communities 
who are at highest risk of poor mental 
health and social isolation across  
the county. 

CASE

STUDY

13

As a single mum of two teenage boys, Poppy found herself in a very dark place during 
the pandemic. 

“I’m the sole carer for my youngest son who has learning difficulties and 
physical health challenges. Prior to the lockdowns we were accessing services 
but when everything had to stop and shut down, we became isolated from the 
community and my mental wellbeing spiralled to rock bottom”. 

Fortunately, Poppy reached out for help from ‘Caring for Communities and People 
(CCP) a community charity and foodbank during a particularly tough time after her 
son underwent major surgery when they were completely housebound. The CCP 
Pantry arranged food parcels to be delivered and told Poppy about The Isbourne’s 
outreach services, which were funded by the GloW grants scheme.

Since Autumn 2021, Poppy has attended three Community Wellbeing four-week 
courses: Yoga for Mind & Body, From Positive Change to Mindset Transformation, and 
Balance & Calm with Qigong. 

“The courses at The Isbourne have restored my sanity and enabled me to  
move forwards with a more positive mindset. They have taught me how to 
nurture and look after myself and create time just for me when I can get out of 
the house and connect with others in the community. I now have a reason to 
live and enjoy life.”

CASE

STUDY

(Real names have been changed in this case study)

GLOW GRANT TO THE 
ISBOURNE FOUNDATION’S 
OUTREACH SERVICEP

age 47



14REPORT OF THE DIRECTOR OF PUBLIC HEALTH 2022/23

COMMUNITIES AS ‘PLACE’
Part of a sense of ‘community’ is 
feeling proud of where you live and 
feeling as though you can thrive, 
personally and professionally. 
Gloucestershire County Council’s 
Strategy for 2022-26 ‘Building 
Back Better in Gloucestershire’ 
articulates the vision for how we will 
work to achieve the aims of the UK 
Government’s Levelling Up Agenda. 

It outlines an ambition to “work 
with communities across the 
county to reduce inequalities, 
regenerate high streets, market 
towns and neighbourhoods; improve 
infrastructure, jobs, skills and education 
provision; and help residents to achieve 
their ambitions for the places they 
live”.15 

As part of the ambition to level up 
Gloucestershire communities, the 
county council aims to:

• Work with local partners to attract 
national Levelling Up Funding 
to regenerate Gloucestershire’s 
high streets, market towns and 
neighbourhoods

• Listen to local communities about 
what they want to achieve and how

• Work alongside neighbourhoods 
to develop plans that build on their 
strengths, as well as attracting local 
and national investment to help 
deliver them

• Support residents to develop new 
skills, careers and job opportunities

• Link local people to jobs by 
providing sustainable transport 
solutions and reducing barriers to 
employment

• Shape local community services to 
make sure they can adapt to the 
needs and aspirations of residents

• Working with local schools and 
academies to improve the quality  
of local education provision.

A total of £1.5 million has been made 
available for the levelling up agenda 
and used to support some of most 
vulnerable parts of the county.

• Funding will be used to support the 
twelve Lower Super Output Areas 
(LSOAs) in Gloucestershire which 
fall into the top 10% ‘most deprived’ 
in England, according to the Index 
of Multiple Deprivation16 

• Collectively, these twelve 
areas make up 3.1% of the 
Gloucestershire’s population,  
which equates to 19,435 
Gloucestershire residents.16 

A conference was held Quayside House 
in Gloucester City Centre on Thursday 
19 May 2022 with the aim of continuing 
the conversation with communities 
to better understand their needs, and 
what action can be taken to reduce 
inequalities. Videos from this event can 
be viewed here www.gloucestershire.
gov.uk/levelling-up-conference

Gloucestershire Fire and Rescue 
Service (GFRS) organised two safety 
days for refugee families that were 
welcomed to Gloucestershire over 
the last seven years via the UKRS 
Scheme (formally the Syrian Refugee 
Programme). The events were held 
at SkillZONE and Gloucester Fire 
Station on Tuesday 16 and Wednesday 
17 August, including lunch provided 
by a business set up by the refugees 
themselves who successfully  
settled here.

The two safety days went really 
well; many families from the UKRS 
Resettlement Scheme (mainly Syrian 
families) attended and thoroughly 
enjoyed it. Around 100 people attended 
each day which included all ages 
from babies to adults. Members of 
Gloucestershire County Council also 
attended over the two days.

Each day consisted 
of different safety 
aspects. The families 
were given a tour 
around SkillZONE which consists of 
different scenarios showing safety 
issues such as fire hazards in the home, 
hazards at a rail level crossing, safety 
on a building site and many more. 

The fire station personnel at Gloucester 
gave demonstrations of extricating 
people from road traffic collisions, 
water hose displays and let everyone 
have a sit in the emergency vehicles. 
They also supplied uniforms for the 
refugees to try on, including children. 

Everyone joined in and a few teenagers 
asked about joining the fire service 
when they are older, which was one  
of the goals for the days.

CASE STUDY:  
YOUNG PEOPLE’S  ROLE IN 
COMMUNITY BUILDING 

CASE STUDY:  
OLDER PEOPLE –  
RECYCLED TEENAGERS 

CASE

STUDY

GFRS SAFETY DAYS 

View online

View online

P
age 48

https://www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/levelling-up-conference/
https://www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/levelling-up-conference/


diff pic

• When planning activity to 
connect people, consider 
accessibility from the start. 
This might mean thinking 
about travel and what is 
available to enable people to 
join in, for example offering 
to share a lift, cycle or take 
the bus together, or knowing 
what the community transport 
options are.

 
• Understand what is available 

in the community and build 
networks. Your Circle has a 
wealth of information on local 
initiatives, while Know Your 
Patch (KYP) builds networks of 
organisations in each district 
in Gloucestershire for those 
working with individuals and 
groups to help people stay 
independent for longer and 
to lead full and happier lives. 
These networks also help 
connect VSCE and statutory 
organisations together for 
effective partnership working.

 
• Consider a range of ways to 

bring people together which 
do not increase the digital 
divide and give those that need 
and value face to face contact 
a way to connect. Read more 
about the digital divide in 
section 5.

FOREST  
LEVELLING UP

In June 2021, Forest of Dean 
District Council, working in 
partnership with Hartpury 
University and Hartpury 
College and Cinderford 
Town submitted a multiple 
project bid containing three 
interrelated projects and 
successfully secured £20 
million capital grant support. 

The successful bid aims to: 

• Build connections across the Forest, 
helping to join communities

• Help local entrepreneurs and 
homegrown talent find a home 
in the Forest, growing the local 
economy and providing jobs by 
developing new, suitable space  
for businesses

• Provide more and better leisure 
opportunities, helping people stay 
active and healthy through new 
leisure facilities and active travel 
options

• Provide new further and higher 
education opportunities so that 
young people have more choice to 
get a good education.

From the outset, all three project locations 
are being designed with carbon reduction, 
renewable energy and electric vehicle/bike 
charging points in mind to help to tackle the 
climate emergency.

• Investment at Five Acres 
The £9m proposal for the Five Acres site 
will create a new leisure and community 
hub and brings a derelict site back 
into use providing modern leisure, 
community, and business facilities for 
the area. The wider site will be developed 
in partnership with West Dean Parish 
Council and will also include modern 
workspaces for local businesses and help 
promote active travel by connecting 
existing walking and cycling routes.

• University, Careers and Enterprise 
Learning Centre at Hartpury campus 
The flagship University Innovation, 
Careers and Enterprise Learning Centre, 
will use £10m to build on the current 
Hartpury University and Hartpury 
College site. The centre would focus on 
encouraging and supporting local young 
people to stay in education or start their 
own business in the area. 

• Regeneration in Cinderford town centre 
A total £880,000 will be spent in 
Cinderford town centre, regenerating a 
number of key buildings, bringing them 
back into use to provide modern co-
working spaces for start-up businesses 
and new community facilities, arts, and 
events space. It will create great spaces 
for residents to meet, work and socialise 
in, boosting town centre footfall.

More info can be found at:
Forest of Dean Levelling Up Fund Success - 
Forest of Dean District Council

CASE

STUDY

15REPORT OF THE DIRECTOR OF PUBLIC HEALTH 2021/22

RECOMMENDATIONS  
FOR COMMUNITIES

P
age 49

https://www.yourcircle.org.uk/
https://knowyourpatch.co.uk/about/
https://knowyourpatch.co.uk/about/
https://www.fdean.gov.uk/levellingupfund
https://www.fdean.gov.uk/levellingupfund


THINK ABOUT ACCESSIBILITY FROM THE START 

In the UK, 1 in 5 people have a disability - this could be visual, hearing, motor 
(affecting fine movement) or cognitive (affecting memory and thinking).17 

The concept of accessibility does not just apply to disabled people - all users will have 
different needs at different times and in different circumstances. Someone’s ability to 
use a service or space could be affected by their:

• Location - they could be in a noisy cafe, sunny park, or area with slow Wi-Fi

• Health - they may be tired, recovering from a stroke or have a broken arm

• Equipment - they could be on a mobile phone or using an older browser.

Accessibility is about making sure than venues can be used by as many people as 
possible. Thinking about this from the beginning will help ensure that nobody is 
excluded. Solutions are usually less costly to fix early on than to make changes later.
Making your service accessible: an introduction  

4:  ACCESSIBILITY

Some communities and groups are recognised as facing particular 
disadvantages in relation to transport and mobility, including older 
adults, those with disabilities, young people, and those in rural 
communities. Gloucestershire covers a large geographical area 
and connecting to friends, family, activities, and services can be 
challenging due to both cost and availability of transport.

However, it is not just those in rural 
areas that may experience challenges 
with accessing opportunities within 
Gloucestershire. Issues with access to, 
and cost of, transport can also be an 
issue within urban areas. Even when 
spaces are available to connect, they 
may not be accessible to everyone, 
either due to physical barriers, or in 
terms of having easy to read signs, 
adequate lighting, open toilets or staff 
and/or volunteers who are confident in 
supporting individuals with additional 
communication needs. 

All these factors can cause barriers 
to accessing social and leisure 
opportunities, as well as services 
specifically designed to encourage 
community connections. Inclusion 
Gloucestershire wanted to understand 
the areas of everyday life that are 
causing concern or worry for people 
in Gloucestershire who face disabling 
barriers. In June and July 2021, they 
invited people who face disabling 
barriers to give their opinions and 
experiences along with any ideas  
they have for improving things.

A number of key barriers to accessing 
leisure and social activities and to 
maintaining contact with family and 
friends were shared by people and 
these were:

• Distance to travel getting to 
activities and lack of activities in 
certain parts of the county

• Transport and travel barriers

• Barriers to access buildings

• Lack of available support, and costs 
of support, to effectively participate 
in activities

• Affordability and timings of activities 
and transport

• The need to book in advance, and 
computer skills needed to book 
activities online

• The full report can be  
accessed here:  
www.inclusiongloucestershire.
co.uk/wp-content/uploads/Social-
and-Leisure-Chapter-3-FINAL.pdf 

REPORT OF THE DIRECTOR OF PUBLIC HEALTH 2022/23 16

P
age 50

https://www.gov.uk/government/statistics/family-resources-survey-financial-year-2020-to-2021/family-resources-survey-financial-year-2020-to-2021#disability-1
https://www.gov.uk/service-manual/helping-people-to-use-your-service/making-your-service-accessible-an-introduction
https://www.inclusiongloucestershire.co.uk/wp-content/uploads/Social-and-Leisure-Chapter-3-FINAL.pdf
https://www.inclusiongloucestershire.co.uk/wp-content/uploads/Social-and-Leisure-Chapter-3-FINAL.pdf
https://www.inclusiongloucestershire.co.uk/wp-content/uploads/Social-and-Leisure-Chapter-3-FINAL.pdf


TRANSPORT 
Gloucestershire has 3,300 miles of road, 
approximately 640,000 residents and 
over a quarter of a million households 
with over 40,000 of these households 
without a car or van to enable them to 
access essential services.

The National Indices of Deprivation 
2019 includes a measurement of 
transport access across the country. 
Each neighbourhood in England has 
had distance measurements calculated 
and ranked to the following services:

• Post office

• Primary school

• General store/supermarket

• GP Surgery

The map below shows how 
Gloucestershire’s neighbourhoods fare 
when compared against all areas in 
England – the red coloured areas on the 
map are neighbourhoods that are in the 
most deprived quintile of “Geographical 
Barriers” in England. 

Most of the land area of Gloucestershire 
falls within this quintile with the 
exceptions of the urban areas of the 
county, emphasising how important 
it is for all organisations to consider 
geographical barriers to access when 
planning or delivering services.

The Learning Disability Partnership Board brings together different people and 
groups who want to make things better for people with a Learning Disability in 
Gloucestershire. Following a survey asking people what was most important to them, 
‘making friends and relationships’ was identified as one of the Board’s priorities for the 
year. The Board invited different organisations to their meetings to tell the group how 
they support people to make and maintain friendships. 

The Board heard about an initiative called Gig Buddies, where people are matched 
with a volunteer buddy who loves the same kind of ‘gigs’ so they can go together. 
The ‘gig’ could be almost anything that people enjoy doing such as going to football 
matches, the cinema, museum, or concerts.

After the meeting, the co-chairs met with local organisations Building Circles, Forest 
Voluntary Action Forum and Camphill to talk about setting up a Gig Buddies in 
Gloucestershire. The Learning Disability Partnership Board are excited that they have 
been able to help Building Circles to apply for funding to run a Gig Buddies Project  
in Stroud, with Camphill and Forest Voluntary Action Forum looking into extending  
Gig Buddies in the Forest of Dean.

To read more about what the Learning Disability Partnership Board has 
been working on this year, please take a look at their annual report  
https://www.inclusiongloucestershire.co.uk/wp-content/uploads/Annual- 
Report-LDPB-2021-2022.pdf 

GIG BUDDIES 

REPORT OF THE DIRECTOR OF PUBLIC HEALTH 2022/23 17

P
age 51

https://www.inclusiongloucestershire.co.uk/wp-content/uploads/Annual-Report-LDPB-2021-2022.pdf
https://www.inclusiongloucestershire.co.uk/wp-content/uploads/Annual-Report-LDPB-2021-2022.pdf


A flexible bus  
service for everyone

The service aims to improve connections between rural areas which often have infrequent or no fixed routes available, increasing access to 
services and the wider transport network within the county. This will expand access to employment, education, healthcare, and shopping.

This service is a pilot scheme to learn how Gloucestershire County Council can offer these types of rural transport options in the best way 
possible for our communities. Funding is secured for the service to run for two years, with the pilot duration ending in 2024. Information will 
be gathered throughout the pilot to consider if the service continues or expands after 2024.

THE ROBIN

To increase rural access to transport, Gloucestershire County Council has launched ‘The Robin’. The Robin is 
designed specifically to provide transport links from close to people’s homes to locations for onward travel, 
for example, to connect with the fixed route bus network, or to services at times when there is no other 
transport option running. This service has launched in 2022 in two key rural areas - the Forest of Dean and 
the Cotswolds.

HOW THE SERVICE WORKS

You can book between two weeks in 
advance and up to one hour before 
you want to travel. Search for a 
journey and you will be shown the 
best available options for your pickup 
and drop off.

To book your journey it is simple 
needing the following information:

• Where do you want to be picked 
up and dropped off?

• When you would like to travel 
and what time. Remember to 
select the “arrive by” option if 
you need to get somewhere at a 
specific time!

• Do you need wheelchair access?

You will then be presented with a 
list of journey options that suit your 
needs. Choose your option and 
confirm the journey. You will receive 
an email confirmation of your 
journey straight away.

Two text message reminders (or 
mobile app notifications) will be 
sent the day of your journey. The 
first will be 30 minutes before your 
pick-up time and the second will be 
10 minutes before. If there are any 
delays (more than 10 minutes) or 
interruptions, you will be notified (text 
message or via the app) straight away.

More details about the service and 
how to book can be found here:

REPORT OF THE DIRECTOR OF PUBLIC HEALTH 2022/23 18

P
age 52

https://www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/transport/the-robin/


COMMUNITY TRANSPORT

In Gloucestershire there is an active 
Community Transport sector, 
ranging from small voluntary car 
schemes through to developing 
social enterprises. Many groups who 
operate transport also co-ordinate 
lunch clubs, shops which directly 
support the organisation, community 
outreach, events, and other activities.

Community Transport is part of the 
voluntary sector run by charities 
and volunteer groups which work 
together with public transport 
to ensure Gloucestershire has a 
healthy transport network. It plays 
a vital role in provided transport in 
areas where there is no mainstream 
public transport network, as well as 
providing more tailored transport to 
particular groups or individuals in the 
community.

Community Transport often takes 
the form of either (i) set routes with 
a set timetable like shopping trips or 
school transport or (ii) on demand 
journeys, where a customer has 
contacted a group and booked a trip 
(often called a ‘dial-a-ride’ system). 

Successful Community Transport 
needs a strong partnership between 
the people running the organisation, 
the public sector, users of the service 
and the community. 

To find out more information and see 
a list of current Community Transport 
Schemes, please visit: Community 
transport - Gloucestershire County 
Council

• Engage communities at risk of 
isolation in the design, planning 
and development of public 
spaces and facilities.

• Consider accessibility of 
services, including affordability 
and public transport and  
cycle routes.

• Design out barriers to 
connecting from the start  
to maximise benefits for  
local communities.

• Consider how accessible 
spaces within the workplace 
or organisation can be used to 
encourage and enable social 
contact, for both staff, service 
users and customers.

• Ensure that environments are 
inclusive to a broad range 
of users Making your service 
accessible: an introduction

• Organisations working in the 
health and care sector should 
consider the needs of their local 
rural populations when they 
develop or review strategies  
and service delivery plans.  
The ‘Rural proofing for health 
toolkit’, has been produced 
to support health and social 
care organisations to improve 
service provision and outcomes 
for those living in rural areas.

RECOMMENDATIONS 
FOR INCREASING 

ACCESSIBILITY

19REPORT OF THE DIRECTOR OF PUBLIC HEALTH 2022/23

SAFE ENVIRONMENTS 

We know that a barrier to accessing local communities by foot or by bicycle 
can be driven by safety concerns, such as street lighting and road safety. A safer 
systems approach to road safety considers not only road user education, but 
also how roads are designed and built to protect road users and reduce the 
likelihood of anyone being killed or seriously injured. 

Confidence in road safety for pedestrians and cyclists can enable people to be 
more independent and access friends, family, and community services more 
easily. Schemes including play streets and pedestrianised areas all help provide 
safer spaces for people to connect.

Whilst our roads and streets may not 
seem like an obvious place for social 
interactions, many Gloucestershire 
residents are working with 
Gloucestershire County Council to 
legally close their road to through-traffic 
for one-off events and opportunities for 
neighbours and communities to come 
together outside their homes.

During the Platinum Jubilee, 
approximately 250 streets in 
Gloucestershire were closed to allow 
residents to get together and throw 
street parties to celebrate Queen 
Elizabeth II 70th Anniversary. Further 
street parties are expected for June 
2023 to celebrate the King’s Coronation.

One street in Gloucestershire have 
trialled a Play Street, where residents 
agree to close the road, creating a safe 

space for children to play freely together 
on their doorstep. Residents of Mead 
Street in Cheltenham came together 
and agreed to close their street to  
create a space for children and adults 
to get together and have fun! The event 
was a great success, and the residents 
hope to hold more Play Street events in 
the future.

If you would like to close your road for 
the King’s Coronation or would like to 
consider running your own Play Street, 
you will need to ensure you receive a 
license allowing you to legally close 
the road. Please visit https://www.
gloucestershire.gov.uk/highways/
apply-for/streetworks-licences-
permits-and-permissions/road-lane-
closures-special-events-filming/ for 
more information.

P
age 53

https://www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/transport/community-transport/
https://www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/transport/community-transport/
https://www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/transport/community-transport/
https://www.gov.uk/service-manual/helping-people-to-use-your-service/making-your-service-accessible-an-introduction
https://www.gov.uk/service-manual/helping-people-to-use-your-service/making-your-service-accessible-an-introduction
https://ruralengland.org/rural-proofing-for-health-toolkit/
https://ruralengland.org/rural-proofing-for-health-toolkit/
https://www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/highways/apply-for/streetworks-licences-permits-and-permissions/road-lane-closures-special-events-filming/
https://www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/highways/apply-for/streetworks-licences-permits-and-permissions/road-lane-closures-special-events-filming/
https://www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/highways/apply-for/streetworks-licences-permits-and-permissions/road-lane-closures-special-events-filming/
https://www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/highways/apply-for/streetworks-licences-permits-and-permissions/road-lane-closures-special-events-filming/
https://www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/highways/apply-for/streetworks-licences-permits-and-permissions/road-lane-closures-special-events-filming/


20

Digital Divides Gloucestershire is a collaboration  
between Barnwood Trust, Gloucestershire VCS Alliance, 
Forest Voluntary Action Forum, Age UK Gloucestershire  
and Gloucestershire County Council working to see a  
more joined-up, evidence-based approach to tackling 
digital inequity. 

The group have been mapping Gloucestershire’s 
communities to reveal digital divides and find out who is 
missing out or getting left behind in the digital revolution. 
The group have identified areas at high risk for digital 
exclusion throughout the county, shown in the map below.
 
In addition to particular geographical areas in the county 
being at higher risk of digital exclusion, specific groups 
of people are disproportionately disadvantaged by the 
increasing turn to digital. These groups include disabled 
people, older people, those on low incomes, people with 
mental health challenges and those living in rural areas 
where internet connectivity is poor.19 

The Digital Divides group have produced this short film to 
demonstrate the impact that the digital divide has had on 
different parts of the county.

See film here

5:  DIGITAL CONNECTIONS

REPORT OF THE DIRECTOR OF PUBLIC HEALTH 2022/23

Society is changing rapidly, with digital connections playing an ever-increasing role in our 
lives. The way we live, work, and interact with each other is shifting as we move towards a 
more digital society. 

This change has been accelerated by the pandemic, with lockdowns and social distancing measures requiring us 
all to think differently about how we work, access services, entertain ourselves and connect with our family and 
friends. A switch to online communications provided the answer for many people. Ofcom reported that during 
the pandemic, twice as many using video calls were made to stay connected during lockdowns, with adults 
spending a record four hours a day online on average. 

There are four main reasons 
why someone might be 
digitally excluded:

For some people the move towards a more digital world has left them 
feeling excluded. The gap in society between people who have full access 
to digital technologies and those who do not is called the ‘digital divide’. 
There are four main reasons why someone might be digitally excluded:

(30,000 to 40,000) of adults in Gloucestershire 
are estimated to be effectively offline18

adults in Gloucestershire are online but are likely to 
be missing out on the full benefits of the internet18

High risk areas for digital exclusion exist in every district.19 

Forest of Dean: Cinderford, Newnham, Blakeney
Gloucester: The centre, Westgate, Matson/Robinswood
Stroud: Stroud town, Minchinhampton, Amberley
Tewkesbury: Shurdington, Badgeworth 
Cheltenham: Pockets in Hesters Way, Arle, Oakley
Cotswold: Moreton, Stow and Cirencester central

It’s too

complicated
I lack

support

It’s too

expensive

It’s not

for me

6-8% 

80,000 - 
100,000 

View online

P
age 54

https://www.digitaldivides.co.uk/
https://www.digitaldivides.co.uk/


THE DIGITAL  
HUBS PROJECT

The Digital Hubs project 
is an innovative approach 
to tackle digital exclusion 
across Gloucestershire. 
Developed by Forest Voluntary 
Action Forum and The Adult 
Transformation Team, the 
project’s aim is to increase 
Digital inclusion across the 
whole of Gloucestershire in a 
rolling programme between 
April 2022 and April 2023. 

Each Digital Hub offers free, tailored 
support specific to each individual,  
via a specially trained Community 
Builder that has undergone digital 
champion training.

The Digital Hubs can support with the 
“basics”, like turning on a computer, 
learning the different functions of a 
keyboard, or getting set-up with an 
email account, to more advance skills 
such as using Apps, Microsoft Office  
or video calling.

Each district will have a dedicated 
community partner that are well 
connected within its community, 
have a strong local knowledge and 
understanding of the barriers people 
face, and a drive and passion to 
demonstrate how life changing it  
can be in becoming digital included 
and confident.

What can it mean to be digitally 
included and confident?

• Creates opportunities to become 
more socially connected via  
social media

• Connecting with friends and  
family from near and far via  
Zoom, Facetime and skype

• Making online shopping accessible 
that could lead to savings on 
shopping bills

• Safely and securely using online 
banking that is fast replacing our 
high street banks

• Better access to health 
interventions, referrals and  
making GP appointments

• Opening up hundreds of job 
opportunities via various job  
search engines such as Indeed  
and Glosjobs

• The ability to access your Universal 
Credit Portal to contact a job coach 
and to update journals without the 
need to travel to a job centre

• Opens up doors for self-
development via online courses, 
videos and e-learning.

 
Digital Support is very much the tip 
of the ice burg of what is on offer. 
Alongside digital support, community 
builders are equally as passionate 
about forming trusted relationships, 
in safe community spaces, which are 
seen as the front door to community 
activities, where people become more 
connected and involved in.  
 

21REPORT OF THE DIRECTOR OF PUBLIC HEALTH 2022/23

CASE

STUDY

To find out more about the Digital Hubs visit  
https://www.gloucestershire-digital-hubs.co.uk

While addressing the barriers to digital inclusion is important to maximise 
opportunities for connection, and avoid the ‘digital divide’, our increased 
reliance on the internet and ‘social media’ can sometime have the 
opposite effect and cause people to feel more isolated, due to negative 
feedback or experiences.

View online

P
age 55

https://www.gloucestershire-digital-hubs.co.uk/


22REPORT OF THE DIRECTOR OF PUBLIC HEALTH 2022/23

Social media has fundamentally changed how young people spend their time, share information and 
interact with each other. More than six in ten children aged 3-17 (62%) had their own profile on a 
social media app or site in 2021, rising to more than nine in ten (94%) 16-17-year-olds.20

The pandemic meant that young people 
were online more than ever; with social 
media allowing us to maintain relationships 
and feel connected with friends and family 
while in-person socialising was  
not possible. 

Social media also provides opportunities 
for making new connections. With so 
many online communities available, young 
people can interact with like-minded 
people who share common interests from 
all around the world.

While providing a lifeline for many, social 
media use can have an impact on the 
mental health and wellbeing of young 
people. In England and Wales, 1 in 5 
young people aged 10-15 have reported 
experiencing online bullying, with the 
anonymity that social media allows 
enabling people to circulate harmful 
messages or posts rapidly.

Social media can also lead to an unhealthy 
culture of comparison. We are presented 
with a constant stream of highly curated 
(often edited) images which present an 
‘idealised’ body image of lifestyle, which 
can harm our own self-esteem. 

This can be particularly damaging for 
young people who are trying to establish 
their own identity, and the constant 
comparison can leave them feeling they 
are not enough.
There is little doubt that our online world 
will only continue to grow. Young people 
should be empowered to utilise these 

platforms positively.

Help keeping young people safe online:

• Give children the chance to talk about 
what they’re experiencing online, 
what apps and sites they use and who 
they’re talking to. Talking regularly, like 
you would about their day at school, 
will help your child feel relaxed and 
mean that when they do have any 
worries, they’re more likely to come 
and speak to you.

• Our devices are designed to keep us 
coming back. Features like infinite 
scrolling, app notifications, auto 
play and rewards for playing games 
every day are all persuasive designs 
to increase our use. Taking a break 
sometimes will help switch off from 
online pressures. 

You can use the settings on individual 
apps, or in the device settings to silence 
notifications or limit use for a period of 
time but it is also a good idea to sit down 
together with your child to agree some 
rules about how much time they spend 
online, to help them make good decisions 
for themselves.

For more advice and resources to help 
young people to manage their mental 
wellbeing online, visit https://www.nspcc.
org.uk/keeping-children-safe/online-
safety/online-wellbeing/ 

YOUNG PEOPLE AND SOCIAL MEDIA

• Consciously resist ‘digital by default’ when 
providing information, services or mechanisms 
for accessing clubs and other opportunities, for 
example, booking online only.

• Talk regularly to children & young people about 
what they’re experiencing online, just as you 
would talk about their day at school.

• If you, or someone you know is feeling the 
pressures of social media and being online,  
take a break. Settings in apps can also help limit 
certain content.

• Read the full-report and recommendations  
of the Digital Divide project. What can you  
or your organisation commit to do  
differently to address the digital divide? 

Digital+Divides+Report.pdf (squarespace.com)

RECOMMENDATIONS  
FOR DIGITAL  
INCLUSION

P
age 56

https://www.nspcc.org.uk/keeping-children-safe/online-safety/online-wellbeing/
https://www.nspcc.org.uk/keeping-children-safe/online-safety/online-wellbeing/
https://www.nspcc.org.uk/keeping-children-safe/online-safety/online-wellbeing/
https://static1.squarespace.com/static/617abf9b742ed51f29193232/t/62443af43d9fc81d2d9a14e4/1648638711164/Digital+Divides+Report.pdf


6:  BUILDING A CULTURE   
AND ENVIRONMENT WHICH  
ENABLES CONNECTIONS

CASE

STUDY

The businesses and organisations that we come into contact with on a regular basis have a vital role 
to play in how connected we feel to others and our communities. Their buildings and assets (such as 
green spaces and meetings rooms), policies and culture have the power to have a positive impact on 
their employees and our collective health and wellbeing, including our ability to connect. 

ANCHOR ORGANISATIONS 

Last year, the annual Director of Public Health report highlighted the role of anchor organisations in 
supporting the health and wellbeing of the residents of Gloucestershire. 

“Anchor organisations are large organisations that are unlikely to relocate and have a significant stake 
in their local area. They have sizeable assets that can be used to support their local community’s 
health and wellbeing and tackle health inequalities.”21 

The report outlined the benefits of taking this approach and made recommendations around five  
key areas:

• Employment – the role of anchor organisations in recruiting and retaining local staff, particularly 
those from more disadvantaged backgrounds.

• Procurement and commissioning – how goods and services can be procured so that 
organisations that know their local communities can effectively provide these services.

• Buildings and capital – ensuring that anchor organisations make their spaces available for 
community use, and how they can support access to affordable housing for staff.

• Environment – how anchor organisations can help Gloucestershire meet its carbon neutral 
targets, as well as supporting improvement of air quality and the local environment.

• Partnering in place – working in partnership across Gloucestershire with other anchors and with 
communities in a strengths-based way.

To aid organisations in embedding an anchors approach internally, a self-assessment framework 
has been developed to suit local needs and priorities. The framework aims to help organisations to 
capitalise on their power and role as an inclusive anchor institution. It acts as a tool for organisations 
to use to self-assess where they are now against each dimension, and to then to support them in 
deciding where they want to be and the actions they can take to get there. 

23REPORT OF THE DIRECTOR OF PUBLIC HEALTH 2022/23

GCC Volunteers have participated in a range of activities in their 
communities, including helping with preparing properties for the 
Home for Ukraine scheme through Police cadets, volunteering 
with local guides groups and communities services such as Tic+ 
(a children’s and young people charitable organisation) and being 
involved in local conservations groups such as the ‘Friends of 
Leckhampton Hill and Charlton Kings Common’ (FOLK).

The additional volunteering leave policy 
is an excellent way in encouraging staff 
to offer their services and make a real 
difference to local community groups. 
I am currently a Trustee of TIC+, a local 
charity which offers counselling and 
mental health support to young people 
in Gloucestershire, and the availability of 
these additional days has really helped 
and enabled me to spend more time 
with the charity in discussing operational 
and strategic planning when required 
throughout the year. This volunteering role 
has also developed my own knowledge 
and skills, all of which are fully transferable 
into my work with the council.

An important aspect of the work 
(practical conservation) we carry out is 
improving access for a wide range of 
users such as walkers, dogs and cyclists. 
The hill offers spectacular views over 
Cheltenham and beyond and is very well 
used by local people who appreciate the 
opportunity to enjoy exercise and fresh 
air on their door step. It was particularly 
popular during the pandemic when 
the importance of local green space to 
a sense of well-being became much 
more mainstream. Fellow volunteers are 
an eclectic mix of mainly retirees and 
students and is a great way of meeting 
different people in a relaxed and informal 
setting. FOLK welcomes new volunteers!

P
age 57



CASE

STUDY

Nationally, many community organisations have joined the Warm Welcome Network. Gloucestershire is no different and the county council 
have a dedicated webpage as part of the Support Hub with information on Warm Spaces including guidance on how to set one up. More 
information can be found here:

Libraries are traditionally a place where people can go without judgement or cost and Gloucestershire’s Libraries will be offering a free, 
warm and welcoming space in local communities across the county. Not all libraries are the same, but all locations will provide an offer 
of the following:

• Warm, dry buildings with spaces to sit and keep warm

• Free access to the internet and wi-fi

• Places to charge your devices

• Signposting to advice and support

• Free activities such as homework help, knit and natter, library clubs

• Distribution or collection hubs for food, clothing etc

• Provision of hot drinks where this is possible.

Each district council has information on their websites about the support available regarding the cost of living as well as signposting to 
local warm spaces.

With cost-of-living increases affecting our population  
community venues all over the county such as village halls, 
community centres, libraires as well as churches and other faith 
groups, are responding and opening themselves up as ‘Warm 
Spaces’ for residents to spend time, have a warm drink and socialise.

WARM SPACES

Support available  
to help with the 

cost of living crisis 
this winter

Support available 
in your community

Support available 
in your community

Warm Spaces Warm Spaces Cost of living 
support

24REPORT OF THE DIRECTOR OF PUBLIC HEALTH 2022/23

P
age 58

https://www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/libraries/warm-and-welcome/
https://www.cheltenham.gov.uk/news/article/2735/support_available_to_help_with_the_cost_of_living_crisis_this_winter
https://www.cheltenham.gov.uk/news/article/2735/support_available_to_help_with_the_cost_of_living_crisis_this_winter
https://www.cheltenham.gov.uk/news/article/2735/support_available_to_help_with_the_cost_of_living_crisis_this_winter
https://www.cheltenham.gov.uk/news/article/2735/support_available_to_help_with_the_cost_of_living_crisis_this_winter
https://www.cotswold.gov.uk/council-tax-and-benefits/help-if-you-re-struggling-with-the-cost-of-living/support-available-in-your-community/
https://www.cotswold.gov.uk/council-tax-and-benefits/help-if-you-re-struggling-with-the-cost-of-living/support-available-in-your-community/
https://www.fdean.gov.uk/council-tax-and-benefits/help-if-you-re-struggling-with-living-costs/support-available-in-your-community/
https://www.fdean.gov.uk/council-tax-and-benefits/help-if-you-re-struggling-with-living-costs/support-available-in-your-community/
https://www.gloucester.gov.uk/community-living/warm-spaces/
https://www.stroud.gov.uk/housing-benefit-universal-credit-and-council-tax-support/cost-of-living-support/warm-spaces
https://www.tewkesbury.gov.uk/cost-of-living-support
https://www.tewkesbury.gov.uk/cost-of-living-support


CONCLUSION RECOMMENDATIONS FOR 
ORGANISATIONS AND 
BUSINESSES

Tackling social isolation and loneliness is not the 
responsibility of just one organisation or group of people 
– everyone can play their part in supporting people who 
may be at risk of experiencing loneliness and enabling 
our communities to have the social connections they 
need and want. 

The following recommendations have been grouped 
into actions that can be taken as an individual, as a 
community group, or at an organisational level.  
We invite you to consider what action you can take, as 
even a small change has the potential to make a big 
difference to someone who is feeling isolated or lonely.

Throughout this report we have 
highlighted how important social 
connections are for our physical and 
mental health. However, the impact of 
the pandemic, a shift to a more digital 
world, and a range of barriers to accessing 
social opportunities mean that more of us 
than ever before are experiencing social 
isolation and loneliness.

This report has highlighted a small handful of the great 
activities that are working to promote social connections 
in Gloucestershire. 

We know there are many more out there making a real 
difference to the people they work with and beside.

25

RECOMMENDATIONS  
FOR ORGANISATIONS

AND BUSINESSES

• Don’t forget the importance of social 
connections as a mental and physical 
health promoter and normalise these 
conversations within your workplace. 

• When designing new buildings/
spaces maximise benefits for local 
communities and involve them in  
the process.

• Consider how spaces within the 
workplace or organisation can 
be used to enable social contact, 
for both staff, service users and 
customers. Even a shared tea and 
chat can help!

• Sustainably invest in voluntary 
and community organisations 
who have a vital role in supporting 
communities and bringing people in 
Gloucestershire together.

• Consider how your organisation can 
encourage and enable volunteering 
and community participation. Read 
more about volunteering in section 2.

• Expand community access to  
your organisation’s buildings  
and outside spaces.

• Ensure that, if relevant, services your 
organisations provide to the public 
have both digital and face-to-face 
options, to ensure that those who 
prefer this or whose mental health 
and wellbeing are improved through 
these connections, are not excluded.

REPORT OF THE DIRECTOR OF PUBLIC HEALTH 2022/23

P
age 59



• Engage communities at risk of 
isolation in the design, planning 
and development of public 
spaces and facilities.

• Consider accessibility of 
services, including affordability 
and public transport and  
cycle routes.

• Design out barriers to 
connecting from the start  
to maximise benefits for  
local communities.

• Consider how accessible 
spaces within the workplace 
or organisation can be used to 
encourage and enable social 
contact, for both staff, service 
users and customers.

• Ensure that environments are 
inclusive to a broad range 
of users Making your service 
accessible: an introduction

• Organisations working in the 
health and care sector should 
consider the needs of their local 
rural populations when they 
develop or review strategies  
and service delivery plans.  
The ‘Rural proofing for health 
toolkit’, has been produced 
to support health and social 
care organisations to improve 
service provision and outcomes 
for those living in rural areas.

RECOMMENDATIONS 
FOR INCREASING 

ACCESSIBILITY

• Take time each day to reach out 
to family and friends. This could 
be arranging to go for a walk 
together, a telephone call or 
text, or a video call with loved 
ones who you cannot meet  
in person.

• Join a local community group, 
sports team, or hobby group to 
find other like-minded people 
with similar interest to you.

• Volunteer for a local charity 
to meet new people, support 
others and your local 
community. See section  
4 for more information  
on volunteering.

• Build up digital resilience to 
help recognise and manage 
the risks you may come across 
when you socialise, explore, or 
work online. This is achieved 
primarily through experience, 
rather than learning and is 
fostered by opportunities 
to confide in trusted others 
and later reflect upon online 
challenges.

• Reach out to those that may 
be at increased risk of isolation 
and loneliness, this could be 
offering a neighbour a cup of 
tea or checking if they need 
help with anything.

RECOMMENDATIONS  
FOR EVERYONE

7:  SUMMARY OF RECOMMENDATIONS

• When planning activity to 
connect people, consider 
accessibility from the start. 
This might mean thinking 
about travel and what is 
available to enable people to 
join in, for example offering 
to share a lift, cycle or take 
the bus together, or knowing 
what the community transport 
options are.

 
• Understand what is available 

in the community and build 
networks. Your Circle has a 
wealth of information on local 
initiatives, while Know Your 
Patch (KYP) builds networks of 
organisations in each district 
in Gloucestershire for those 
working with individuals and 
groups to help people stay 
independent for longer and 
to lead full and happier lives. 
These networks also help 
connect VSCE and statutory 
organisations together for 
effective partnership working.

• Consider a range of ways to 
bring people together which 
do not increase the digital 
divide and give those that need 
and value face to face contact 
a way to connect. Read more 
about the digital divide in 
section 5.

RECOMMENDATIONS  
FOR COMMUNITIES

REPORT OF THE DIRECTOR OF PUBLIC HEALTH 2022/23 26

RECOMMENDATIONS  
FOR ORGANISATIONS

AND BUSINESSES

• Don’t forget the importance of social 
connections as a mental and physical 
health promoter and normalise these 
conversations within your workplace. 

• When designing new buildings/
spaces maximise benefits for local 
communities and involve them in  
the process.

• Consider how spaces within the 
workplace or organisation can 
be used to enable social contact, 
for both staff, service users and 
customers. Even a shared tea and 
chat can help!

• Sustainably invest in voluntary 
and community organisations 
who have a vital role in supporting 
communities and bringing people in 
Gloucestershire together.

• Consider how your organisation can 
encourage and enable volunteering 
and community participation. Read 
more about volunteering in section 2.

• Expand community access to  
your organisation’s buildings  
and outside spaces.

• Ensure that, if relevant, services your 
organisations provide to the public 
have both digital and face-to-face 
options, to ensure that those who 
prefer this or whose mental health 
and wellbeing are improved through 
these connections, are not excluded.

• Consciously resist ‘digital 
by default’ when providing 
information, services or 
mechanisms for accessing clubs 
and other opportunities, for 
example, booking online only.

• Talk regularly to children & 
young people about what  
they’re experiencing online,  
just as you would talk about  
their day at school.

• If you, or someone you know is 
feeling the pressures of social 
media and being online,  
take a break. Settings in apps can 
also help limit certain content.

• Read the full-report and 
recommendations of the Digital 
Divide project. What can you  
or your organisation commit  
to do differently to address  
the digital divide?  

Digital+Divides+Report.pdf 
(squarespace.com)

RECOMMENDATIONS FOR 
DIGITAL INCLUSION

P
age 60

https://www.gov.uk/service-manual/helping-people-to-use-your-service/making-your-service-accessible-an-introduction
https://www.gov.uk/service-manual/helping-people-to-use-your-service/making-your-service-accessible-an-introduction
https://ruralengland.org/rural-proofing-for-health-toolkit/
https://ruralengland.org/rural-proofing-for-health-toolkit/
https://www.yourcircle.org.uk/
https://knowyourpatch.co.uk/about/
https://knowyourpatch.co.uk/about/
https://static1.squarespace.com/static/617abf9b742ed51f29193232/t/62443af43d9fc81d2d9a14e4/1648638711164/Digital+Divides+Report.pdf
https://static1.squarespace.com/static/617abf9b742ed51f29193232/t/62443af43d9fc81d2d9a14e4/1648638711164/Digital+Divides+Report.pdf


27REPORT OF THE DIRECTOR OF PUBLIC HEALTH 2022/23

8:  REFERENCES 1 Campaign to End Loneliness (2021) Beyond Covid-19 (available from Loneliness beyond 
Covid-19 | Campaign to End Loneliness) [accessed on 01/08/2022].

2 Gloucestershire County Council (2022) Pupil Wellbeing Survey report (available from Pupil 
Wellbeing Survey (formerly Online Pupil Survey) - Inform (gloucestershire.gov.uk)) [accessed 
01/09/2022]

3 Barnwood Trust (2021) Our Changing World (available from https://www.barnwoodtrust.org/
news/our-changing-world) [accessed 03/08/2022]

4 Office for Health Improvement and Disparities, Fingertips: Public Health data, Wider 
Determinants of Health https://fingertips.phe.org.uk/profile/wider-determinants [accessed on 
01/12/22]

5 OHID/Sports England (2019/20) Active Lives Adult Survey

6 Office of National Statistics (2021) An overview of workers who were furloughed 
in the UK: Labour Force Survey) (available from https://www.ons.gov.uk/
employmentandlabourmarket/peopleinwork/employmentandemployeetypes/articles/
anoverviewofworkerswhowerefurloughedintheuk/october2021) [accessed on 01/10/2022]

7 Gloucestershire Gateway Trust (2021) Our Communities Supporting each other 
in our new reality - Community Wellbeing Survey (available from https://www.
gloucestershiregatewaytrust.org.uk/uploads/9/4/4/4/94442743/ggt_community_wellbeing_
survey_2021__single_spreads_.pdf) [accessed on 01/09/2022]

8 Chapter 4. Children and young people; COVID-19 mental health and wellbeing surveillance: 
report - Gov.UK (April 2022): https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/covid-19-mental-
health-and-wellbeing-surveillance-report/7-children-and-young-people

9 Mental Health of Children and Young People in England 2021 – NHS Digital (30 Sep 2021): 
https://digital.nhs.uk/data-and-information/publications/statistical/mental-health-of-
children-and-young-people-in-england/2021-follow-up-to-the-2017-survey

10 The impact of COVID-19 on children and young people – The Children’s Society (1 August 
2020): https://www.childrenssociety.org.uk/sites/default/files/2021-01/the-impact-of-covid-
19-on-children-and-young-people-briefing.pdf 

11 Impact of COVID-19 on poor mental health in children and young people ‘tip of the iceberg’ 
– Unicef (04 October 2021): https://www.unicef.org/press-releases/impact-covid-19-poor-
mental-health-children-and-young-people-tip-iceberg

11Our Communities Supporting each other in our new reality - Community Wellbeing Survey 
(Gloucestershire Gateway Trust 2021): https://www.gloucestershiregatewaytrust.org.uk/
uploads/9/4/4/4/94442743/ggt_community_wellbeing_survey_2021__single_spreads_.pdf

P
age 61

https://www.campaigntoendloneliness.org/press-release/loneliness-beyond-covid-19/
https://www.campaigntoendloneliness.org/press-release/loneliness-beyond-covid-19/
https://www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/inform/children-and-young-people/pupil-wellbeing-survey-formerly-online-pupil-survey/
https://www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/inform/children-and-young-people/pupil-wellbeing-survey-formerly-online-pupil-survey/
http://gloucestershire.gov.uk
https://www.barnwoodtrust.org/news/our-changing-world
https://www.barnwoodtrust.org/news/our-changing-world
https://fingertips.phe.org.uk/profile/wider-determinants
https://www.ons.gov.uk/employmentandlabourmarket/peopleinwork/employmentandemployeetypes/articles/anoverviewofworkerswhowerefurloughedintheuk/october2021
https://www.ons.gov.uk/employmentandlabourmarket/peopleinwork/employmentandemployeetypes/articles/anoverviewofworkerswhowerefurloughedintheuk/october2021
https://www.ons.gov.uk/employmentandlabourmarket/peopleinwork/employmentandemployeetypes/articles/anoverviewofworkerswhowerefurloughedintheuk/october2021
https://www.gloucestershiregatewaytrust.org.uk/uploads/9/4/4/4/94442743/ggt_community_wellbeing_survey_2021__single_spreads_.pdf
https://www.gloucestershiregatewaytrust.org.uk/uploads/9/4/4/4/94442743/ggt_community_wellbeing_survey_2021__single_spreads_.pdf
https://www.gloucestershiregatewaytrust.org.uk/uploads/9/4/4/4/94442743/ggt_community_wellbeing_survey_2021__single_spreads_.pdf
http://Gov.UK
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/covid-19-mental-health-and-wellbeing-surveillance-report/7-children-and-young-people 
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/covid-19-mental-health-and-wellbeing-surveillance-report/7-children-and-young-people 
https://digital.nhs.uk/data-and-information/publications/statistical/mental-health-of-children-and-young-people-in-england/2021-follow-up-to-the-2017-survey
https://digital.nhs.uk/data-and-information/publications/statistical/mental-health-of-children-and-young-people-in-england/2021-follow-up-to-the-2017-survey
https://www.childrenssociety.org.uk/sites/default/files/2021-01/the-impact-of-covid-19-on-children-and-young-people-briefing.pdf
https://www.childrenssociety.org.uk/sites/default/files/2021-01/the-impact-of-covid-19-on-children-and-young-people-briefing.pdf
https://www.unicef.org/press-releases/impact-covid-19-poor-mental-health-children-and-young-people-tip-iceberg
https://www.unicef.org/press-releases/impact-covid-19-poor-mental-health-children-and-young-people-tip-iceberg
https://www.gloucestershiregatewaytrust.org.uk/uploads/9/4/4/4/94442743/ggt_community_wellbeing_survey_2021__single_spreads_.pdf
https://www.gloucestershiregatewaytrust.org.uk/uploads/9/4/4/4/94442743/ggt_community_wellbeing_survey_2021__single_spreads_.pdf


28REPORT OF THE DIRECTOR OF PUBLIC HEALTH 2022/23

12 Inclusion Gloucestershire (2021) Survey: Social & Leisure Opportunities (available from 
https://www.inclusiongloucestershire.co.uk/wp-content/uploads/Social-and-Leisure-
Chapter-3-FINAL.pdf) [accessed on 01/10/2022]

13 Gloucestershire County Council (2019) Indices of Deprivation 2019 Gloucestershire 
(Inform Gloucestershire): (available from https://www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/
media/2094524/gloucestershire_deprivation_2019_v13.pdf) [accessed on 
01/10/2022]

13 Robert D. Putnam, Bowling Alone: The Collapse and Revival of American Community 
(ed. Simon and Schuster, 2001)

14 Gloucestershire County Council (2020) Community help hub launched to support 
residents: Press release (available from https://www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/
gloucestershire-county-council-news/news-march-2020/community-help-hub-
launched-to-support-residents/) [accessed on 01/10/2022]

15 Gloucestershire County Council (2022 ) Building Back Better in Gloucestershire 
(available from https://www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/council-and-democracy/building-
back-better-in-gloucestershire/) [accessed on 01/09/2022]

16 Gloucestershire County Council (2019) Indices of Deprivation 2019 Gloucestershire 
(Inform Gloucestershire): (available from https://www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/
media/2094524/gloucestershire_deprivation_2019_v13.pdf) [accessed on 
01/10/2022]

17 Office of National Statistics (2022) Family Resources Survey: financial year 2020 
to 2021 (Gov.uk 31 March 2022): (available from https://www.gov.uk/government/
statistics/family-resources-survey-financial-year-2020-to-2021/family-resources-
survey-financial-year-2020-to-2021#disability-1) [accessed on 01/11/2022]

18 Citizens Online (2022) Digital Exclusion Risk Mapping Report https://static1.
squarespace.com/static/617abf9b742ed51f29193232/t/62443b42ccb53108a1
cc2792/1648638801092/Data+Mapping+Gloucestershire+Digital+Divides.pdf 
[accessed on 29/11/2022]

19 Digital Divides (2022) Working towards Digital Equity in Gloucestershire 
(Digital Divides): (available from https://static1.squarespace.com/
static/617abf9b742ed51f29193232/t/62443af43d9fc81d2d9a14e4/1648638711164/
Digital+Divides+Report.pdf) [accessed on 01/10/2022]

20 Ofcom (2022), Children and parents: media use and attitudes report 2022 https://
www.ofcom.org.uk/__data/assets/pdf_file/0024/234609/childrens-media-use-and-
attitudes-report-2022.pdf [accessed on 01/12/2022]

21 Health Foundation (2019) Building healthier communities: the role of the NHS as 
an anchor institution (available from http://reader.health.org.uk/building-healthier-
communities) [accessed on 01/08/2022]

22 Gloucestershire VCS Alliance (2022) What is the Gloucestershire VCS Alliance? 
(available from https://www.glosvcsalliance.org.uk/about/about-us) [accessed on 
01/09/2022]

P
age 62

http://www.inclusiongloucestershire.co.uk/wp-content/uploads/Social-and-Leisure-Chapter-3-FINAL.pdf
http://www.inclusiongloucestershire.co.uk/wp-content/uploads/Social-and-Leisure-Chapter-3-FINAL.pdf
https://www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/media/2094524/gloucestershire_deprivation_2019_v13.pdf
https://www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/media/2094524/gloucestershire_deprivation_2019_v13.pdf
https://www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/gloucestershire-county-council-news/news-march-2020/community-help-hub-launched-to-support-residents/
https://www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/gloucestershire-county-council-news/news-march-2020/community-help-hub-launched-to-support-residents/
https://www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/gloucestershire-county-council-news/news-march-2020/community-help-hub-launched-to-support-residents/
https://www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/council-and-democracy/building-back-better-in-gloucestershire/
https://www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/council-and-democracy/building-back-better-in-gloucestershire/
https://www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/media/2094524/gloucestershire_deprivation_2019_v13.pdf
https://www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/media/2094524/gloucestershire_deprivation_2019_v13.pdf
http://Gov.uk
https://www.gov.uk/government/statistics/family-resources-survey-financial-year-2020-to-2021/family-resources-survey-financial-year-2020-to-2021#disability-1
https://www.gov.uk/government/statistics/family-resources-survey-financial-year-2020-to-2021/family-resources-survey-financial-year-2020-to-2021#disability-1
https://www.gov.uk/government/statistics/family-resources-survey-financial-year-2020-to-2021/family-resources-survey-financial-year-2020-to-2021#disability-1
https://static1.squarespace.com/static/617abf9b742ed51f29193232/t/62443b42ccb53108a1cc2792/1648638801092/Data+Mapping+Gloucestershire+Digital+Divides.pdf
https://static1.squarespace.com/static/617abf9b742ed51f29193232/t/62443b42ccb53108a1cc2792/1648638801092/Data+Mapping+Gloucestershire+Digital+Divides.pdf
https://static1.squarespace.com/static/617abf9b742ed51f29193232/t/62443b42ccb53108a1cc2792/1648638801092/Data+Mapping+Gloucestershire+Digital+Divides.pdf
https://static1.squarespace.com/static/617abf9b742ed51f29193232/t/62443af43d9fc81d2d9a14e4/1648638711164/Digital+Divides+Report.pdf
https://static1.squarespace.com/static/617abf9b742ed51f29193232/t/62443af43d9fc81d2d9a14e4/1648638711164/Digital+Divides+Report.pdf
https://static1.squarespace.com/static/617abf9b742ed51f29193232/t/62443af43d9fc81d2d9a14e4/1648638711164/Digital+Divides+Report.pdf
https://www.ofcom.org.uk/__data/assets/pdf_file/0024/234609/childrens-media-use-and-attitudes-report-2022.pdf
https://www.ofcom.org.uk/__data/assets/pdf_file/0024/234609/childrens-media-use-and-attitudes-report-2022.pdf
https://www.ofcom.org.uk/__data/assets/pdf_file/0024/234609/childrens-media-use-and-attitudes-report-2022.pdf
http://reader.health.org.uk/building-healthier-communities
http://reader.health.org.uk/building-healthier-communities
https://www.glosvcsalliance.org.uk/about/about-us


Report of the Director of Public Health 2022/23

G
C

C
_3

73
6 

 1
.2

3
P

age 63



T
his page is intentionally left blank



1 
 

 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  
 
 
 
 

Gloucestershire   
Safeguarding 
Adults Board 

(GSAB) 

 

Annual Report 2021/22 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 65

Agenda Item 5



Contents 
 
 
 
 
 

Welcome from 

the GSAB Chair .................. 3 

This is Gloucestershire…………5 

Key Achievements and 2018-21 

Strategic Plan……………….……6 

Key Issues and 
Challenges………………………..8 

Safeguarding 

Adults Board ................... .9 

What is Safeguarding?............10 

How to Report a 

Safeguarding Concern ........ 11 

Safeguarding Activity 

in Gloucestershire ............. 12 

Case Study ……………….…….14 

Update from the GSAB Sub 
Groups…………………………...17 

Learning from our 

Safeguarding Adult Reviews ... 21 

 

    Case Study………………………25  

 

    Statutory Partners………………27  

 

    Financial Summary……………..33  

 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

Page 66



 
 

3 
 

Welcome from the 
GSAB Chair 

 
 

Welcome to the Gloucestershire Safeguarding Adults 

Board Annual Report for 2021-22 
 
 
 

Welcome to the Gloucestershire Safeguarding 
Adults Board (SAB) annual report, the 
production of which is one of the statutory 
requirements of the Care Act 2014 and     
covers the period April 2021 to March 2022.  
 
The past 12 months have continued to 
challenge our extended safeguarding 
partnership, which has worked tirelessly to 
ensure the safety and well-being of adults     
with care and support needs, as we moved 
away from the height of the COVID-19 
pandemic. Things are far from normal and      
we continue to operate in a pressured 
environment that is still in a state of recovery, 
and is trying to establish its “new” normal.   
 
Like many areas across the Country, we     
have seen first hand how both the Health      
and Social care systems have had to cope     
with unprecedented demand and at the same 
time, cope with the challenge of staff isolating 
due to COVID, and the retention and 
recruitment of staff.   
 
Owing to a number of factors, we have seen    
an ever-increasing volume and complexity       
of safeguarding issues and concerns with 
individuals experiencing severe and multiple 
disadvantages, including homelessness, 
contact with the criminal justice system, 
substance misuse, sex working and mental 
health. This has also been evidenced in a 
number of Safeguarding Adults Reviews 
(SARs).   
 

The SAB itself maintained focus on a virtual basis 
and strived to deliver the objectives of     its 
extended 3-year Strategic plan 2018-2021: 
Improving Effectiveness of the Board, Improving 
Safeguarding Practice, Preventative Strategies and 
Making Safeguarding Personal.  
 
I am pleased to report that we have now launched   
a new 3-year Strategic plan 2022-2025, and I would 
like to thank everyone involved for their contribution 
in setting our clear priorities for the next few years. 
 
Another of the statutory requirements of the SAB is 
to commission SARs, where certain criteria are met. 
During 2020/2021 the Board received 6 referrals for 
consideration of undertaking a SAR, of which one is 
proceeding to a SAR and another a learning event.  
Three completed SARs were also published during 
this period. 
 
Our SAR Sub Group also continues to oversee the 
implementation work on the recommendations of 
three SARs in order to ensure that service 
improvements are embedded and maintained.  
 
The SAR Sub Group also continues to respond to 
the findings and recommendations of the first 
National Analysis of Safeguarding Adults Reviews    
in England that looked at all published reviews 
during the period April 2017-March 2019 and 
included those submitted by Gloucestershire 
Safeguarding Adults Board. 
 
Our Workforce Development Group continues to    
respond to any challenge that it faces, and 12,478  
 

Page 67



Gloucestershire staff (and volunteers) undertook       
GSAB approved Safeguarding and Mental    
Capacity Act (MCA) courses in the past year.    
Some training was able to be delivered on a        
face-to-face basis during the final few months. 
Moving forward training will be delivered by          
way of a blended approach as there have been    
some benefits identified in delivering training       with 
a remote option. 
 
Some of the work delivered by the Board and      
its sub groups during this period is outlined 
below: 
 

• The Policy and Procedure Group      
have continued with its annual review 
plan of all relevant Board policy and 
procedure documents review.    

  

• Commissioning of a new Multi-Agency 
Risk Management (MARM) Framework, 
to go live potentially in 2022/3.   

 

• The annual CPD day for trainers took       
place virtually in November using MS     
Teams. 

 

• Our Multi-agency Audit Group has     
undertaken focused multi-agency            
audits on self-neglect, dementia, a            
deep dive on repeat concerns, mental      
health enquiries and a Deep dive into     
complex alcohol misuse/self-neglect           
and financial abuse. 

 

• Increasing awareness of using a trauma 
informed approach when working with 
individuals with complex needs. 

 

• Our Fire Safety Development has         
produced an action plan that aligns with       
the Fire Standards Board Prevention 
Standards.  It sets priorities for improving 
inter-agency working, training frontline 
practitioners from all agencies to recognise 
fire risks in homes and to ensure that 
safeguarding is embedded in all fire risk 
reduction activity. 

 
As always, I would like to extend my thanks and 
appreciation to my Board Business Manager, the 
Board and members of our various sub groups, for 
their continued support and commitment to 
developing and promoting the work of protecting 
adults with care and support needs.   
 
I would also like to acknowledge the work and 
commitment of our front-line practitioners, for their 
dedication and professionalism in these challenging 
times.  
  

 

Paul Yeatman 

Independent Chair 
Gloucestershire Safeguarding Adults Board  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

Page 68



 

5 
 

This is 
Gloucestershire  

The 2021 Census showed that Gloucestershire’s population was 645,076 in 2021. This is an increase 
of 8.1%% between 2011-21, which is higher than the growth rate of 6.3% for England and Wales.  
 
Gloucester continues to have the largest population with 132,416 people and the Forest of Dean has 
the smallest at 87,004. Between 2021-22, Tewkesbury had the most population growth at 15.8% 
followed by Cotswold with a 9.6% increase. Cheltenham saw the lowest rate of growth with an 
increase of 2.7% or around 3,000 people. 
 
The overall gender distribution for Gloucestershire is 48.9% males and 51.1% females, in line with 
the gender split seen at a national and regional level 
 
In 2021, an estimated 517,644 adults aged 18 and over lived in Gloucestershire, of these around 
139,810 people were over-65s 
 
The proportion of the population who are of working-age (16-64) is 60.84%% in Gloucestershire. This 
is lower than the overall working-age proportion in England and Wales (% 62.93%) but slightly higher 
than in the South West (60.73%).  
 
The proportion of people over the age of 65 is higher in Gloucestershire (21.6%) than in England and 
Wales (18.66%) but slightly lower than in the South West (22.34%) 
 
In the 12-month period to May 2020, around 12,100 adults and older people were receiving social 
care services funded by Gloucestershire County Council, including about 6,200 who received long-
term care such as domiciliary care, residential care and nursing care. There were also around 1,400 
adults in Gloucestershire receiving council-funded services as a carer in the same period. 
 

 

 
 
 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
Gloucestershire has a larger proportion 
of older population (age 65+) than 
nationally. Its older population is 
forecast to rise at a faster pace than 
nationally in the next 25 years, from 
135,000 to 205,900 people between 
2018 and 2043.  

 

There were around 20,200 
informal carers aged 65+ in 
Gloucestershire in 2020, this is 
expected to increase to 25,100 in 
2030.  

 
   Studies suggest that the level of unmet social care need is higher among older 

people on low incomes than those on higher incomes. In Gloucestershire, 8 
neighbourhood areas were ranked among the national top 10% income    
deprivations affecting older people.  

 
From Older People in Gloucestershire Prevalence of Needs Report (link below) 
https://www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/media/2099482/op_prevalance_of_need_2020_final.pdf 

 

Page 69

https://www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/media/2099482/op_prevalance_of_need_2020_final.pdf


 

Key Achievements 

2021/22 and the       

2018-21 Strategic Plan 
 

 

Key Achievements
 

❖ GSAB Roadshows were held in April 
2021, a week of morning events, held 
virtually, shining a light on safeguarding 
during the COVID-19 pandemic. The 
particular focus was on the Voluntary and 
Community Sectors contribution to 
keeping people safe during this 
challenging time.   
 

❖ Completion of two new national tools for 
the 2021/22 GSAB Self-Assessment 
Audit by partner agencies, including the 
Voluntary and Community Sector for the 
first time.   

 
❖ Further development of the GSAB 

Quarterly Report, using Power BI, as the 
reporting tool. 

 
❖ Commissioning of a new Multi-Agency 

Risk Management (MARM) Framework, 
to go live in 2022.   

 
❖ Producing and disseminating four issues 

of the GSAB Quarterly Newsletter, 
covering a variety of themes.  

 
❖ Completing and publishing the ‘Five 

Women’ Safeguarding Adults Review 
(SAR) during the last year and 
undertaking a new joint review with the 
Gloucestershire Safeguarding Children’s 
Partnership.  

 
❖ Commissioning a scoping exercise to 

transitions (child to adult) in 
Gloucestershire, to highlight gaps in 
services and where further work is 
needed.  

 

❖ 12,478 Gloucestershire staff and volunteers 
completed GSAB approved safeguarding 
training.  

 
❖ Using a blended approach to Safeguarding 

and MCA training, to include e-learning, virtual 
and face to face training will be delivered 
throughout the coming year. 

 
❖ Increasing awareness of using a trauma 

informed approach when working with 
individuals with complex needs. 

 
 
 

 
 
 

GSAB Strategic Plan  
 
The Board’s Strategic Plan covers a three-year 
period as recommended by the Care Act 
Statutory Guidance.  The high-level priorities are 
reflected across the four areas shown below.  
This plan is in its last year and a new Strategic 
Plan has been produced, covering 2022-2025.  
Consultation on the content of the new plan was 
conducted by Healthwatch.  

 

Page 70



 

7 
 

Priority – Improve GSAB Effectiveness  
 

To ensure that the GSAB is fit for purpose, in that it has the right membership, has the right 
support and is resourced and run in an efficient and effective manner, so that it can fulfil all of 
its statutory functions to a high standard. The outcome of its work must meet the 
requirements of the Care Act 2014, and the Board must lead on and make a positive 
contribution to adult safeguarding in Gloucestershire. 
 
 

Priority – Improve Safeguarding Practice  
 

To ensure that the Board and its partners deliver efficient and effective outcomes that are 
person centred, and that evolve to meet new challenges and take into account best practice 
and learning from across the safeguarding landscape.    
  
 
 

Priority – Focus on Preventative Practice  
 

The Board recognises the importance of preventative practices in order to protect individuals 
from being abused and/or neglected and also early intervention which minimises and 
mitigates harm. In doing so we should embrace a person centred approach, which takes into 
account the needs and wishes of people who are the subjects of safeguarding enquiries. 
 
 

Priority – Embed the Ethos of Making Safeguarding Personal   
 
To ensure that the ethos of Making Safeguarding Personal is embedded within the practice of 
all Board member organisations. 
 
 
Risk Register 2018-21 
 
The Board also produces a Risk Register which details, manages and monitors risks that can 
potentially impact upon its ability to deliver the priorities as set out within its Strategic Plan.  
The Risk Register identifies the potential consequence of the risk and what actions have been 
taken in order to mitigate, manage or reduce the risk. Each risk is RAG (Red/Amber/Green) 
rated based on its score.  The Board currently has no risks rated Red; these would be of 
considerable concern to the Board.   
 
A new Risk Register, covering the period 2022-25 is currently in production.  This will link with 
the new 2022-25 Strategic Plan. The Board’s current Strategic Plan and Risk Register can be 
found in supporting documents.  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 71

http://www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/gsab/safeguarding-adults-board/safeguarding-adults-annual-reports-and-strategic-plan/


Key Issues and Challenges 
 

Severe and Multiple Disadvantage 
   
To help shape and influence how all the agencies in Gloucestershire support and 
respond to individuals with complex health and social care issues, which are strongly 
related to Adverse Childhood Experiences and the need for trauma informed working 
practice. 
   
 
SAR Quality Markers 
  
To use the learning and recommendations from the SAR Quality Markers to ensure that 
we commission and conduct quality reviews and that we maximise our opportunity to 
learn from and develop good practices that provide better outcomes for individuals with 
care and support needs.    
 
  
Voluntary and Community Sector Links  
  
To continue with meaningful interaction with our highly valued diverse voluntary and 
community sector organisations within the county in order to raise awareness of adult 
safeguarding themes, reduce isolation, health inequalities and to reduce the risk of 
harm and keep people safe. 

 
 

Service User Engagement 
 
Look to expand the ways in which we engage with individuals who have raised 
concerns and been the subject of a safeguarding enquiry in order to develop best 
practice and achieve better person centred outcomes. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

Page 72



 

9 
 

Safeguarding Adults 
Board (SAB) 
 
 

The Care Act 2014 Statutory Guidance confirms that 

“the main objective of a SAB is to assure itself that local 

safeguarding arrangements and partners act 

to help and protect adults in its area” who meet the 

safeguarding criteria (chapter 14.133). 
 

 

Role and Purpose  

The overarching purpose of an Safeguarding Adults Board (SAB) is to help and safeguard adults with 

care and support needs. It does this by: 

• assuring itself that local safeguarding arrangements are in place as defined by the Care Act 
2014 and statutory guidance 

• assuring itself that safeguarding practice is person-centred and outcome-focused 
• working collaboratively to prevent abuse and neglect where possible 
• ensuring agencies and individuals give timely and proportionate responses when abuse or 

neglect have occurred 
• assuring itself that safeguarding practice is continuously improving and enhancing the quality 

of life of adults in its area. 

 

The SAB must lead adult safeguarding arrangements across its locality and oversee and coordinate 

the effectiveness of the safeguarding work of its member and partner agencies.  

 

SABs have three core roles. They must: 
• develop and publish a strategic plan, setting out how they will meet their objectives and how 

their member and partner agencies will contribute 
• publish an annual report detailing how effective their work has been 
• commission Safeguarding Adults Reviews (SARs) for any cases which meet the criteria  

 

 
 

 

Page 73



 

What is 

Safeguarding? 
 

The Care Act 2014 

Statutory Guidance 

confirms that 

“Safeguarding means 

protecting an adult’s right 

to live in safety, free from 

abuse and neglect” (14.7) 
 

A local authority must act when it has 
‘reasonable cause to suspect that an adult in 
its area (whether or not ordinarily resident 
there): 

• has needs for care and support (whether 

or not the authority is meeting any of 

those needs), 

• is experiencing, or is at risk of, abuse or 

neglect, and 

• as a result of those needs is unable to 
protect himself or herself against the 
abuse or neglect or the risk of it.’ (Care 
Act 2014, section 42)  
 

Safeguarding is for people who, because of 
issues such as dementia, learning disability 
or mental ill-health, have care and support 
needs that may make them more vulnerable 
to abuse or neglect. 
 

Who is at a higher risk? 

• People with care and support needs, 

such as older people or people with 

disabilities, are more likely to be abused 

or neglected. They may be seen as an 

easy target and may be less likely to 

identify abuse themselves or to report it. 

 

• People with communication difficulties can be 

particularly at risk because they may not be 

able to alert others. 

Sometimes people may not even be aware that 
they are being abused, and this is especially likely if 
they have a cognitive impairment. Abusers may try 
to prevent access to the person they abuse. 

 

What are the six 
principles of 
Safeguarding? 
Empowerment 

People being supported and encouraged to make 
their own decisions and informed consent 

Prevention  

It is better to take action before harm occurs 

Proportionality  

The least intrusive response appropriate to the risk 
presented 

Protection  

Support and representation for those in greatest 
need 

Partnership  

Local solutions through services working with their 
communities. Communities have a part to play in 
preventing, detecting and reporting neglect and 
abuse. 

Accountability  

Accountability and transparency in safeguarding 
practice 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
Page 74



 

11 
 

How to report a 
safeguarding concern 
 
 

A safeguarding concern is raised where there is 

reasonable cause to suspect that an adult who has, 

or may have, needs for care and support is at risk 

of, or experiencing, abuse or neglect. Care Act 2014 

Section 42 (1) (a) and (b). 
 

 

If you are concerned that you or 
another adult is being abused or 
neglected, please report it.   
 
Some adults are particularly vulnerable 
to be hurt or abused because they have 
a disability, illness, or impairment and 
need help and support. Depending on 
others can sometimes make them 
vulnerable and at risk of abuse, very 
often from people they know. This isn't 
always intentional... but it is still abuse. 
 

Helpful Information 

• Why you are concerned 
• The name, age and address of the 

adult at risk 
• If anyone lives with them 
• If they are getting help from any 

organisation 
• Who may be carrying out the abuse 

      Don't delay in reporting the abuse if you're not       
sure about some of these details. 

    Contact the Adult Help Desk 

• Telephone 01452 426868 
• 8.00am to 5pm Monday to Friday 
• Or when out of hours call the Emergency Duty 

Team on 01452 614194 
• You can also email:  

socialcare.enq@gloucestershire.gov.uk 

 

        Professionals Only  
 
        Professionals reporting safeguarding                

concerns about an adult with care and support 

needs should complete a Safeguarding 
Adults Referral Form (link below) 

https://forms.gloucestershire.gov.uk/AdultSocial
CareReferral  
 

 
 

 

 

Page 75

mailto:socialcare.enq@gloucestershire.gov.uk
https://forms.gloucestershire.gov.uk/AdultSocialCareReferral
https://forms.gloucestershire.gov.uk/AdultSocialCareReferral


 

Safeguarding activity 
in Gloucestershire    

 
 

The data below covers the period 1st April 2021 
to 31st March 2022.    
 
The number of Safeguarding concerns raised 
on behalf of adults at risk was 2,314.  
 
Of the 2,314 concerns, 634 went on to become 
Section 42 enquiries and 84 became ‘Other’  

 

 

enquiries, making a total of 718. 
 
‘Other’ relates to enquiries that have not met      
the criteria for a statutory enquiry, however     
some form of safeguarding enquiry is deemed     
to be required, for example, the person is at risk    
of abuse and has support needs, but not care 
needs.  

 

Safeguarding Activity 2021/22 
 

LA Safeguarding 

Concerns 

Section 42 

Safeguarding 

Enquiries 

Other 

Safeguarding 

Enquiries 

Total 

Enquiries 

Gloucestershire 2,314 634 84 718 

 

 

 

 
 

  Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 

Concern 564 656 586 508 

S42 172 165 149 148 

Other 10 20 25 29 

 

Gloucestershire Safeguarding Adults Board - Annual Report 2021-2022 

 

564

656

586

508

172 165 149 148

10 20 25 29

0

100

200

300

400

500

600

700

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4

Concerns leading to Section 42 or Other 
Safeguarding Enquiry 2021/22

Concern S42 Other

Page 76



 

13 
 

 

 

 

 

  Inconclusive 
No 
Risk 

No SG 
Action 

Risk 
Reduced 

Risk 
Remains 

Risk 
Removed Total 

Q1 12 14 18 46 7 28 125 

Q2 11 18 20 45 7 26 127 

Q3 8 9 16 46 5 22 106 

Q4 9 15 8 54 8 35 129 

Total 40 56 62 191 27 111 487 

 

 

 

 

 
 

12 11 8 914 18
9

1518 20 16
8

46 45 46
54

7 7 5 8

28 26 22
35

125 127

106

129

0

20

40

60

80

100

120

140

Qtr1 Qtr2 Qtr3 Qtr4

Closed Section 42 Enquiries and Risk 

Inconclusive No Risk No SG Action Risk Reduced

Risk Remains Risk Removed Grand Total

131

127

103

85

64

38
32 27 52

Safeguarding Equiries by Type of Abuse

Emotional/Psychological Financial and Material Neglect and Acts of Omission

Physical Domestic Abuse Self-neglect

Sexual Organisational Sexual Exploitation

Discriminatory

Page 77



 

 

 
 

Abuse Type Safeguarding Enquiries Safeguarding Episodes 
Emotional/Psychological 131 36% 

Financial and Material 127 35% 

Neglect and Acts of 
Omission 

103 29% 

Physical 85 24% 

Domestic Abuse 64 18% 

Self-neglect 38 11% 

Sexual 32 9% 

Organisational 27 8% 

Sexual Exploitation 5 1% 

Discriminatory 2 1% 

 

 

 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 
 
 

277

83

126

147

Enquiries by Age 

18-64 65-74 75-84 85+

Page 78



 

15 
 

Case Study (Names and some of the details have been changed to protect confidentiality) 

Dwayne is a 27 year old male with an acquired brain injury which impacts on his 
impulsivity and understanding of social cues. He lives in supported living 
accommodation with several other young adults (males & females). He has two 
hours 1:1 support on three days a week, and shared support at other times 
(including a sleep-in).  

 
Dwayne is an avid user of social media and has started using dating apps. During 
a conversation with his keyworker (with whom he has a good relationship) 
Dwayne indicated that one of the males he is in contact with is asking him to send 
him some money. The keyworker sensitively explored the issue with Dwayne, and 
it became apparent that the male said he is 14 years old, and if Dwayne didn’t 
send him money ‘people’ would come to his home and beat him up.  

 
Dwayne allowed his keyworker to look at his apps and it was clear that although 
Dwayne didn’t appear to be specifically contacting underage males, there were 
four or five who looked to be underage out of the fifty people Dwayne was in 
contact with online. 

 
Dwayne’s keyworker submitted a Safeguarding concern due to the threats made 
to Dwayne but that same night a group of males congregated outside the home 
Dwayne shares with the other adults and shouted obscenities and threw eggs at 
the property, their anger apparently directed at Dwayne. The Police attended and 
dispersed the males. 

 
The Safeguarding Practitioner who picked up this case immediately recognised it 
triggered the S42 duty – Dwayne has care and support needs, he is at risk of 
physical abuse and because of his needs is unable to protect himself (by 
recognising the age issue which then causes him to be at risk).  

 
The Practitioner contacted the Police to understand their view of the risks to 
Dwayne, including whether any of the males who attended the property were 
known to them. The Police view was that their interaction with the group of males 
gave them some comfort that Dwayne was not at imminent danger – it was made 
clear to the group that Dwayne was ‘vulnerable’ himself and may not comprehend 
that what he had done was wrong. Although two of the group were known to the 
Police, there was nothing within that intelligence to suggest they would take 
matters further, and the attending officers described their discussion with the 
group as “productive”. Nonetheless, they are aware that others within the local 
community may be inclined to get involved. It was confirmed that a ‘marker’ had 
been put on the property address and the local vulnerabilities officer would 
display a presence in the area for the immediate future. 

 
The Practitioner also spoke to Dwayne’s care provider to discuss how they were 
able to protect Dwayne and the other tenants, should a repeat visit by would-be 
vigilantes occur. Whilst staff were unnerved, the provider said they were intending 
to hold an urgent team meeting to discuss the issues and support the staff. All 
were aware and it was emphasised to them that they should not hesitate to 
contact 999 and their on-call manager should they be concerned about any 
activity in the vicinity of the home.   

Page 79



 

 

 
The Practitioner called an urgent Safeguarding meeting to include the Police, 
Care Provider, Dwayne’s allocated social worker and a representative from the 
local head injury team who are working with Dwayne. Prior to the meeting, the 
Practitioner requested that the social worker urgently assess Dwayne’s capacity 
to decide to use social media and dating apps, and to assist the Police in 
determining Dwayne’s understanding of the age of consent with a view to 
considering any Police action towards Dwayne. A referral for an advocate to 
support Dwayne through the enquiry was also immediately submitted.  

 
The meeting explored the perceived level of risk, the protective measures in 
place, and how Dwayne could be supported to use social media safely. It had 
been determined prior to the meeting that, although he is aware of the age of 
consent and the inappropriateness of engaging with underage boys, he had been 
“tricked” (in the Police’s words) into the communications and they did not intend 
to investigate further. Unfortunately it was not possible to identify the source(s) of 
the profiles of the underage boys. Dwayne has agreed to be open with his 
keyworker about anyone he intends contacting via social media and has asked 
that the sleep-in staff member locks his phone in the safe after 10pm so that he is 
not tempted to use it without supervision.  

 
Dwayne's social worker and care provider were both clear that Dwayne is settled 
where he is, and unless there is anything to suggest an increased risk, he will 
remain living where he is. Dwayne agreed that he will go out into the community 
with staff support (either his 1:1 or as a group).  

 
A review meeting took place three weeks later, and thankfully no further incidents 
had occurred. Dwayne was continuing to access social media / dating apps with 
the support of his keyworker, no further threats had been received and no 
concerning activity outside the home. 

 
This case highlights the risks that social media can pose to adults with care and 
support needs, particularly younger adults with cognitive impairments. This is a 
growing area of concern because a balance must be struck between respecting 
the person’s right to privacy and keeping them safe from harm. In such cases the 
person’s capacity to understand the potential risks of social media use is 
important. 

 
The role of local police vulnerabilities officers is also highlighted by this case. 
They play a valuable part in ensuring adults at risk are protected, and their 
knowledge of the local community can help to support this. Working in partnership 
with the right agencies and sharing information appropriately are all protective 
factors when undertaking safeguarding enquiries, and the inclusion of an 
advocate helped to ensure that Dwayne’s views and wishes were central to any 
safeguarding plan. 
  
 

Page 80



 

17 
 

Update from the 
GSAB Sub Groups 
 

 

Workforce Development  
Training figures (found in supporting            
documents) highlight the take up of GSAB      
training and e-learning by partners during             
the year. In summary,12,478 Gloucestershire        
staff (and volunteers) undertook GSAB        
approved Safeguarding and Mental               
Capacity Act (MCA) courses.  
 
Trainers and course participants have           
continued to embrace remote training and              
as things have steadily returned to normal                
following COVID-19 this has allowed for              
some trainers to return to traditional class-         
based learning. This blended approach                
has reduced the risk of an overreliance on               
e-learning.  Also reflected in the training            
figures is the successful launch of a remote 
Safeguarding Level 4 programme. This             
training is bespoke, for GCC and GHC               
Adult Social Care staff who are responsible            
for undertaking section 42’s. 
 
The annual train the trainer workshop for               
new level 2 trainers was held in September         
2021 with 18 participants. Organisations 
represented included Gloucestershire        
Constabulary, GRASAC and Health &               
Social Care providers. Follow up                 
supported observations have taken place.  
 
The annual CPD day for trainers took place        
virtually in November using MS Teams.  
The event provided an opportunity for                 
GSAB trainers to learn and strengthen good 
practice as well as update their knowledge           
and skills to help influence local practice. 
Presentations were given on a range of               
topics from complex needs, the Liberty         
Protection Safeguards and the new Domestic     
Abuse Bill. All participates rated the event         
highly.  
 
 

 
Following a SAR recommendation, work has begun          
to produce a bespoke Acquired Brain Injury awareness    
e-learning/interactive training package.  The content          
is being developed with input from Gloucestershire        
Royal Hospital’s Brain Injury Team, Headway and the 
Mental Capacity Act Governance Manager. Once      
finalised, the module will be available or learners to     
access via Learn Pro.  
 
This year the GSAB Roadshow events have been 
scheduled in April 2022 over a week of morning          
events. They will be delivered virtually using MS          
Teams. The theme will be Safeguarding in a Changing 
World. Each day will be focusing on a specific theme 
including the Changing Nature of Crime, the Role of        
the Community, Changing Systems in Gloucestershire,     
and Safeguarding Is Everyone’s Responsibility.  
 
The key areas of focus for Workforce Development           
in 2022/23 will be awareness, prevention, and        
continuous improvement in learning and development. 
 

2021/22 Training Figures can be found in supporting 
documents. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 

 

Page 81

http://www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/gsab/safeguarding-adults-board/safeguarding-adults-annual-reports-and-strategic-plan/
http://www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/gsab/safeguarding-adults-board/safeguarding-adults-annual-reports-and-strategic-plan/


 

Fire Safety Development 
The purpose of the Fire Safety Development 
Sub Group is to bring agencies together to 
safeguard adults who are at risk of fire        
related serious injury.  There are eight risk 
factors which increase the likelihood of both 
having a fire and being unable to escape       
from it, which cut across health, social care 
and housing.  This means that effective 
management of these risks can only be 
achieved by working together in a person-
centred approach.  

 
Representation at the Fire Safety      
Development group has been improving 
throughout 2021, with representation from 
most key agencies. The engagement of     
health, adult social care and housing has    
been consistent throughout the year and       
this has enabled the development of some     
key pieces of work. The next steps will be      
to bring together more regular representation 
from Police and Primary Healthcare who       
are such a crucial part of the referral and       
risk mitigation pathway.  
 
Priorities and Achievements in 2021/22 
An action plan has been produced and has 
been aligned with the Fire Standards Board 
Prevention Standards.  This plan has set 
priorities for improving inter-agency working, 
training frontline practitioners from all     
agencies to recognise fire risks in homes       
and to ensure that safeguarding is      
embedded in all fire risk reduction activity. 
 
National data was shared across the      
agencies represented by this the group       
and the Gloucestershire community risk 
profiles were created and published. This 
detailed information has helped deepen        
the understanding of how connections 
between age, health and environmental     
factors increase the risk of fire related        
injury and helped guide our work to support 
people who are most at risk of serious fires 
and fire injury in Gloucestershire. These 
profiles will be used to target safeguarding 
activity during the next year. 
 
Hoarding behaviour is recognised as a 
challenge for all agencies. Hoarding is          
often associated with self-neglect which     

results in calls to the police, housing and fire. Some 
people who tend to hoard do not present with care 
and support needs but may have unmet mental health 
needs, making this an area that demands a multi-
agency and trauma-aware approach. Work is 
underway on a multi-agency approach, initiated by 
work in Gloucester City Council and funded by GFRS, 
to train staff across the County and to offer a support 
network and advice forum to people who hoard in the 
first steps to managing this behaviour and reducing 
risk.  
 
There are two main strands of fire prevention work 
underway; firstly to identify and engage with people 
who have the highest likelihood of a serious fire and 
who are more likely to have both lifestyle and 
environmental risk factors, which make it difficult to 
self-rescue from such a fire, and secondly to provide 
education and advice to the larger but lower risk 
group who have domestic dwelling fires but with less 
serious outcomes. This work is being informed by the 
analysis of Gloucestershire data to focus on the 
highest risk whilst improving education and 
information to reduce it for all residents. 
 
Priorities for 2022/2023 
Homelessness and Fire.  It is recognised that      
having set fires can make it more difficult for people    
to access housing and convictions for arson can 
result in eviction and homelessness. This year, the 
group will focus on how we can support people who 
may be denied accommodation, by working with 
agencies to reduce the risk and advise providers on 
risk mitigation measures. 
 
Cost of Living Crisis and Energy Costs.  The    
group will be monitoring trends in dwelling fire and 
injuries associated with the use of unsafe forms of 
heating. We will find ways to communicate with 
people who are most at risk of being injured by using 
unsafe equipment and seek to reduce the impact of 
the rise in the cost of living and energy price rises.  
 
Adopting the Multi-agency Risk Management 
Framework.  The group will support the introduction 
of the new framework which is seen as a way to 
support agencies working with complex cases.  This 
will enable the group to focus on Safeguarding those 
people with care and support needs and at risk of fire, 
and safeguarding people who do not meet the 
threshold for social care to remain safe and as 
independent as possible, with their wishes and voice 
at the centre of those decisions.    
 

Page 82



 

19 
 

Communication & 
Engagement  
Achievements 2021/2022  

• Held quarterly meetings of the sub group    

to support delivery of the GSAB Strategic 

Plan, specifically the communications      

and engagement work within the plan.  

• Sub group board members taking 

responsibilities for supporting content 

creation for the newsletter.  

• Coordinated, organised and chaired        

the Safeguarding Adults Roadshow 2022, 

focussing on Safeguarding in a Changing 

World. This was provided as an online 

series of events over the course of a     

week, each day focussing on a         

particular safeguarding theme.  

 

This included: 

o Changing Systems – Trauma 

Informed Approach, Integrated      

Care System and Community Mental 

Health Transformation Framework.  

o Changing Nature of Crime – 

INCEL, Modern Slavery, Cyber 

Crime 

o Changing Nature of Community 

and its response to safeguarding 

– Hate Crime 

 

• 16 presentations were delivered throughout 

the week to over 200 people.  

• Highly positive feedback was received for 

the events, which provided us with an 

opportunity to inform people about the 

amazing work happening in 

Gloucestershire to support some of the 

most vulnerable people in our communities. 

  

 
 

Priorities for 2022/2023  

• To further increase the diversity of voice on the 

sub group, to ensure it is representative of our 

communities and able to communicate effectively 

with those communities. 

• Develop a plan to engage more effectively and 

impactfully with the Public on safeguarding issues. 

We have developed a strong network of 

professionals from across a variety of sectors, 

however, a gap in our communications is with the 

general public. We need to put more effort and be 

more creative in how we engage with the public 

and communicate directly with them.  

• Continue to develop the Safeguarding Roadshow 

to new audiences and build on the success of the 

last two years.  

 

Quotes from the Roadshows:  

 
“We need 
professional 
curiosity!” 
 
 
“The trauma 
informed 
presentation was 
inspirational” 
 
 

“Communication is key, 

let’s get everyone 

talking!” 
 

Page 83



 

Policy & Procedures  
Achievements for 2021/22  
Meetings have continued to be virtual, due to 
COVID-19.  The GSAB Policy Library is the 
group’s work plan, detailing the progress of 
policies and their review date.  Listed below are 
some of the policies that have been updated 
during the last year:  
  

• Out of Contact Protocol was reviewed 
and updated in April 2021  

• Information Sharing Guidance was 
reviewed and updated in April 2021   

• Whistle Blowing Guidance was reviewed 
and updated in April 2021   

• Making Safeguarding Personal (MSP) 
Guidance was reviewed and updated in 
October 2021 

• Safer Recruitment Guidance was 
reviewed and updated in November 
2021 

• Escalation Protocol was reviewed and 
updated in January 2022  

• Production of the new Medication Errors 
and Safeguarding Guidance in January 
2022 

• Production of the new Safeguarding vs 
safeguarding Guidance in January 2022 
 

Priorities for 2022/23  

• The creation of a Multi-Agency Risk 
Management (MARM) Framework  

• Review of the High Risk Behaviours 
Policy, after the completion of the MARM 

• Updating of the Safeguarding Adults 
Review (SAR) Protocol, in line with the 
new SAR Quality Markers 

• Review of the Positions of Trust 
Framework  

• Finding a new chair for the sub group    
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

    Audit 
The purpose of the Audit Sub Group is to: 
 

• Provide a means of assuring the GSAB that 
effective structures are in place to improve the 
outcomes and experience of safeguarding for 
adults with care and support needs, at risk of 
abuse or neglect.  

• Provide the GSAB with the information it 
needs to identify potential risks and assurance 
that actions are being taken to mitigate those 
risks and improve services.  

 
The audits have continued on a bi-monthly basis 
and continue to be well supported by multi 
agency partners. All audits have been conducted 
virtually via Teams and have focused on the 
following areas:  

 
Self-neglect 
Dementia 
Deep dive repeat concerns 
Mental health enquiries 
Deep dive complex alcohol misuse/self-neglect 
Financial abuse 
 

The deep dive audits provide a valuable 
opportunity to examine a single case and yield rich 
qualitative learning. Established routes for 
disseminating the learning are employed, including 
Workforce Development and other Board sub 
groups, and the actions log continues to provide a 
means of monitoring the actions arising from each 
audit.  
 

Domestic abuse and section 42 enquiries has 
emerged as an area for further audit activity during 
2022-23, and issues that arise from statutory 
reviews (e.g. Domestic Homicide Reviews, 
Safeguarding Adult Reviews) will be incorporated 
into the audit schedule for the coming year.  

 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 

Page 84



 

21 
 

Learning from our 
Safeguarding Adults 
Reviews 

      

A key statutory duty of the SAB is to carry 

out Safeguarding Adult Reviews (SARs) as 

appropriate under Section 44 of the Care 

Act. 

 
The Safeguarding Adults Review (SAR) sub group are responsible for deciding whether a SAR 
referral meets the criteria for a S44 Review under the Care Act (2014).  Decision making on 
each referral follows the identification of relevant agencies, information gathering and 
subsequent analysis.  As SARs are progressed, the group works together on all proposed 
recommendations, ensuring that key learning is cascaded.   
 
Headline Themes from Recent SARs 
 

Adverse Childhood Experiences (ACEs) and the need for a trauma 
informed approach and working practices 
 
 

 
 
 
Safeguarding Adults Reviews  
 
For the year 2021/22, no new SARs have been commissioned, one is ongoing and two have been 
published. A new SAR and Learning Event have recently been commissioned and these will 
commence in autumn 2022.  
 
JK Learning Review (Ongoing) 
As an adult, JK, a care-leaver sustained life changing injuries from a drug overdose. The joint 
review, with the Gloucestershire Safeguarding Children’s Partnership (GSCP) is nearly complete 
and due to report in August 2022.     

 

Page 85



 

Overview of SAR referrals received 2021/22 
 
The table below shows an overview of the SAR referrals made to GSAB, capturing the breadth of 
referral sources as well as time period when referrals were made.     
 

 Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 

Referrals 
Received  

Nil 
  

JS CA 
AG 

PP 
MM 
MON 
 

Referral Source  - Gloucestershire 
Constabulary 

Gloucestershire 
Constabulary 
(for both) 

LeDeR Review 
GHC 
DASV Strategic 
Coordinator 

SAR Undertaken - 0 0 1 

Name - - - MM 

Learning Event  - 0 1 0 

Comments  - - - - 

 
 

SAR Case Referrals 2020/2021: 
 
JS – A case for concern was raised (Q2) by Gloucestershire Constabulary following concerns 
about a care home resident.  A GCC Investigation was undertaken, and the learning is being 
taken forward.  
 
CA – A case for concern was raised (Q3) by Gloucestershire Constabulary following a 
homicide.  This did not meet the criteria for a SAR, but an independent review is being 
undertaken.  
 
AG – A referral was made (Q3) by Gloucestershire Constabulary following the death of care 
leaver.  Individual agencies undertook their own investigations and learning was identified.  It 
was agreed that a SAR would not illicit any further learning, but that a one-off learning event 
looking at individuals with complex needs would be beneficial.  This will be held in the 
autumn of 2022.  
 
PP – A referral was made (Q4) following a LeDeR Review, after information gathering was 
completed, it was agreed that the case did not meet the criteria for SAR as there were no 
concerns about how agencies worked together.  
 
MM – A referral was made (Q4) by GHC following the death of a man, with care and support 
needs, there was suspected financial abuse and possible neglect.  It has been agreed that a 
SAR will be undertaken, which will begin in the autumn of 2022.    
 
MON – A referral was made (Q4) by the DASV Strategic Coordinator at Gloucestershire 
Constabulary.  Information gathering did not highlight care and support needs.  This was 
already being progressed as a Domestic Homicide Review (DHR).    
 

 
 
 
 
 

 

Page 86



 

23 
 

Recently published SARs  
The full SAR reports can be found at: http://www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/gsab/ 

 

Peter SAR 

Peter was found deceased by a member of the public in Cheltenham in November 
2019.  Peter had been street homeless for approximately six weeks.  The Coroner’s 
Report records the cause of Peter’s death as ‘drug toxicity/drug related death’. 
 
Peter was a man of white British heritage, aged fifty-nine when he died.  He was well 
known to a range of services within Gloucestershire due to experiencing enduring 
mental health issues, intermittent homelessness and dependency on alcohol and 
drugs.  Usually related to his dependencies, Peter was a suspect (and victim) in many 
criminal offences.   
 
Key Learning Points: 
 
When working with individuals with complex needs, agencies need to share 
information, including the positives and strengths of the person, to ensure a holistic 
picture is formed.   
 

Trauma-informed practice needs to be embedded across all agencies in 
Gloucestershire.  Sharing tools and examples of good practice between and across 
agencies around this topic would help partnership working and transfer of theory to 
practice particularly with complex cases. 
 
Compassionate persistence is needed when working with complex individuals.  And 
multi-agency perseverance is needed if a situation is high risk and an individual is not 
engaging.     
 
Where there is a possibility or a suspicion that an individual may have an Acquired 
Brain Injury which is masked by the person’s alcohol or drug use, professional 
curiosity needs to be demonstrated and further exploration advocated. 
 
Any multi-agency meetings need to record and monitor actions and outcomes within a 
multi-agency Care Plan. A Lead Professional should be identified to coordinate such 
meetings.  Partners to be made aware they can challenge outcomes, engagement 
from agencies and utilise the GSAB Escalation Policy if appropriate. 
 
Supervision policies should ensure that supervision for all staff within all systems 
includes reference to Safeguarding Adults, space to critically reflect on cases and 
learning, support for and checks regarding learning transfer, and monitoring need for, 
and uptake of, Continuing Professional Development.   
 
Protected time around Continuing Professional Development and reflective 
supervision needs to be created and maintained within and across all systems and 
agencies.  
 

 
 
 
 

Page 87

http://www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/gsab/


 

The Five Women SAR 

A request for a Safeguarding Adults Review (SAR) was made by the Nelson Trust, to 
learn from the circumstances of the deaths of five women in Gloucestershire between 
November 2017 and September 2019.  The Nelson Trust is a charity that works with 
women who have multiple and complex needs and at the time of their deaths, all of the 
women were all engaging with their service. 
 
The five women were known to a range of statutory and non-statutory services. They all 
experienced childhood trauma. Three had been in the care of the local authority during 
childhood. All experienced trauma in their adult lives. Their deaths, between the ages of 
19 and 43, were related to their drug use.  
 
The review aimed to better understand how the county can work to support similar 
vulnerable groups. 

Key Learning Points: 

One service cannot address the needs of marginalised groups alone. The role of all 
organisations involved should be identified and understood in order to create an 
effective system around the person. 
 
For some individuals, mental health issues arising from childhood and adult trauma must 
be addressed as part of any plan to address substance misuse, self-harm or similar 
behaviours. 
 
Coordinated and timely responses are often needed to meet the needs of marginalised 
groups. Organisations must be aware of how ‘windows of opportunity’ may present and 
use this understanding in building and contributing to contingency plans. 
When engagement with services is vital, organisations in the system around the person 
must work with the person to identify and support an engagement plan, including 
engagement strategies, contingency planning and avoidance of re-traumatisation. 
 
Statutory organisations (local authority, police, health) can benefit from awareness 
raising activities about the lives of the women and other marginalised groups with the 
intention of improving the identification of exploitation, duress and coercion, 
understanding the basis for self-neglect and self-harming behaviours, and how care and 
support needs may be indicated in this group. 
 
It is essential that all organisations are aware of the impact of trauma on the lives of 
people and on how they present to and engage with services, as well as the trauma 
aware or trauma informed approaches that can be attempted. 
The development of an improved pathway for care leavers, which should also consider 
care leavers who are being supported by another local authority whilst living in 
Gloucestershire. The pathway will also include young people who have not been in care 
but who are being exploited or are in circumstances presenting a risk to life. 
 

 

 

 

 

 
 
 

Page 88



 

25 
 

Case Study (Names and some of the details have been changed to protect confidentiality) 
 

Brenda is a 78 year old woman who has COPD, a minor sight impairment and 
reduced mobility following a stroke in 2018. She is a wheelchair user and lives in 
a quiet village where she keeps herself to herself. Brenda has no family nearby.  

  
A Safeguarding concern was raised by a neighbour in relation to a female who 
befriended Brenda during 2020 and offered her assistance with shopping and 
other tasks. The neighbour explained that the female had posted leaflets through 
residents’ letterboxes during the early days of the first lockdown. As it’s a small 
community the female is known to a degree by the neighbour. The neighbour 
considers her to be quite rude generally but she observed a few concerning 
interactions between Brenda and the female over the previous few weeks, 
including a row that reduced Brenda to tears and a comment from the female to 
the effect of “it’s not like you pay me much, despite having all that money”. The 
neighbour said she appreciated it was just a suspicion but she felt something 
wasn’t right.   

 
A Practitioner picked up the concern and called the neighbour who confirmed 
that she had spoken to Brenda about her concerns, and that didn’t put her mind 
at rest. Brenda had seemed edgy and said “you can’t expect people to do 
something for nothing”. The neighbour asked Brenda if she would like some help 
from “Social Services” and although initially reluctant, she conceded it might 
help. 

 
The Practitioner was able to identify Brenda’s GP through her Adult Social Care 
records and a call to him gave a bit more background into Brenda’s health 
conditions. The GP said Brenda hadn’t been to the surgery for the last 4 months 
but she was accompanied by the female at her last appointment and the GP 
recalled her being “a bit overbearing”. The GP suggested the Practitioner speak 
to the local vulnerabilities officer.  

 
The Practitioner did call the officer and she was very helpful – she was aware of 
the female and had concerns as she was previously suspected of a fraud 
offence, although there was scant evidence and therefore no conviction. “Words 
of advice” had been given in relation to her offering her services but this was very 
general as the Police could not prevent her offering to help the vulnerable in the 
village. However, the officer felt that Brenda was likely to be the only person 
using the female’s services given the social connections between most of the 
other members of the community. The officer further disclosed that Brenda was 
from a particularly wealthy family and would be a “prime target” for someone 
wishing to exploit her financially.  

 
The Practitioner determined that the case triggered the Section 42 duty. 
Consideration was given as to whether Brenda agreeing to “help from Social 
Services” constituted consent to a Safeguarding concern being raised on her 
behalf. Given the observations of the neighbour, the information from the Police 
Vulnerabilities Officer about both Brenda and the female, and given that Brenda 
would be expecting to be contacted by the local authority, it was deemed 
appropriate to proceed. 

Page 89



 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

 

The case was passed to the local Adult Social Care team to meet with Brenda at 
a time when the female was not around, to talk about the concerns and find out 
what Brenda’s views and wishes were around both the concerns and her care in 
general. A social worker spoke to the neighbour and identified that there was a 
clear pattern to the female’s visits, so a call was made to Brenda when it was 
known she would be alone, and then a visit arranged. The worker struck an 
instant rapport with Brenda who opened up about the cruel things the female 
would say, which had severely dented her confidence, particularly as she was 
still coming to terms with her stroke. Brenda allowed the worker to look at some 
post that was in the kitchen, including a bank statement. Brenda asked the 
worker to look and see if anything seemed remiss, and instantly she spotted 
several debit card payments to a bookmakers. The worker reflected afterwards 
that she felt Brenda knew that the female was not trustworthy, hence her 
willingness to have her bank statement looked at.  
 
With support, Brenda felt able to report the matter to the Police. It was identified 
that the female had stolen £6000 from Brenda, although the thefts had only 
occurred relatively recently, so it was a large amount and in a short period. It 
seemed that the female had considered she’d ingratiated herself sufficiently with 
Brenda to start stealing from her. It was also identified that Brenda was paying 
the female £500 per week for very basic assistance, although the Police could 
not take this further in spite of it being considered excessive as it was an agreed 
amount (and a capacitated decision on Brenda’s behalf). 
 
With the social worker’s assistance Brenda moved into nearby sheltered 
accommodation and has carers visiting her five days a week. One of Brenda’s 
nephews was contacted on Brenda’s behalf and he agreed to assist Brenda to 
manage her money – although he was a “favourite nephew” Brenda had not 
wanted to trouble him in the past.  

 
Brenda’s circumstances made her ‘situationally vulnerable’ to the abuse she 
experienced – her isolation was compounded by the pandemic restrictions which 
made it easier for the abuser to exploit her. The vigilance of her neighbour and 
her reporting her concerns to the local authority show the value of working to 
ensure that members of the public, and not just professionals, understand what 
to do if they are concerned that someone with care and support needs may be at 
risk of abuse. 
 
Consent is usually required prior to taking any action, however there are 
circumstances when that can be overridden. In this case the local authority could 
have proceeded with the enquiry without Brenda’s implied consent as other 
people were potentially at risk of abuse and exploitation by the individual.  

 
 

 
 

Page 90



 

27 
 

Statutory Partners  
 
 

Gloucestershire Health                                                    
and Care NHS Foundation                                            
Trust (GHC)  
 
 
Throughout the last year, the pandemic has 

continued to have a significant impact on      

GHC service provision and the pressures 

faced by our operational teams has been 

considerable. The Trusts Safeguarding Team 

has remained a priority ‘ring-fenced’ service 

and has continued to deliver on core areas     

of work, which include; training, staff advice 

line, safeguarding supervision, MARAC 

Information Sharing, MAPPA and Prevent 

work, safeguarding related audit, GSAB 

membership and contribution to sub groups, 

and participation in safeguarding related 

reviews.  

2021/22 notable achievements include:  

• The establishment of a regular adult 

specific Safeguarding Group Supervision   

to priority operational teams.  Teams 

include the Homeless Health Care,     

Mental Health Recovery and Assertive 

Outreach, and Integrated Care Teams. 

One-to-One safeguarding supervision is 

now available on request, which is a      

new offer 

• Since October 2021 GHC have two     

Mental Health Independent Domestic 

Violence Advisors (MHIDVAs) employed    

by GDASS, but working with our Mental 

Health Hospitals and Community Mental 

Health Teams.  The MHIDVs are      

providing staff with domestic abuse and 

Domestic Abuse Stalking and Harassment 

(DASH) Tool training, raising awareness    

of domestic abuse, developing a network    

of domestic abuse champions and taking 

direct referrals from mental health teams 

• Successful recruitment of an additional 

Specialist Practitioner for Safeguarding 

Adults and a MARAC Administrator, who co-

ordinates MARAC information sharing    requests 

and action plans  

• Due to the pandemic safeguarding training       

was put on hold throughout much of 2022/21, 

whilst new virtual training packages and platforms 

were developed.  2021/22 has seen the recovery 

of our delivery of Level 2 Safeguarding 

Adult/Children Training and Level 3 Safeguarding 

Adult Training.  This is reflected in training 

compliance rates. 

 

Priorities for 2022/23: 

• Further work is required around the effective 

application of the MCA and DoLS in GHC.  In 

June 2022 we re-commenced our MCA training 

programme and in July 2022 we will be    

welcoming a new role in the Trust, MCA/LPS 

Lead.  The postholder will work with the 

safeguarding team and operational teams to    

audit, improve, and oversee the use of the MCA.  

The postholder will also lead on our Liberty 

Protection Safeguards preparatory work,    

including the establishment of a GHC LPS 

Implementation Group 

• Develop domestic abuse and DASH training for   

all staff.  This is in line with the action plans of 

recent Domestic Homicide Reviews  

• To establish a robust system of safeguarding 

support/oversight with Section 42 enquiries. This 

system is currently being developed in 

communication with the GCC Adult Safeguarding 

Team.  This work includes the expansion of Level 

4 Safeguarding Adult Training for GHC Team 

Leads and Care Co-ordinators and improved case 

management supervision 

• Develop innovative ways to improve the 

dissemination and application of learning from 

SARS, DHRs, Serious Incidents, audits and 

complaints, and to consider ways of how to 

measure the impact of that learning 

Page 91



 

Quality Assurance  

GHC will continue to provide assurance to    

the GSAB that safeguarding priorities are       

in line with best practice and evidence     

positive outcomes for families. We will     

monitor our safeguarding annual plan to 

ensure they are delivered in line with the 

Safeguarding Board strategic agenda     

through the Trust’s Safeguarding Group      

and Quality Committee. 

Gloucestershire  
Hospitals NHS 

Foundation Trust 

(GHNHSFT) 

Gloucestershire Hospitals NHS Foundation 
Trust was focused on both managing     
patients with COVID-19 and with trying to 
meet the backlog of demand for healthcare 
built up during the pandemic. This has      
been made more difficult by considerable 
levels of increased care need and reduced 
availability of residential and nursing care 
homes in the county, which are the major     
root causes of the congestion inside and 
outside our Emergency Departments. 

 
Nevertheless, our staff have identified and 
raised concerns on 996 occasions related     
to abuse, neglect or self-neglect in patients 
aged 18 years and older. Of these, 273    
(27%) met the threshold for referral to       
Adult Social Care for consideration of a 
Section 42 enquiry although fewer still had 
those safeguarding concerns substantiated. 

 
We remain concerned about levels of 
domestic abuse. Our staff found a total         
of 421 cases in non-maternity areas, this is    
an increase of 9% on the previous year and 
echoes findings in other agencies.  

 
Our midwives identified 839 pregnancies of 
concern, in 20% of which domestic abuse    
was the concern. This is an additional 168 
female victims of domestic abuse. 

 
Activity and Performance 

 
Our staff have identified 996 occasions 

during 2021/2022 when they had safeguarding 
concerns     for adults. This is less than half the 
number of concerns raised in the previous year, 
but with a far higher proportion of referrals 
warranting consideration of a section 42 enquiry. 

 
Once again, the concerns which do not reach the 
threshold of referral for consideration of a section    
42 enquiry divide into two major themes of older 
people with increasing care needs and deteriorating 
mental health. These issues can be addressed by 
other teams in the hospital, leaving the Safeguarding 
Team to work with the smaller areas of concern 
which require more intensive support such as 
homeless patients, modern day slavery, sexual 
assault, ensuring associated children are 
safeguarded and working with Patient Safety and 
security colleagues to address criminal behaviour   
by patients.  

 
We have taken an active part in all the LeDeR 
reviews, Safeguarding Adults Reviews and    
Domestic Homicide Reviews and have incorporated 
all the applicable recommendations into our 
processes. In the year ahead, this will enable us to 
move to providing assurance for Community Safety 
Partnerships that our processes meet current best 
practice. 

 
There are always a few safeguarding allegations 
against our hospital services and staff. When 
investigated, most of these are due to inadequate 
numbers of staff for the numbers and needs of 
patients or some misunderstanding about care 
needs or the legal basis on which we are allowed     
to make decisions. 

 
Progress against priorities 

 
Last year we were able to report that safeguarding 
risk assessments are now embedded as part of 
routine ward admission processes. This year we can 
report that with the roll-out of our Electronic Patient 
Record into our Emergency Departments 
safeguarding risk assessments for all ages are now 
routine on arrival to and departures from Emergency 
Care. The next phase will see these rolled out to 
Outpatients. 
 
In September 2021 we radically altered our 
Safeguarding Adults training to pre-recorded on-line 
videos supplemented with live virtual training over 
MS Teams. We are seeing levels of compliance of 
over 95% at level 1 and over 70% for both 2 and 3.  

Page 92



 

29 
 

Within this reshape we chose to make     
Mental Capacity training mandatory at             
levels 2 and 3 as this is so fundamental to 
safeguarding practice. We are therefore 
assured that levels of Mental Capacity 
knowledge have increased and practitioner 
intelligence indicates that safeguarding 
referrals and incident reports now routinely 
make comment on whether or not a patient 
has capacity. This is reassuring ahead of 
preparations for the introduction of Liberty 
Protection Safeguards, but we are well-    
aware that this needs constant attention. 

 
We also chose to make 2 hours of training    
on domestic abuse mandatory within level 3 
Safeguarding Adults training, reflecting our 
concerns about the number of patients this 
affects at all times, not just in a year when     
we are the recipients of disclosures. 

 
We continue to attend to policy revisions     
and have revised both our Safeguarding 
Adults and Deprivations of Liberty 
Safeguarding policies during the year, to 
reflect updated legislation, GSAB policies, 
training and processes. 

 
After successful results from the SHarED 
project, in which we participated with the    
West of England Academic Health Sciences 
Network (WEASHN) we are now working 
alongside the CCG to review high impact 
users of all health services in the county     
and putting individual tailored plans in place, 
including allocation to Social Prescribers to 
prevent safeguarding concerns reaching    
legal threshold levels. This is proving very 
popular with the patients concerned, who 
overwhelmingly say that no one has ever 
listened to them before. 

 
Achievements 

 
We are really proud of the increasing skill     
of our staff in recognising subtle signs of 
potential safeguarding needs, despite the 
incredible demands on our services. They 
have noticed, taken time to be professionally 
curious, asked for help and guidance early 
and followed policy and process. 

Whilst we continue to award ‘Safeguarding Stars’ to 
staff whose practice has been exemplary, it is the 
daily vigilance of all staff which makes the very small 
percentage of abused or neglected people visible. 
 

Gloucestershire Clinical 
Commissioning Group (GCCG)  
 
Recovery from the Covid-19 pandemic has been a 
priority through the past year. The impact of the Covid 
pandemic continues to impact in terms of how we 
work and demand on health and care services. 
Though we are gradually encouraging staff back into 
the office, the use of virtual platforms to meet, for 
training and for forums continues to be very popular 
and we have no plans to change at the moment. 
 
The key areas of work in 2021/22 included:  
 
The GP Safeguarding Forums continue to be well 
received, using MS Teams as a virtual meeting place 
and interactive learning venue, with a significant 
number of practices attending. Presentations and 
briefings included a Prevent update, the Domestic 
Abuse Act 2021 update, Liberty Protection 
Safeguards update, a presentation on the new policy 
from GSAB ‘Safeguarding vs safeguarding’, an 
update by the safeguarding lead from ‘Change, Grow, 
Live’, a presentation on ‘Child on Parent abuse’ and 
an update from the GP Development Support Worker 
from GDASS. 
 
The Safeguarding Team and Named GP have been 
keen for Safeguarding to be specifically included 
within GP enhanced service contracts, in-line with 
best practice seen in other counties and allowing the 
CCG to be more effective in holding Primary Care to 
account in this extremely important area.  From April 
2020, Safeguarding has formed part of the Primary 
Care enhanced service offer. Due to the pandemic 
this was extended into the 2021/22 contract and it is 
hoped this will continue in future years. 
 
We continue to see good impact and continued 
engagement across GP Practices in these areas:  
  

• Sharing national guidance regarding Covid-19 
related Safeguarding advice 

Page 93



 

• Safeguarding Lead GPs and Practice 
Managers are continuing to sign up to 
GSAB/GSCE newsletters and alert 
systems, supporting the dissemination 
of wider Safeguarding information and 
training.  

• Recognising the rise in Domestic 
Abuse; there are an increased number 
of Domestic Abuse Champions in 
Primary Care.   

• We have held two Practice Manager 

Safeguarding forums with many 

practices attending. The presentations 

were delivered on Information Sharing 

when there is a safeguarding concern, 

the Domestic Abuse Act and     

information on how to sign up for     

GSAB newsletters. 

• In December 2021, some local hotels 

were commissioned by the Home    

Office to receive refugees and asylum 

seekers into Gloucestershire. The 

safeguarding team have attended the 

Asylum Seeker Contingency Hotel 

Health Sub-Group Meetings to ensure   

a robust safeguarding presence and to 

give safeguarding support and advice. 

This attendance is now included at the 

Health Ukrainian Sub-Group, to advise 

in this area. 

• Safeguarding staff attend the    
Integrated Care System’s Oversight 
Panel for Learning Disabilities which 
reviews the care and placements for    
our residents who are placed in 
inpatient units or secure 
accommodation. The aim is for the 
safeguarding team to provide 
safeguarding advice and support     
when reviewing and discussing these 
complex individual cases, which is 
undertaken by a group of 
Gloucestershire senior clinical and    
care professionals. These reviews    
were initiated following the Cawston 
Park Safeguarding Adult Review and 
are designed to ensure that there is 
greater oversight of service users 
placed in specialist accommodation. 

• A joint project was agreed between 
Gloucestershire Hospitals NHS 

Foundation Trust, Gloucestershire Health and 
Care NHS Foundation     Trust and NHS 
Gloucestershire CCG to explore the 
opportunity the Integrated Care System could 
bring to the integration of the three 
organisation’s safeguarding teams. The project 
has been overseen by a project board and nine 
task and finish groups have been established 
to explore a variety of areas that can be 
integrated.  The teams are keen to work closer 
together, with an eventual aim of full 
integration sometime in the future.   

•  
Looking towards 2022/23: 
 
Liberty Protection Safeguards; Mental Capacity 
(Amendment) Act 
After a long delay, the consultation on the draft Code 
of Practice that is required to support the enactment 
of the new processes for Liberty Protection 
Safeguards has been announced. Liberty Protection 
Safeguards (LPS) will replace the current Deprivation 
of Liberty Safeguards (DoLS) and this new process 
for authorising deprivations of liberty for patients who 
are unable to make the decision for themselves will 
impact on health organisations, as they are required 
to become responsible bodies. The actual 
implementation date of the Act is unconfirmed but is 
understood to be not before October 2023.  
 
CCG Safeguarding Team 
There are changes within the safeguarding team at 
the CCG. The Adult Safeguarding Lead has left after 
6 years in post and a successful replacement has 
been appointed to a new role of Assistant Director for 
Integrated Safeguarding and Designated Nurse. A 
new post of Adult Safeguarding Manager has been 
created which will be appointed to in the early 
summer of 2022. The team are looking forward to 
welcoming the new team members and consolidating 
the good progress made over recent years.   
 

Gloucestershire  
Constabulary  
 

Since its launch in March 2021, the Constabulary has 
been developing “Our Approach to Vulnerability”. 
 
Strategic Intention 
Keeping those who become vulnerable safe from 
harm is an incredibly important part of the service we 
deliver. The way in which we police Gloucestershire 
now will affect attitudes and culture long into the Page 94



 

31 
 

future. It is not an easy challenge and is not 
made any easier by the competing     
pressures across the public sector. However, 
we know that getting it right now will make a 
positive difference to vulnerable people as   
well as reducing future demand.  
 
We will:  
• Promote the safety, welfare and well-being   
of all vulnerable children, young people and 
vulnerable adults  
• Listen to vulnerable people and respect     
their opinions. This may not affect the way    
we utilise the criminal justice system but we 
will consider alternative avenues for 
addressing behaviour. We will not 
unnecessarily criminalise vulnerable people  
• Identify, respond to and protect all     
vulnerable children, young people and 
vulnerable adults from harm. We will be      
pro-active in our approach, including to      
those who may be vulnerable to exploitation 
• Gather and analyse information and 
intelligence about those who seek to exploit 
vulnerable children, young people and      
adults 
• Respond to calls for service, together with 
multi-agency partners, from the perspective    
of ‘vulnerability first’, considering the needs     
of any victim and identification of any      
offender 
• Assess all the circumstances of         
vulnerable people. Every interaction is both     
an intervention and an opportunity. Our 
engagement will be positive and       
opportunities will be sought to enhance our 
relationship with vulnerable people. At all 
times, we will carefully consider the necessity 
for the detention of the vulnerable in Police 
custody  
• Record vulnerabilities accurately, supporting 
our assessment of risk, understanding, 
analysis and future engagement  
• Share our information and intelligence with      
partners, working together to keep vulnerable 
children, young people and vulnerable adults 
safe from harm, via safeguarding and proactive 
investigation 

 
Our priorities for 2022-2023 will be to further 
develop the new Safeguarding Adults, Missing 

& Mental Health (SAMM) team alongside the 
Vulnerabilities officers working within local policing to 
provide an effective and appropriate response to 
vulnerable adults whether it is through exploitation, 
neglect, mental health and missing episodes. We will 
continue to manage the increased demand in relation 
to Vulnerability Identification Screening Tools (VISTs) 
and embed the approach to vulnerability across the 
Constabulary. 
 
Restructuring and development  
The SAMM team has been established within the 
Public Protection Bureau and despite resourcing 
challenges has begun to bring cohesion across the 
Constabulary. Serious crimes are investigated by 
trained staff within the Investigations command      
and each local policing area has designated 
Vulnerability officers who regularly identify the 
vulnerable and work collaboratively to improve the 
situation and reduce the risk of harm. 
 
Demand 
The growth previously reported has stabilised 
however continues to represent a significant increase 
on previous referrals. We are now seeing around 800 
VISTs each month and with the overall increases this 
is challenging to service. We are working to improve 
the thresholds for submission to better manage those 
referrals that require additional safeguarding and 
looking at better signposting to those that do not 
require services but could benefit from support 
networks.  The MASH decision makers continue to 
triage every referral and make decisions and onward 
referrals to the most appropriate agencies. The 
acceptance rate with ASC remains high indicating 
that this is much more consistent with thresholds.  
 
The BOTS technology previously mentioned has not 
resulted in successful deployment due to poor data 
quality however the Constabulary is shortly to 
commence a project on replacing our Core Records 
Management system which allows the opportunity to 
address these issues. This is an exciting 
development however due to the scale will take up to 
4 years to become embedded. This will also be 
consistent with 29 other UK police forces, allowing a 
more consistent approach and process and enable 
more seamless cross border referrals. 
 

Page 95



 

Police Case Studies 
A 70 year old male who is visually impaired, disabled and was living in squalor as he was not 
able to look after himself.  He can be volatile and hence many agencies would not deal with 
him.  He was at risk of losing his tenancy from his council bungalow due to anti-social 
behaviour towards his neighbours. 
 
This male caused a great impact on local services.  He was calling multiple times daily both 
the Police and Ambulance Service on their 999 systems.  Between Christmas and Easter this 
male had called the Police up to 300 times on 999.  He was also the suspect or victim of 
multiple crimes in the same period. 
 
Police safeguarding got involved and set up a collaboration of professionals to try to help this 
male improve his life circumstances.  The desired outcome of this would be reduced demand 
on both Police and Ambulance resources.  
 
An email chain was set up between Police Safeguarding, Adult Social Care, P3 and 
Housing.  Police Safeguarding also liaised with the man’s GP. 
 
This led to the following actions: 
The male was treated for an infection. He had a mental health assessment and was 
prescribed the correct medication.  Funding was applied for by the Police, P3 and the District 
Council to provide a deep clean to the male’s property to protect his tenancy, a new 
fridge/freezer as he had no way of storing food, a new washing machine as he could not keep 
clean, waste removed from his property and the garden tidied. 
 
This male has effectively had a reset of his life.  It is a work in progress and the collaboration 
continues.  He is much improved and hardly ever calls the Police or Ambulance service which 
greatly reduces demand on both services.  

 
A young female adult living in supported accommodation with an eating disorder and 
emotionally unstable personality disorder.  This female also has frequent thoughts of suicide 
and is at risk of self-harm. 
 
Around Christmas 2021 this female was presenting to either train tracks or high buildings in 
an emotionally volatile state threatening to take her own life four times a week.  This had a 
significant impact on Local Police resources, delays to train journeys, the town centre being 
cordoned off in case she jumped from the roof of a high building, and multiple detentions 
under section 136 of the Mental Health Act 1983. 
 
Police Safeguarding now meet regularly with this female and take her for a coffee.  This gives 
an opportunity for her to vent frustrations.  She has also been given the option that when she 
is triggered and wants to flee her accommodation she can come directly to the Police Station 
rather than heading for the train tracks or high buildings. 
 
This intervention has resulted in a significant reduction in incidents in relation to this female, 
which reduces demand on Police resources, prevents disruption to the community, and 
reduces demand on the 136 Maxwell Suite. 
 
This is ongoing work which takes one officer 1-2 hours every 3 weeks. 
 

Page 96



 

33 
 

Financial Summary 
 
 

Funding Contributions 
The Board is pleased to confirm that Gloucestershire Constabulary and the Clinical 
Commissioning Group (on behalf of Gloucestershire Health and Care NHSFT and 
Gloucestershire Hospitals NHSFT) have agreed to continue their financial contribution to the 
Gloucestershire Safeguarding Adults Board.    

 

CORE BUDGET INCOME AND EXPENDITURE 2021-22 
 

Partner Contributions  Amount 

Clinical Commissioning Group  38,877 

Gloucestershire Constabulary 20,440 

 
 
 

GSAB Business and Activity Costs Expenditure 2021/22 

Independent Chair 20,000 

Other Staffing (Includes 30% Head of  
Safeguarding Adults, 100% GSAB Business  
Manager, 15% Admin Manager and 100%  
Administrator) 

101,400 

Workforce Development  65,000 

Safeguarding Adult Reviews (SARs) 20,000 

Comms and Publicity  4,000 

Total 210,400 

 

These contributions help with the costs associated with the running of the Board, including its 
Independent Chair, the Gloucestershire County Council Head of Safeguarding Adults post, 
costs in conducting Safeguarding Adults Reviews, Communication & Publicity and delivering 
on the Board’s Workforce Development and Training Pathway.  
 
Other partners have contributed with their time and commitment to the Board’s work. 
 
All documents and supporting reports referred to in this annual report can also be 
found on the GSAB website, supporting documentation. 
 
Special thanks are reserved for all agencies who have contributed to this report and 
the achievements of the Gloucestershire Safeguarding Adults Board over the last year.  

 

 

Page 97

http://www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/gsab/safeguarding-adults-board/safeguarding-adults-annual-reports-and-strategic-plan/


This page is intentionally left blank



1

Adult Social Care and Communities Scrutiny Committee
Report from the Director of Public Health - 24 January 2023 

Public Health & Communities Update

1. Community Drug and Alcohol Treatment and Recovery Services for Adults
2. Oral health promotion update
3. HLS consultation 
4. Childhood Obesity Levels in Gloucestershire (National Child Measurement 

Programme
5. Children and young people’s healthier lifestyles programme update
6. Future delivery arrangements for Public Health Nursing Services 
7. Future delivery arrangements for the Specialist Sexual Health Service
8. One Gloucestershire Integrated Care Strategy 

1. Community Drug and Alcohol Treatment and Recovery Services for Adults

The Committee have previously been briefed on the Black Review of Drugs and the new 
National Drugs Policy which launched in December 2021 and will be aware that there are 
strong policy drivers for continuing to invest in drug treatment and recovery services.  
Importantly, drug and alcohol services support some of our most vulnerable residents and 
help to reduce harm and improve outcomes. The social and economic return on investment 
for drug treatment services is 4:1 (i.e. every £1 spent on drug treatment is associated with a 
social and economic return of £4) and we know that housing, health, and social care services 
all benefit when drug treatment services are working effectively.  

It is a condition of the Public Health Grant to take steps to improve the take up of, and 
outcomes from, its drug and alcohol misuse treatment services.  The current contractual 
arrangements for the current service end on 31st March 2024 and to enable the continued 
delivery of a community drug and alcohol recovery service beyond this date, Public Health 
commissioners are asking Cabinet, at their meeting in January, for permission to conduct a 
competitive procurement process. 

The proposed contract is for an initial period of five years with options to extend its term either 
for a further period of four years on its fifth anniversary, or two further periods of two years on 
its fifth and seventh anniversaries respectively (i.e., 5+4 years or 5+2+2 years).  
Commissioners are working with a range of experts and stakeholders to finalise the Service 
specification, but it is proposed that the new contract does not fundamentally change the 
Service model from the current model. The Service should however continue to evolve, taking 
into consideration the ambitions of the national Drugs Strategy, and building on improvements 
to date, such as better integration across health, social care, and criminal justice; closer 
working with children’s services; and a greater emphasis on achieving and sustaining 
recovery. 

Subject to Cabinet approval, the Invitation to Tender (ITT) will be published in May 2023, and 
the award will be made in September 2023, allowing for a comfortable mobilisation period 
before the new contract commences on 1st April 2024.

2. Oral health promotion update
At the Full Council meeting on 9 November 2022, members considered a motion relating to 
NHS Dentistry, where members expressed concern about the quality and cost of dentistry in 

Page 99

Agenda Item 6



2

Gloucestershire and believed every Gloucestershire resident should have a right to a ‘healthy 
mouth’ at affordable NHS rates. As part of this motion, Council asked the Health and Wellbeing 
Board and the Director of Public Health to bring a report on our oral health promotion activities 
to the Gloucestershire Health Overview and Scrutiny Committee (HOSC). This report outlines 
what is being done to promote good oral hygiene, particularly in children and young people 
and our vulnerable residents and was presented alongside a report from NHS England 
colleagues regarding access to dental treatment services. 
GCC-led oral health promotion activities include:

- Distribution of toothbrushing packs and oral health advice by health visitors
- Oral health promotion in schools
- Annual oral health survey. 2022/23’s oral health survey is of Year 6 children. 
- Oral health training for care home staff

Both the oral health promotion report and NHS dentistry report are available here. 

3. HLS consultation 

As part of the Council’s statutory duty to improve the health and wellbeing of the local 
population and reduce health inequalities, the Council commissions a healthy lifestyles 
service, which supports individuals to make lifestyle changes (i.e., to quit smoking, increase 
physical activity, reduce alcohol, and lose weight).  The current contract for the 
Gloucestershire Healthy Lifestyles Service expires on 31st March 2024, which gives us an 
opportunity to review the range of support we need to provide in the future. 

To inform this review, we have been given authorization to conduct a public and wider 
stakeholder consultation exercise on draft proposals for a new Healthy Lifestyles Service 
model from April 2024.   The consultation will take place between January and March 2023 
and will be used to influence any future service delivery model and what it provides. A report 
on the findings of the consultation will be published on the county council website.

4. Childhood Obesity Levels in Gloucestershire (National Child Measurement 
Programme update) 

The National Child Measurement Programme (NCMP) measures the height and weight of 
children in reception class (aged 4 to 5) and year 6 (aged 10 to 11) in state schools across 
England every year. Trained nurses take the measurements, which are used to calculate a 
child-specific BMI score based on the child’s age and gender. Data presents the proportion of 
children who are an unhealthy weight in England and within each region and county. The data 
is used to plan services for children and families. 

Data for the 2021/22 school year was published in December. This was the first full year of 
data collection since the start of the Covid-19 pandemic. We previously reported a significant 
increase in levels of obesity and severe obesity in 2020/21 compared to pre-pandemic levels. 
The 2021/22 data indicate that rates have now decreased, compared to last year, but are still 
significantly higher than pre-pandemic levels among Year 6 children (age 10 to 11 years). 
These data, in line with national trends, show a continuing long-term trend of increasing 
obesity prevalence, associated with poverty and health inequality. 

Snapshot of 2021/22 obesity data

Table 1 below shows the prevalence of obesity and severe obesity among Reception and Year 
6 children in Gloucestershire, compared to England averages. It also provides a comparison 
of obesity rates in Gloucestershire with England averages.   

Page 100

https://glostext.gloucestershire.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=772&MId=10860


3

Table 1: Prevalence of obesity and severe obesity 

(Source: National Child Measurement Programme; 2018/19 – 2021/22)

Gloucestershire EnglandYear 
group 

BMI 
category

2021/22 2020/21 2018/19 2021/22 2020/21 2018/19

Obesity 8.7% 13.5% 9.1% 10.1% *14.4% 9.7%Reception 
Severe 
obesity 2.3% 4.2% 2.3% 2.9% *4.7% 2.4%

Obesity 20.7% *21.1% 18.2% 23.4% *25.5% 20.2%Year 6
Severe 
obesity 4.6% *5.0% 4.0% 5.8% *6.3% 4.4%

*Data incomplete so less confidence the data is representative of the whole year group. 

Reception - obesity and severe obesity levels among Reception age children in 
Gloucestershire have reverted to pre-pandemic levels according to the 2021/22 data (8.7% 
with obesity and 2.3% with severe obesity).  These levels are significantly lower than England 
averages (10.1% with obesity and 2.9% with severe obesity), which remain above pre-
pandemic levels despite showing some recovery. 

Year 6 –  while showing some recovery compared to 2020/21 data, obesity and severe obesity 
levels among Year 6 children in Gloucestershire remain above pre-pandemic levels in 2021/22 
data (20.7% with obesity and 4.6% with severe obesity). These levels are significantly lower 
than England averages (23.4% with obesity and 5.8% with severe obesity), but remain a cause 
for concern. 

The place where a child lives continues to impact on their weight status. In England 31.3% of 
children living in the most deprived neighbourhoods have obesity compared to 13.5% in the 
least deprived. Public Health and Communities officers will update our local obesity 
inequalities report by March 2023.

5. Children and young people’s healthier lifestyles programme update

In September 2022 Cabinet gave approval to tender for a provider to deliver a countywide 
healthier lifestyles (healthy weight) service for children and young people aged 4-17 years old 
(up to 25 years for young people with special educational needs and disability). Cabinet also 
delegated the decision to award a contract to the preferred bidder to the Director of Public 
Health in consultation with the Cabinet Lead for Public Health and Communities.

The competitive tender closed on 22nd December 2022 and commissioners are in the process 
of evaluating bids and meeting with prospective providers.  We aim to award a contract to our 
preferred provider in February 2023 pending the appropriate decisions. The contract will run 
from 1st May 2023 until 31st March 2028 and will include the option to extend for a further three 
years. Service delivery will commence on 1st May 2023, though the reach and range of offers 
provided will develop during the initial year of delivery.

The Service will work closely with children and families, and with local communities. It will 
provide a menu of support to enable sustainable changes to eating and physical activity habits, 
to achieve a healthier weight. It will support families to address the wider practical issues 
affecting their lifestyle choices, for example signposting them to cost-of-living support and 
other advice and support as needed. It will work in conjunction with other children and families’ 

Page 101



4

services and the clinical weight management service (commissioned by the Integrated Care 
Board), to ensure a coherent offer to children and families. The service will utilise and support 
the development of existing assets within communities and the wider health and care system.

The service will provide:

- A universal offer, utilising digital technology to provide evidence-based information and 
support for children and families to achieve a healthier weight status, accessible to the 
whole population of Gloucestershire

- A range of targeted, tailored, age-appropriate support (including face-to-face support) 
accessible through both professional, and self-referral, for children and young people 
and their families most affected by obesity and weight-related inequality. 

6. Future delivery arrangements for Public Health Nursing Services 

Permission is being sought from Cabinet on January 25th to continue with the current delivery 
arrangements for Public Health Nursing Services.

Gloucestershire’s Public Health Nursing (PHN) Service offers universal support to all families 
and targeted support to families with additional needs or vulnerabilities through their health 
visiting and school nursing teams, provided by Gloucestershire Health and Care NHS 
Foundation Trust (GHC).  The Council is required, as a condition of the Public Health grant, 
to offer five visits in early years and to deliver the Healthy Child Programme for families and 
children aged 0 to 5 years and 5 – 19  years.  The Council also has a responsibility to deliver 
the annual National Child Measurement Programme which is carried out by the school nursing 
team.

The service is currently commissioned via a Collaborative Commissioning Arrangement, 
whereby the Council transfers funding for the commissioning of the service to NHS 
Gloucestershire Integrated Care Board (ICB). Cabinet approval of the current arrangements 
continues until 31 March 2024.  Permission is requested to extend this arrangement for a 
maximum of 9 years (2024 – 2033).  The length of the agreement aligns to the Family Hub 
proposals, which will see our Children and Family Centres focus more on early support to 
families and will enable greater integration of services through aligned service specifications.  

The current service continues to perform well, and performance is consistently above the 
national and statistical neighbour benchmarks. In August, GHC received a ‘Good’ CQC rating 
and the provider continues to work in a collaborative way with commissioners and the wider 
health and care system in Gloucestershire.  As the PHN teams sit within GHC there is stronger 
integration between the service and the other community physical and mental health services 
that GHC also provide.  

7. Future delivery arrangements for the Specialist Sexual Health Service

Permission is being sought from Cabinet on January 25th to continue with the current delivery 
arrangements for the Specialist Sexual Health Service.

As part of its statutory responsibilities, the Council makes arrangements for the provision of 
the Specialist Sexual Health Service. The service provides testing and treatment for sexually 
transmitted infections (STIs), contraceptive services, provision of Pre-Exposure Prophylaxis 
(PrEP) for HIV prevention and psychosexual services. It has a particular focus on more 
complex and/or specialist cases, and individuals at higher risk of poor sexual health. 

The service is currently commissioned via a Collaborative Commissioning Arrangement, 
whereby the Council transfers funding for the commissioning of the service to NHS 
Gloucestershire Integrated Care Board (ICB). Commissioning the service in this manner 

Page 102



5

allows for better integration of a number of wider sexual health services, which the ICB 
commission under one contract (currently held by Gloucestershire Health and Care). 

The Specialist Sexual Health Service performs well and the integrated pathway of care across 
sexual health services is advantageous for patients. Permission is being sought from Cabinet 
on January 25th to continue with the current arrangements for a maximum of 9 years (2024 – 
2033). 

8. One Gloucestershire Integrated Care Strategy

Under The Health and Care Act 2022 (section 26) and Health and social care integration: 
joining up care for people, places and populations (DHSC, 2022) there is a statutory duty to 
form an Integrated Care Partnership (ICP). Our ICP is referred to as the One Gloucestershire 
Health and Wellbeing Partnership (HWP). The HWP is made up of a broad range of 
organisations who will work together to improve the care, health and wellbeing of the people 
who live in Gloucestershire.

Statutory guidance (Guidance on the preparation of integrated care strategies, DHSC 2022) 
sets out that an Integrated Care Strategy should be produced and published by December 
2022. The One Gloucestershire Interim Integrated Care Strategy was agreed by the HWP and 
published on 22nd December 2022. 

The interim strategy is an overarching system strategy and ‘blueprint’ for delivering better 
health and care for the people in Gloucestershire. It builds on existing work and momentum to 
further the transformative change needed to tackle challenges such as reducing disparities in 
health and social care; improving quality and performance; preventing mental and physical ill 
health; and maximising independence and preventing care needs, by promoting control, 
choice, and flexibility in how people receive care and support.

The interim strategy will inform the direction of travel for integrated care organisations in 
Gloucestershire. The HWP will lead and oversee delivery and agree the mandate for key work 
programmes, and will hold system delivery infrastructures to account as well as ensuring that 
the involvement and intelligence from localities, districts and communities is core.

The engagement process in preparation for forming the interim strategy, was built upon a 
comprehensive public engagement which was undertaken during January- March 2022 (Part 
1) and asked local people to say how they would like to be involved and the areas or issues 
they wanted considered in the development of the strategy. Further engagement to develop 
the interim strategy was targeted at stakeholder partnerships and organisations in September 
– November 2022 (Part 2). 

The strategy provides the case for why we need change in the short, medium, and long term. 
Although the requirement is to write a five-year Integrated Care Strategy, the HWP wants to 
go beyond this and set the direction for the next ten to twenty years with a commitment to 
continue to evolve and develop, harnessing further opportunities as it grows and develops. It 
incorporates the following:

 Vision and principles for working
 Pillar 1: Making Gloucestershire a better place for the future – focusing on long term 

action
 Pillar 2: Transforming what we do – focusing on medium term action including:

o Community and locality focused approach
o Achieving equity
o Creating a One Gloucestershire workforce for One Gloucestershire
o Achieving quality and outcomes across the whole person journey

 Pillar 3: Improving health and care services today – focusing on short term actions

Page 103

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/health-and-social-care-integration-joining-up-care-for-people-places-and-populations/health-and-social-care-integration-joining-up-care-for-people-places-and-populations#leadership-accountability-and-finance
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/health-and-social-care-integration-joining-up-care-for-people-places-and-populations/health-and-social-care-integration-joining-up-care-for-people-places-and-populations#leadership-accountability-and-finance


6

 Creating conditions for change:
o Strengthening communities and person centred approaches
o Evidence based practices, research, and innovation
o Digitally enabled services

 Call to action and our commitment.

National guidance states that 2022 to 2023 will be seen as a transition period. This recognises 
the time and resource limitations posed by the task of publishing the strategy in December 
2022 and the impact this has on the ability to engage people and organisations in in the 
preparation of the initial integrated care strategy. The One Gloucestershire Interim Integrated 
Care Strategy is the initial version and further engagement and refinement of the strategy will 
take place in 2023. The strategy will need refreshing as the One Gloucestershire Health and 
Wellbeing Partnership develops and matures.

Page 104



1

Adult Social Care and Communities Scrutiny Committee

Report from the Executive Director of Adult Social Care and Public Health 
24 January 2023 

Adult Social Care Update
_________________________________________________  

From Care Act Reform to Fit for the Future – Responding to the Autumn 
Statement
Although the Care Act Reforms have been delayed by 2 years, the work to prepare 

will continue to enable Adult Social Care (ASC) to be fit for the future. The plan to 

prepare for the reforms sits alongside our work on CQC Assurance and is part of our 

Transformation Programme. This part of the programme aims to improve our 

efficiency, productivity, performance and effectiveness by refining our operating model 

and implementing digital solutions. In the context of growing demand and a 

challenging workforce landscape, we need to invest to modernise our existing service 

and ensure ASC supports good outcomes for people and keep vulnerable people safe. 

We also need to support services where we have people waiting for assessment, 

review and financial decisions and continue the work to ensure ASC can implement 

the reforms in 2 years' time. As we do this, there will be a focus on benefits realisation 
(efficiency, productivity, improved outcomes) for 2023/24. 

Refining our Operating Model
To support us to be ready for Charging Reform in two years' time, we are refining our 

operating model to be fit for the future and to prepare for CQC Assurance. This 

includes not only our internal work but also how we work with our external partners, 

making changes where there are issues for our teams and across the system and 

mapping our processes. This will help us identify process improvement and support 

the development of performance indicators, helping us to improve performance. 

Furthermore, we will review the use of our core recording systems to ensure a clear 

audit trail and enable better data sets for reporting our performance. This work will 

improve our productivity, efficiency, and effectiveness and mitigate the time people 

wait for assessment, review and financial decisions. 

Page 105

Agenda Item 7



2

Implementing Digital Solutions
In delivering our Adult Social Care Technology Strategy, we must make sure that our 

workforce has the right digital tools, training, skills and data for a modern service. 

Embracing technology and digital tools will help us deliver higher quality, more 

efficient, safer and more joined-up social care to improve people’s lives. Our aim is to 

support people with care and support needs to undertake online self-assessments and 

create care accounts as well as facilitate online interaction between the Council and 

care providers to streamline the commissioning of care, reducing delays and freeing 

up valuable care staff time. We are currently focussing on the following:

• Remote Financial App (RFA) to support our teams to conduct remote financial 

assessments where appropriate

• Online Financial Calculator (OFA) to support members of the public to 

complete their financial assessment online and send supporting evidence 

• LAS Adults Portal professionals and the public can make referrals directly into 

our system creating a single point of access for referrals

• LAS Delegation Portal professionals from outside GCC can contribute to 

support plans and assessments directly

• E Brokerage a system to broker care and manage the market, avoiding waste 

activity via phone and email

• Visits Module a system to support management of care delivery (including 

changes) and charging

• Client Finance Portal people receiving care can access their social care 

finance documents online. Includes direct payment remittances, personal 

budget statements, deferred payment agreements and billing statements

Cost of Care exercise and Market Sustainability Plan 

As part of the government’s adult social care reform agenda, local authorities were 

required to complete a fair cost of care exercise to arrive at a shared understanding 

with providers of the local cost of providing care. The exercise took place last summer 

and was submitted by the deadline of 14 October.   In addition, authorities are required 

to publish a Market Sustainability Plan detailing how they plan to move towards a fair 

cost of care (where this is not already being paid) over the next three years.

Page 106



3

GCC worked with the Gloucestershire Care Providers Association, the majority 

provider representative body in Gloucestershire, to devise an engagement programme 

for the “Fair Cost of Care Exercise” that would reach as many providers as possible. 

We commissioned an external consultant to act as an independent recipient of the 

data who would then provide GCC with the pseudonymised data which would inform 

this exercise. 

Participation from the care home market was good with 51 providers taking part 

representing 36% of eligible providers and 47% of beds. Larger homes were over-

represented, but we have not found a strong correlation of size to unit cost. Dom care 

participation was lower with 11% of eligible providers taking part. 

For both markets the median costs identified are above the standard contract prices 

and are also more than the mean actual payments made for each service. This was 

particularly noticeable in the Care Home market. There are local factors which 

influence these results:

 a high percentage of self-funding individuals. [In 4/6 Gloucestershire districts 

self-funders represent over 45% of the market, the Southwest average is 

40.5%  (Office for National Statistics, 2022)]

 an excess of empty beds in some areas

 a high proportion of facilities offering premium services outside the fee levels 

affordable to the Local Authority

 our contract prices are comparatively low

 a period of extraordinary inflation which is not expected to be permanent 

 provider calculations for return on capital and operations varied and are 
reflected in the high unit costs (Care Homes only)

The results were submitted within the given timescale and according to the prescribed 

format:

Annex A – the exact outcome of the cost of care exercise using the data submitted by 

providers

Annex B – a description of data used and an analysis of that data within the local 

context 

Page 107



4

Annex C – a draft Market Sustainability Plan which comprised: an assessment of the 

sustainability of our local care markets; an assessment of the impact of future market 

changes (including funding reform) over the next 1-3 years, for each of the service 

markets; plans for each market to address sustainability issues identified, including 

how fair cost of care funding will be used to address these issues over the next 1 to 3 

years.

The results of the exercise, whilst submitted to Government in October, have not yet 

been published and the market is as yet not party to any specific content. Naturally the 

exercise has raised provider expectation of a dialogue with the Council over price. 

Industry pressures such as extraordinary rates of inflation and the severe difficulty in 

recruiting staff currently mean that providers are extremely interested in the outcome 

of the exercise, and many are submitting requests of fee reviews across provision for 

older people and vulnerable adults.

Whilst changes to plans for social care reform made at the time of the Autumn 

Statement are likely to affect future planning the need to revisit prices at this time is 

still pressing. Discussions with provider representatives regarding annual inflationary 

uplift mechanisms are in train as usual but this year some amendments to the process 

are under consideration to reflect the extraordinary financial landscape. These 

discussions are held separately to those regarding fee structures for the care home 

and home care and supported living markets which are being revisited in the context 

of developing the new bed-based contract and revising the community frameworks. In 

addition, consideration is being given to individual provider requests for price review 

and a consistent and rational approach to these is under development. The cost of 

care exercise offers a contextual understanding to the above processes. 

The complete Market Sustainability Plan is expected to use the cost of care exercise 

as a key input and assess the impact current fee rates are having on the market and 

potential future risks, particularly in the context of future adult social care reform. It is 

expected to include mitigating actions including the pace at which the authority expects 

to move towards a fair cost of care to improve market sustainability. Annex B from the 

Cost of Care exercise will be published on 1 February.  Local authorities anticipate 

Page 108



5

being asked to publish the Market Sustainability Plan after local government budgets 

have been finalised for 2023/24.

Gloucestershire Care Partnership Estate Strategy – Update 
In June 2022 Cabinet took a decision to decommission four of the older homes within 

the Gloucestershire Care Partnership:

o Bohanam House, Gloucester 

o Orchard House, Bishops Cleeve, Tewkesbury 

o The Elms, Stonehouse Stroud

o Westbury Court, Westbury, Forest of Dean

This section of the report will provide an update on the following:

 Future plans for the homes in the short and medium term

 Progress on the business case for redeveloping the Elms site in Stonehouse, 

Gloucestershire, for a new care facility” 

 Progress on the business case for redeveloping the GIS site at Cinderford for a 

new care facility post 2025 

Progress to Date – Home Closures
Due to the level of engagement undertaken during the consultation many of the 

residents, their relative and representatives had already identified alternative 

placements. Therefore, once the Adult Social Care and Communities Scrutiny 

Committee, (20 July 2022 – in response to the call off), voted to uphold the original 

Cabinet decision, the moves to new care homes took place relatively swiftly. 

By the end of August 2022 all residents had been moved and all four of the sites were 

empty and being prepared for hand back to the council. The dates for the last residents 

to leave each home are:

• Bohanam House- 8 August 2022

• The Elms- 19 August 2022

• Westbury Court- 24 August 2022

• Orchard House- 30 August 2022

Page 109



6

However, the hand back process progressed less smoothly and was subject to some 

delays, with the final property handed back to GCC on 23 November last year.

The Properties
Bohanam House
Bohanam is situated in Gloucester City, the property is an older building which housed 

the OSJCT regional office in the original building and a 1970’s extension, at the rear 

housing the care home.  At the time of consultation, the home was not considered for 

repurposing or redevelopment. Firstly, because the Gloucester City area had and 

continues to have a surplus of care home beds. There are currently 22 care homes, 

following the closure of Bohanam and Sceats, (an unplanned closure of an 

independent residential home for older people) with 104 vacancies. In addition to this 

the site access required to develop the 1970’s extension to the rear of the building 

makes development of this site cost prohibitive. The limited site access added a further 

30% to the overall cost, moving the estimated total to £9.5m at the time of going to 

Cabinet.

During the consultation process Bohanam was the focus of much interest with a 

number of providers wanting to take on the management of this home for placements 

for people with Long-term Conditions, or as a rehabilitation centre. However, the 

overall aim of decommissioning this home was to increase sustainability of the Older 

People’s market in Gloucester City rather than plan future service provision.

Since the hand back in October the building has remained empty. Developing the site 

as a care facility would be costly and the main building does not lend itself to the 

delivery of care. The narrow corridors and winding staircases would need to be 

removed to make these spaces usable for delivering care to adults with long-term 

conditions or older people care supported by daily assistance aids and equipment. 

GCC were therefore, considering selling the site for residential development.

However, we have recently received a request to use Bohanam to support the care 

sector in a more indirect manner.  The national shortage of staff in the health and 

social care sector has increased the number of care agencies applying for licences to 

recruit from outside of the UK. This is also the case in Gloucestershire. GCC have 

Page 110



7

recently been approached by the Gloucestershire Care Provider Association (GCPA) 

on behalf of a home care recruitment collaboration, (organisations that have partnered 

together to pool resources into a central system to recruit candidates for vacant 

positions), to use Bohanam for temporary housing for these workers when they arrive 

in England.  GCC are working with GCPA to explore this option further.

Orchard House 
Orchard House is in the Bishops Cleeve area of Tewkesbury District. Tewkesbury has 

very few care homes within the district boundary. However, the shape of the borough 

means that many of Tewkesbury residents also associate with other areas of the wider 

county, Tewkesbury surrounds Cheltenham and Gloucester and borders both the 

Forest of Dean and the Cotswold Districts. Bishops' Cleeve residents tend to identify 

with Cheltenham.  Orchard House occupancy levels were in decline before being 

decommissioned this summer, possibly due to the opening of new residential 

developments in the area. 

The site is in a built-up residential area and does not have the space to build a 

purpose-built site of the size and proportions to make it sustainable moving forwards. 

During the consultation the residents living in the area were keen to understand the 

future use of this building. The site is in a residential area and the rear of the home 

backs onto a school. Therefore, residents wanted to make sure that any future use of 

the building/site would fit in with the needs of the surrounding community.

A number of ideas were put forward for this site GCC was approached by:

 Care companies interested in the site as a base office for home care business,

 Care agencies who wanted felt the site would be an ideal therapy outreach 

centre 

 Supported living providers looking for a residential site for working age adults 

requiring care. 

 Disposal of the site for redevelopment

Because of the interest in the site from local residents and care agencies the Cabinet 

report in June 2022 recommended that, “All options would need to be worked up in a 

Page 111



8

feasibility study requiring further consultation with local residents”.  Due to the work 

involved in the closure and handover of the decommissioned homes and the need to 

work on options for the Elms site the work on this consultation has not yet begun.

In order to maintain the integrity of the building whilst we undertake this wider piece of 

work the GCC Children’s call centre will use the site a temporary base.  In the longer 

term it is our intention to return to Cabinet with a range of options and preferred 

recommendation for the future of this site. 

The Elms
During the consultation the aim for this site, in the Stonehouse area of Stroud, was 

always for redevelopment. The options at the time were for redevelopment whilst the 

site remained open or closing the home to demolish the building and build a new 

purpose-built facility.

The property is an older style which would require significant redevelopment of the 

current footprint to make it fit for future needs and expectations. The site sits on a 

sizeable plot and is adjacent to the old Stonehouse Library site which is also owned 

by Gloucestershire County Council.

It was therefore decided that decommissioning the home to redevelop, would provide 

a more sustainable option for the county.  GCC colleagues from Strategic Finance, 

Procurement, and Commissioning are currently preparing the Options Appraisal 

paperwork, which will shortly be presented to GCC Property Board.

Westbury Court
The recommendation to decommission this home was based on the potential to impact 

on the Gloucester city care market, where we have a surplus of care beds. Early 

indications show that the closure appears to be having the planned positive impact on 

the Gloucester market. Though current economic pressures means that, though 

occupancy rates have increased the financial pressures on care businesses have 

changed.

Page 112



9

Westbury Court is on a site that would be difficult to develop a care facility that offered 

the adaptability and facilities that most individuals expect when moving into residential 

care. The site is close to the river Severn and has the potential to flood. As weather 

conditions worsen in response to climate change this risk is likely to increase. The 

home is also on a site of historical interest and situated between a National Trust 

Garden and an historical building so has limited potential in relation for development. 

Following consultation, the aim was to commission a purpose-built care facility on the 

former GIS site in Cinderford which would provide care home capacity to meet the 

demographic profiles and predicted needs of the local population. The options 

appraisal for this work is being developed and will be presented to GCC Property 

Board shortly.  The site could be used for a number of purposes. However, these 

would need to take into account, the cultural, historical and environmental factors of 

the site.

Hyper Localised Commissioning of Domiciliary Care
Until recently we bought domiciliary care hours in blocks that mirrored the district 

council boundaries.  This resulted in some domiciliary care workers having to drive 

across a district to provide care and so time was lost in travelling.  This model also 

meant that two different providers could be delivering care to people on the same road.  

We are moving to a hyper localised model of commissioning domiciliary care as this 

will minimise travelling, create the possibility in urban areas of completing rounds on 

foot or bicycle.  Through the time saved in travelling additional care hours can be made 

available.  The additional hours free’d up are enabling the provider to have the ability 

to flex support up and down depending on the needs of individuals receiving care. The 

additional hours also provide a ringfence of capacity to accommodate new referrals at 

short notice with the aim of expediating hospital flow

We are currently developing the following performance measures to show the 

efficiency of the new model.

Measures of performance and benefits 

i.Efficient use of home care capacity, with fewer providers per neighbourhood  

ii.Measure: Ratio of GCC-funded customers to providers per LSOA over time 

reducing. 

Page 113



10

iii.Measure: median distance from customer’s home to provider’s base. 

iv.Measure: actual hourly rate of block against hours used. 

v.Measure: Declining admissions to low-intensity care home beds by residents of 

neighbourhoods (LSOAs) with blocks of other capacity-incentives. 

vi.Measure: Reduced hospital and Home First Progression waiting times

 

This project has brought a change in process and therefore a new training program 

for existing and incoming brokers, which will and has been revisited as tools and 

systems to support the new way of working are adapted in line with learning.  Brokers 

now use a web-based care search to identify the location of the client and the agencies 

working in their area which allows Brokers to search for the nearest suitable provider 

to the customer’s home. The ongoing training and continued development of the 

mapping tool is helping to realise the underlying principle that locally-sourced care is 

more efficient and effective purchasing practice. 

The mapping system alone will encourage better market management through 

efficient focused brokering. Brokers will be able to see and utilize capacity where 

blocks exist, and purchase from the wider framework where demand is minimal or 

short term thus reducing the need for spot purchasing from off-framework providers.  

Assurance Process and Preparations Update

The Health and Care Act 2022 puts CQC assessment of local authorities and ICS’s 

on a 

statutory footing. The new assurance process commences in April 23. It aims to 

 Provide clarity about what we are doing well 

 Offer constructive suggestions about where we could improve 

 Be informed by what matters to people who draw on care and support 

 Provide an independent view of our capacity to improve

The ongoing management of our preparedness for CQC assurance is through our 

Adults’ Transformation Board which meets monthly to agree strategic plans, unblock 

Page 114



11

any challenges, and monitor progress. This is chaired by the Executive Director of 

Adult Social Care, Wellbeing and Communities. 

The assurance process covers all the local authorities’ responsibilities under the 

Care Act 2014, including promoting wellbeing, preventing, reducing or delaying 

needs, information and advice, market shaping and commissioning of adult care and 

support, identifying needs, financial assessment, person-centred care and support 

planning, safeguarding and integration and partnership working. 

A Quality Assurance Self-Assessment Framework has been developed, and all 

service areas across Adult Social Care are in the process of completing these. This 

is a collaborative process involving colleagues of all levels. We held two workshops 

in September and December 2022 to review progress. By the end of January 2023 

we will have completed our first drafts of these self assessments, and have 

completed an initial review covering the CQC quality statements: 

 Assessing needs 

 Supporting people to live healthier lives 

 Equity in experiences and outcomes 

 Care provision, integration and continuity 

 Partnerships and communities

 Safe systems, pathways and transitions 

 Safeguarding 

 Governance, management and sustainability 

 Learning, improvement and innovation

On 7th February we will hold our third workshop, a “support and challenge” session, 

which will aim to test the strength of our evidence, provide confidence that we know 

what good looks like, and set the scene for our ongoing improvement planning. 

Throughout January and February we will be working with regional authorities to 

benchmark our progress and provide further challenge.

By the end of February we will be building on this work to draft a self-assessment 

document of around 20 pages to provide a compelling and authentic narrative of our 

Page 115



12

adult social care service. We are using guidance produced by the LGA to support us 

in the self-assessment work. 

In addition to our self-assessment approach, we have three further workstreams 

within our Assurance portfolio. The first focuses on data, and we will be undertaking 

an initial gap analysis in January 2023. The second focuses on feedback from 

people with lived experience, as we anticipate this will be an area for improvement. 

We are starting this work in January with our Partnership Boards to see where we 

can strengthen our work in this area. The third is communications and engagement, 

through which we will develop a communications plan to raise awareness of the 

assurance process and tell people how we doing along the way. This will initially be 

an internally focused plan, moving to an external focus as we develop our self-

assessment and seek feedback on it. 

Cost-of-living support

The council has been proactive in providing information to Gloucestershire residents 

about the support that is available to address cost-of-living challenges. The main focus 

has been on setting up the Support Hub area on the GCC website which gives users 

access to information about support in the following categories:

 In Your Area – links to district council services

 Your Circle – local groups and support

 Money

 Food

 Energy

 Warm Spaces

 Transport/Travel

 Your Mental Health and Wellbeing

The Hub was launched on 19 October. Views have remained consistent since then at 

c.500 unique visitors per week. The service has been promoted via the website, social 

media and various newsletters, including those covering schools and elected 

Page 116



13

members. More recently a dedicated helpline was launched and promoted by leaflet 

with the aim of reaching residents who are believed to be less likely to use online 

services. There have been very few calls to date – fourteen as at 15 December – but 

this may increase as we get into the winter months. 

Some of the calls to the helpline have raised issues about energy and heating-related 

costs. For example, one caller raised concern about fuel bills and the need for a smart 

meter. They were directed to the Warm and Well scheme (which provides energy 

efficiency advice to householders and also administers grant funding) and to their 

energy supplier. Another caller needed to replace a boiler and was directed to Warm 

and Well and to the Household Support Fund.

The library service is participating in a national Warm Welcome scheme to promote 

spaces where people are welcome to spend time in a warm setting with free hot drinks 

available. The feedback from library staff is that while visitor numbers are not 

increasing significantly there is evidence of some groups staying longer and making 

use of the hot drink offer.

Monthly meetings are being held with key partners – NHS, district councils and the 

voluntary and community sector (VCS) – to share information about cost-of-living 

activities. Much of the available support is currently delivered via the VCS and there 

has been anecdotal feedback that some organisations are facing significant pressure 

from increased demand re. cost-of-living issues. The group is consequently liaising 

with sector representatives to try and find evidence that will help understand the impact 

of the additional demand.

Finally, the data and analysis team has produced an initial cost-of-living dashboard. 

This brings together a range of indicators that highlight the impact of inflation on people 

across the county. The intention is to develop the analysis over the coming months 

and add further local indicators – applications to the Household Support Fund, for 

example – to give a more nuanced picture. A separate report provides background to 

the dashboard and analysis of the initial findings.

Page 117



14

The Cost-of-Living Dashboard

Introduction to the Cost-of-Living crisis
The cost of living refers to the amount of money an individual or household needs to 

cover their basic expenses including food, energy, and housing costs. As inflation 

pushes up prices, the cost-of-living increases which can create a strain on resident’s 

finances. In October 2022, the inflation rate (9.6%) was more than 4.5 times the Bank 

of England’s target of 2%. 

Everyone is experiencing the effect of the rise in cost of living however, some people 

will be feeling its impact to a greater extent leading them to seek help to reduce their 

costs or receive aid. 

Schemes are available to help ease the burden and new resources are being created 

to help signpost residents to help. 

Background to the Cost-of-Living Dashboard and its purpose
To help monitor the rise in prices and impact on individuals, a dashboard has been 

created which brings together a range of indicators to measure the impact on 

Gloucestershire’s residents. The dashboard will be an evolving resource which will 

change according to the availability of data and the needs of stakeholders. It has been 

published in the public domain on the Inform Gloucestershire 

website: https://www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/inform/economy/cost-of-living/. This will 

prevent duplication of effort and mean a variety of public sector and voluntary 

organisations will be able to make use of the data for the benefit of Gloucestershire as 

a whole.

The dashboard currently contains ten indicators which were determined to be the most 

significant at explaining some of the current pressures Gloucestershire’s residents are 

facing. Data from 2019 onwards has been used, where possible, to allow the 

identification of any longer-term trends as well as consider the impact of COVID-19.

The dashboard is an evolving project and new versions will be released as more data 

becomes available. Please note, we are dependent on other organisations publishing 

data and this means there is often a time lag.

Page 118

https://www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/inform/economy/cost-of-living/


15

What is the dashboard showing?
The cost-of-living dashboard currently contains ten indicators which have been chosen 

to highlight the key issues facing residents:

 Inflation vs. wage - National data 
- The inflation vs. wage indicator measures shows the difference between 

real-wage growth in the private and public sector and the inflation rate.

- The government has a target inflation rate of 2% however, inflation has 

been above this target since May 2021. In October 2022, the inflation 

rate was more than 4.5 times the government’s target of 2%. According 

to the Office for National Statistics, the rise in inflation in the most recent 

months has mainly been driven by an increase in food and energy prices. 

- Monthly wage growth fell below the inflation rate, most recently, in 

August 2021 for public sector wages and May 2022 for private sector 

wages, it has since remained below inflation. When inflation is higher 

than wage growth, workers experience a real term pay cut as prices 

increase and their income can buy less.

      Sources: EARN01: Average weekly earnings ONS and Consumer Price Inflation table, ONS

Figure 1: Inflation vs. Wage Growth in the UK

 The Claimant Count- District level data

Page 119

https://www.ons.gov.uk/economy/inflationandpriceindices/bulletins/consumerpriceinflation/november2022


16

- The claimant count reports on the number of people who are 

unemployed and claiming unemployment related benefits. 

- Gloucestershire’s claimant count, as a proportion of the 16-64 

population, was 2.2% in November 2022, below the national level of 

3.7%. Out of Gloucestershire’s six districts, Gloucester had the highest 

proportion of claimants (3.2%) and Stroud the lowest (1.6%). 

- At district, county, and national level, between March and May 2020, 

there was a significant increase in the proportion of the population 

claiming unemployment-related benefits due to COVID-19. The 

proportion of claimants has decreased, nearly month-on-month, since 

April 2021 but is still higher than pre-COVID levels to varying degrees. 

 Universal Credit- District level data
- Universal Credit is a monthly payment to help with living costs. To be 

eligible for Universal Credit, a recipient could be either out of work, 

working on a low income, or unable to work, for example, due to a health 

condition and/or disability. 

- In November 2022, there was 47,990 people claiming for Universal 

Credit in Gloucestershire, an increase of 2.7% compared to October 

2022.

- Due to COVID-19, between, March and May 2020, there was a 

substantial increase in the number of people receiving universal credit, 

numbers have since remained higher than pre-COVID levels. Beginning 

the summer of 2022, there has been an increasing trend in the number 

of claimants which is most noticeable in Gloucester. 

 Council Tax Support- District level data
- Council tax support provides a discount to people who are on low 

incomes. It is down to each local authority to set and approve Council 

Tax Support for people of working age whereas, pensioners are 

approved by a national scheme.

Page 120



17

- The current number of council tax support claimants is similar to pre-

covid levels. There was 34,445 people claiming council tax support in 

Gloucestershire, in September 2022. 

 Pension Credit- District level data
- Pension credit provides additional money to people who are over the 

state pension age and on a low income. It can also help with housing 

costs such as ground rent or service charges. 

- In May 2022, there was 11,134 pensioners receiving pension credit in 

Gloucestershire, an increase of 1.1% compared to February 2022. The 

increase is due to a higher number of people receiving pension credit 

where the district in Gloucestershire is unknown. All the 

Gloucestershire’s districts saw a decrease in the number of people 

receiving pension credit between February and May 2022.

- Overall, the number of pensioners receiving pension credit has gradually 

declined in the last few years however, the value of the average amount 

of pension credit awarded has increased. 

 Weekly Food Prices- National data
- The Food Foundation’s Basic Basket Tracker measures weekly prices 

of a basket of food for an adult male and adult female as part of a 

reasonably costed, adequately nutritious diet. This aims to provide a 

benchmark to give an indication of trends in food prices and how this 

might be impacting on the cost of buying sufficient food.

- Figure 2 indicates the average cost of a male’s weekly shop, using Tesco 

non-Clubcard prices, has increased from £43.52 on the 2nd April 2022 to 

£50.98 on the 10th December 2022 (an increase of 17.1%). In 

comparison, the average cost of a female’s weekly shop, using Tesco 

non-Clubcard prices, increased from £40.96 on the 2nd April 2022 to 

£47.17 on the 10th December 2022 (15.2%). 

- See Food Prices Tracking | Food Foundation for further information 

about how the data is collected.

Page 121

https://foodfoundation.org.uk/initiatives/food-prices-tracking#/undefined/FAQs


18

    

Source: Food Prices Tracking, The Food Foundation

Figure 2: Average Weekly Food Shop Prices

 Fuel Price Indices- National data
- The fuel price indices, shown in Figure 3, are a comparison to the same 

month the previous year and measure the percentage change.

- In October 2022, electricity and gas prices were continuing to rise. The 

price of gas and electric increased significantly between March to April 

2022 and September to October 2022. 

- Gas and electric prices are significantly higher than the cost of solid and 

liquid fuels. 

- Fuel costs are one of the main drivers of the high inflation rate, according 

to the Office for National Statistics.

Page 122

https://www.ons.gov.uk/economy/inflationandpriceindices/bulletins/consumerpriceinflation/november2022


19

    Source: Domestic energy price indices, Department for Business, Energy, and Industrial Sector

Figure 3: Fuel Price Indices in the UK

 Petrol and Diesel Price- National data
- Weekly data is collected on the average price of petrol and diesel in fuel 

pumps, in the UK. 

- In the week beginning 12th December 2022, the average cost of petrol 

was £1.56 per litre and the average cost of diesel was £1.80 in the UK.

- Petrol and diesel prices are continuing to ease after an increasing trend 

since May 2020 and steep increase in the summer 2022, shown in 

Figure 4. The cost to fill the petrol tank of a ford fiesta (42 litres) was 

£65.51 in week of the 12th December 2022.

Page 123



20

Source: Weekly Road Fuel Price, Department for Business, Energy and Industrial Strategy

Figure 4: Weekly Petrol and Diesel Prices

 Mortgage Rates- National data
- Mortgage rates are the rate of interest a mortgage lender charges for 

borrowing money. Mortgage rates are dependent on interest rates set 

by the Bank of England. Residents who have variable rate mortgages 

are directly impacted on their next payment whereas, residents who 

have a fixed rate mortgage will not have to pay more until they reach 

the end of their fixed-term period. 

- In November 2022, the 2 year (75% LTV1) fixed rate was 5.97% and 

the 2 year (75% LTV) variable rate was 3.91%, this is the highest rate 

in the data period beginning in January 2019. 

- Mortgage rates have sharply risen in the past year. 2 year (75% LTV) 

fixed rates are currently more than triple compared to January 2022 

and 2 year (75% LTV) variable rates are just over double compared to 

the rate in January 2022, as shown in Figure 5.

- Mortgage rates have risen due to a rise in the interest rate to 3.5% (1.5 

percentage points higher than the 2% target).

Source: Monthly interest rate of UK monetary financial institutions, Bank of England

1 LTV refers to Loan to Value which is the amount of money a provider is willing to loan in relation to the value 
a property (or asset) being bought

Page 124



21

Figure 5: Mortgage Rates

 Average Rent- District level data
- The private rent index measures the change in the price that tenants 

face when renting residential property from a private landlord. The data 

looks at the percentage change that has occurred compared to the 

same month, the previous year. 

- Using sample data, the average rent in Gloucestershire in March 2022 

was indicated to be around £810 per calendar month. 

- Rent prices are continuing to increase and there has been a growing 

disparity between the average private rent cost in the South West, 

where rent prices are higher, and the England (excluding London) 

average since January 2019. One driver of the higher rent costs is the 

increase in landlord costs, including mortgage repayments. 

Summary
Overall, the data is currently showing that there has been a notable increase in prices 

during the last 12 months, particularly the latter half of 2022. As inflation continues to 

be high, the cost of living will continue to rise leading to a greater number of people 

going through financial hardship. Wage growth is not keeping up with inflation leading 

to a real wage pay cut and reduction in the amount of income households have 

available to spend on bills and household essentials. 

Whilst the unemployment data shows there is a slight indication of an increase in the 

number of people receiving universal credit, the next few months will be particularly 

telling of the delayed effects of the increase in cost of living. Likewise, there has not 

been an increase in the number of people receiving support through pension credit 

and council tax relief however, this may change as the financial burden grows. 

What is next?
Future versions of the dashboard will include more indicators as data becomes 

available. The topics include:

 PAYE weekly income 

 House prices

Page 125



22

 Landlord repossessions

 Mortgage repossessions

 The Consumer Price Index

 Food banks and vouchers

 Citizen’s advice

 The Household Support Fund

 Warm and Well

 Homelessness 

Page 126



1

Trading Standards

Operational overview

1. Year to date the service has received 5939 complaints and enquiries, as with 
the August report this is lower than the same period in 21/22, the different 
reflects the increased demand on the service during the pandemic period.  

2. Comparison with 2019/20 shows a difference of only 100 complaints and 
enquiries suggesting demand is consistent with pre-Covid levels.

3. Officers have carried out 858 inspections of premises (including re-visits) 
compared to 636 over the corresponding period in 21/22.  

4. The increased number of inspections reflects greater focus on market 
surveillance and intelligence led project work, 

 Cost of living focussed work re accurate delivery of fuel and accuracy of 
public weighbridges.  Officers found no cause of concern

 Cost of living related work re safety of second hand items, especially 
electrical goods

 Cost of living/protection work to individuals who have been scammed 
including public engagement sessions at banks and post offices.  
Including the ongoing return of approximate £7,500 given out to 
scammers but recovered before it reached them.

 Cost of living led food sampling, re substitution of ingredients 
 Proactive safety sampling of toys for the presence of phthalates (toxic 

chemicals)
 Test purchase activities for the availability of age related disposable e 

cigarettes to people under the age of 18.

Title Chief Fire Officer Report – Adult and Social Care and 
Communities Scrutiny Committee

Chief Fire Officer 
Suite of Services Trading Standards, Civil Protection and Coroners Services

Date 24.1.2023

Purpose of 
Report

To provide a strategic update on issues and key areas of 
service provision, opportunities and challenges

Page 127

Agenda Item 8



2

 Proactive inspections regarding the storage and retail sale of fireworks.  
There were no significant causes for concern

In addition to business as usual work at farms, animal gatherings, food premises, 
retailers of illegal tobacco, etc.

5. Noteworthy outcomes for the attention of the committee
 Seizure of illegal tobacco from a shop in Gloucester led to engagement 

with the premise landlord. As a result, that shop is no longer used for the 
sale of illegal tobacco.

 A farmer who has frequently come to the attention of this service from 
Churcham, was prosecuted for 29 animal health offences.  These 
included failing to meet record keeping requirements for traceability and 
disease control in livestock, failure across all aspects of how the animals 
were kept, debris in fields, dirty and wet bedding, broken fences, access 
to feeders difficult due to deep mud, dirty drinking water and most 
significantly failing to treat two animals for conditions which led to 
unnecessary pain and suffering.  The farmer was prosecuted and 
disqualified from keeping farm animals for 8 years.

 The Council’s response to an outbreak of Rabies was successfully 
tested (exercise delivered by CPT).  Officers found the multi-agency 
activity useful for networking and for a better understanding of the role 
of partners such as Public Health in situations normally thought of largely 
in terms of animal health matters.

 Officers have seized 5209 packs of illegal cigarettes (of which 3893) 
were counterfeit and 507 pouches of tobacco (of which 427 were 
counterfeit), with an illegal sale value of £31,115 and an evaded duty 
value of £43,920.

 Officers have seized 1219 non-compliant disposable e cigarettes with a 
value in excess of £7,200.

 A further 476 items including toys and electrical chargers were seized or 
caused to be removed from sale due to product safety issues. 

Finance and performance 

6. The service budget remains on target

7. Remaining inspections and project work are on course for completion by year 
end.

Risk

8. Despite receiving no additional funding for this work, the Food Standards Agency 
(FSA) requires inspections are carried out annually/two yearly according to their 
risk profile.  This expectation was relaxed during the pandemic period, but Food 
Authorities (including GCC) should be back to full delivery from 2023/24

Page 128



3

9. During the pandemic period, Trading Standards took the opportunity to update 
the database of food businesses to reflect the actual number within 
Gloucestershire.  In a two tier local authority, food businesses are required to 
register at district level but until recently there was no automatic notification to 
the county council.  This work saw an increase of 40% in food business records 
to 7278.

10.The current establishment of qualified food officers competent to deliver official 
food controls is insufficient to meet this increased demand. 

11.This service has developed a plan, in consultation with the Director and Lead 
Cabinet Member, to cover the existing shortfall and

12.Develop existing staff where possible but there is still a need to and recruit and 
train additional food officers (minimum of 3 years per officer).  The success of 
this plan is subject to continued support of MTFS bids.

Civil Protection Team

Operational Response 

13. Incidents supported Sept 2022 – Jan 2023 (CPT Duty Officer on call 24/7)

- Activation of Operation London Bridge – Passing of HRH Queen Elizabeth II
- House Fire – Residents evacuated
- Industrial Fire – Potential asbestos 
- Landslide – Structural Engineer required
- Barn Fire – Potential asbestos
- Water Supply Outage (x3 incidents)
- Pre-Event assessment teleconference (PEAT) – Scope Industrial Action over 

Christmas period
- Support to housing association residents due to residents unable to contact the 

relevant housing association – property issues due to heating, burst pipes and 
damaged alarm systems. (x3 incidents)

- Flood Advisory Service participation due to rising river levels 

Response Plans - The following response plans are being updated  

14.GCC Critical Incident Plan (draft being updated following Exercise Aurum held in 
November 2022) - This plan will provide guidance to GCC Gold group (Strategic 
leads in incident response) on coordinating the County Councils response to 
an incident that affects service delivery (ie: loss of building, power outage, 
cyber-attack etc). This plan incorporates a list of critical services (collated from 

Page 129



4

the submitted business impact analysis), order of priority, timeframe and 
requirements to re-instate. 

15. Management of the Deceased Plan - (inc: Emergency Mortuary, Excess Deaths, 
Mass Fatalities – Full revision underway) - This suite of plans provides guidance on 
the multi-agency management of an incident that results in mass fatalities / 
excess deaths (ie: Pandemic, large scale accident, malicious event etc…). 
Working with colleagues from Coroners, Glos Police and District councils.

The Excess Deaths & Emergency Mortuary elements have been combined into 
one plan, which is due to be circulated across multi-agency stakeholders for 
consultation by mid-January.

The Mass Fatalities element of the plan will be reviewed working as part of a 
working group to be established by the Coroner in early 2023 

16.Highways Emergency Welfare Plan (Review underway) - This document 
provides a guide for Gloucestershire LRF to manage the provision of 
emergency welfare where the highway cannot be cleared expeditiously and the 
resulting congestion poses a threat to life or unacceptable discomfort.

Training & Exercise – The following exercises have been delivered / are scheduled

17.Exercise Pluto - Multi-agency Animal Health exercise (delivered Nov 2022)
Testing the multi-agency response to a widespread animal disease and 
validating the LRF Animal Disease Plan that has recently been updated. A 
wide range of agencies from across the Local Resilience Forum attended 
this face to face event, including subject matter experts from DEFRA, 
DLUCH and Chief veterinary staff, all providing valuable learning for the 
counties preparedness for animal health incidents.

18.Exercise Aurum - GCC Gold response exercise (delivered Nov 2022)
Testing GCC Gold Groups response to a Critical Incident affecting the 
County Councils ability to deliver services. The exercise also tested the 
newly written GCC Critical Incident Plan. The plan is currently being updated 
to incorporate feedback from the exercise. This face to face exercise was 
well attended by the Corporate Leadership Team, enabling a wealth of 
experience from across the directorates to come together and discuss 
strategic strategy & direction to respond to an incident impacting the delivery 
of council services.

19.GCC Silver response exercise (Re-Scheduled from Dec 2022 to February 2023)
Testing GCC ‘Silver’ groups coordination of the tactical response to an 
incident affecting / requiring support from GCC.

Business Continuity Management (BCM)

Page 130



5

20.The programme of business continuity management (BCM) work approved by 
CLT in Q2 2020-21, which was extended through to December 2022, has 
completed its project phase.  

21.Overall, whilst there has been a substantial improvement over the 2020 position 
there is still further work to do; the focus moving forward will be on exercising 
business continuity plans and ensuring that business continuity remains a 
regular business-as-usual activity for plan owners across the council.

Overall position for GCC (incl. GFRS) (data correct as at 9th January 2023):-

       (Percentages may not add to 100% due to rounding)

Up-to-date
Requires updating
No BIA / BCP

     

 -4% fall in business impact analyses (BIAs) up-to-date since the last report
(October 2022: 69%)

 -1% fall in business continuity plans (BCPs) up-to-date since the last report
(October 2022: 53%)

22.Since the last update there have been minor falls in the levels of compliance 
with business continuity policy.  As previously reported, some teams and 
services have still yet to engage in terms of booking-in BIA sessions with the 
Civil Protection Team.  Also, a number of teams / services have started the 
process but have not completed it: at the time of writing, eight BCPs are 
overdue by six months or more, including one which was due in the 2021 
calendar year.  

23.Given that the business continuity work has reached the end of its project 
phase, with plan owners having had ample of time (2½ years) to complete BIAs 
and BCPs in the manner expected, it is intended for the council’s strategic 
business continuity risk to be rated this quarter as having worsened in terms 
of both likelihood and impact.

24.Such rating reflecting the current levels of compliance together with a 
worsening energy security and industrial action landscape in the UK.  The 
strategic risk owner – Mark Preece, Chief Fire Officer – is engaging with CLT 

Page 131



6

on this issue and appropriate data on compliance has also been shared with 
Steve Mawson, Deputy Chief Executive.

Facilitated De-briefs 

25.Following GCC’s response to both C-19 and Operation London Bridge, Civil 
Protection Team facilitated a number of structured debriefs which provided the 
opportunity to reflect on what went well, what didn’t go so well and areas for 
improvement. The outcomes have been captured in post debrief reports shared 
with the teams which outline areas discussed, lessons learnt and 
recommendations for future processes.

26.GCC Covid 19 Hub debrief (delivered September 22) - This debrief provided 
all members of the GCC Covid Hub team the opportunity to reflect on their 
delivery of support services across the County during the response to C-19.

27.GCC Gold Group debrief (delivered October 22) - This debrief provided all 
members of the GCC Gold Group the opportunity to reflect on how they 
managed the strategic coordination of the County Council’s response to C-19

28.Operation London Bridge debrief (delivered October 22) – passing of HRH 
Queen Elizabeth II - This debrief provided an opportunity for officers to reflect 
on the activation of ‘Operation London Bridge’ protocol and the collaboration 
with the wider LRF response.  Note: Some officers from the County Council 
also attended the local resilience forum multi-agency debrief.  

Challenges / looking forward 

29.The Civil Protection Team is a small team (6 officers) with a high percentage of 
the staff’s time being allocated to Service Level Agreement (SLA’s) 
commitments with the District Councils. As such it has been challenging to 
progress resilience work steams for the County Council as much as we would 
like too.

30.The need for additional resources in the team was discussed and recognised 
in 2022 and additional funding was allocated to recruit two additional staff 
members to the team on fixed term contracts.

31.Two recruitment campaigns were run in 2022, but unfortunately were 
unsuccessful in filling the two fixed term positions.

32.Recruitment seems to be a challenge at present across all areas, as many 
partner agencies are also having difficulty in recruiting suitable candidates into 
civil protection roles.

33.As of December 2022, the team has now decreased to 5 members, with one 
officer leaving. Combined with the difficulties in recruiting this has put us in a 
position where we do not have sufficient resource to deliver on x2 of our SLA 

Page 132



7

commitments. Another recruitment campaign is underway to try and recruit 
back into the vacant position.

34.With the current challenging landscape it is timely to review the current team 
model and commitments. It is recognised that for emergency preparedness, 
response and recovery a co-ordinated approach between upper tier and lower 
tier authorities remains the best approach.

35.Discussions are underway to look at the best options to achieve this with the 
resources available. A paper outlining these options will be written and taken to 
the Corporate Leadership Team for further discussion.

36.The Civil Contingencies Act 2004 outlines the statutory duties that local 
authorities must adhere to. Strengthening resilience is very much part of the UK 
Governments future vision with the ‘UK Resilience Framework’ being released 
in December 2022, outlining the Governments intentions between now and 
2030, to invest in and strengthen resilience across the UK

Finance 

37. The 2022/23 budget for the Civil Protection Team is set at £314k (£218k base 
plus £96k income from SLA’s. x4 staff members funded from base budget & x2 
staff members funded via SLA income. (Note: Following the pay award the base budget 
has increased by £13k for the remainder of 22/23) 

Coroners Team

Operational overview

38.The winter months are traditionally the busiest time for the coroner service 
and this year has been no different with December witnessing the highest 
number of referrals and post mortem requests since the Coroner Court 
opened in 2012. Coroner Officers are working hard to process this work and 
keep families updated on progress.

39.All partners involved in the death management system experience body 
storage capacity issues at this time of year. The coroner service has been 
proactive in procuring 32 additional storage bays which are currently housed 
with the existing fridges and freezers in the body store at the court. These 
bays will remain in the body store until Spring 2023.

40.The service is currently experiencing a backlog in deceased persons requiring 
a post mortem examination. This is not unusual for this time of year but, 
following the referrals in December and over the New Year, this is the highest 

Page 133



8

it has ever been. The mortuary team continue to work with duty pathologists 
to ease pressures and two Saturday sessions have been completed during 
January. Coroner Officers continue to inform the families of the deceased how 
the service is managing this issue.

Financial 

41.As predicted at the start of the year, the service is overspent by £35k. This 
additional expense relates to additional fees payable to pathologists which 
was introduced in September. This is a continuous cost and will total c.75k 
over an entire financial year.

42.The service is pursuing an MTFS bid to ease this pressure and add additional 
funding to the baseline budget to cover these costs. This bid has been 
successful in the MTFS process so far.

Risk

43.Lack of duty pathologists available to undertake coronial work remains the 
largest risk to the service. This is a national problem and the Chief Coroner for 
England & Wales is actively looking into it. The Senior APT continues to work 
with duty pathologists to ensure her team are flexible to the needs and 
availability of pathologists and Saturday sessions are currently being 
undertaken.

44.As part of the MTFS process the department has submitted a bid to increase 
the level of coroner cover and resilience in the county due to this increased 
risk. Subject to final Cabinet approval it is the intention to add an Area 
Coroner’s position within the structure.

Page 134



Page number
Key to Symbols 2
Transforming Adult Social Care – Delivery 3
Transforming Adult Social Care  Commissioning 4
Levelling Up Our Communities  5

Quarter 2 2022/23

Purpose of the report
To provide a strategic overview of the Council's performance for Quarter 2 2022/23.

The following scorecards are enclosed:

Prepared by the Performance and Improvement Team

Adult Social Care and Communities Scrutiny
Committee

1

P
age 135

A
genda Item

 9



Risk Impact/Consequence

Likelihood 1
Insignificant

2
Minor

3
Moderate

4
Major

5
Critical

Almost
certain
(5)

5 10 15 20 25

Likely
(4) 4 8 12 16 20

Probable
(3) 3 6 9 12 15

Possible
(2) 2 4 6 8 10

Rare
(1) 1 2 3 4 5

Reporting Basis

Year to Date Performance accumulated over the year

Rolling Year Average performance over a 12 month
period

Annual Performance measured once a year

Latest
Quarter

Performance this quarter

Snapshot Performance at a particular point in time

Forecast Predicted position at the end of the year

Level of
Risk

Score

Low 1  6
Moderate 7 – 12
High 13 – 25

Risk Rating
(calculated by multiplying the Impact with the Likelihood of each risk)

Risk Symbols
Risk Value Increasing
 Risk Value Decreasing
 No Change

Measure Symbols
 Performance Better than Target
 Performance Worse than Target
 Performance significantly worse than Target
 No information
 Missing Target
 No Value

Bigger is Better  A bigger value for this measure is good 
Smaller is Better  A smaller value for this measure is good
Plan is best  Where it is better for performance to be on target rather than above or below

Key to Symbols

2

P
age 136



Transforming Adult Social Care
Delivery 

Contact Activity

% of all ASC Contacts with a decision within 1 working day Bigger is Better Latest Quarter 93.7% 96.7% 95.0%
We remain unable to report on this metric whilst this
PowerBI dashboard remains unavailable

n/a

% of ASC contacts signposted or closed Bigger is Better Latest Quarter 35.6% 35.4% 34.7% 38.6% 36.6% 33.0% n/a

Good Performance High/Low Reporting Basis Sep21 Dec21 Mar22 Jun22
Actual
Sep22

Target
Sep22

Comments
Comparator
Group

Assessments

% of Service Users who have had a review/ reassessment of
their needs within the last 12 months

Bigger is Better Snapshot 52.1% 42.0% 50.7% 42.4% 44.8% 55.0%

At the end of September 2022 there were
2,598 individuals overdue a Care Act Review which
is a decrease of 323 compared to the position at the
end of June 2022. This equates to 44.8% of the total
longterm Social Care clients who have an uptodate
review.

n/a

Average number of weeks people have been awaiting
Brokerage Smaller is Better Snapshot 4.8 4.0

At the end of September 2022 there were 494 people
awaiting the brokering of their pack of care (up from
473 at the end of June 2022). Of these:
70.2% (347 people) had been waiting for less than
1 month
18.2% (90 people) had been waiting for 12
months
7.1% (35 people) had been waiting for 23 months
4.5% (22 people) had been waiting for more than
3 months.

n/a

% of FAB Assessments Open after 60 working days (as a
proportion of all Open Assessments)

Smaller is Better Latest Quarter 70.4% 71.1%

At the end of September 2002 there 235 Open
Assessments of which 167 had been open for 60
working days or longer. This includes 13 Assessments
which were commenced in 2021.

n/a

% of FAB Assessments taking more than 19 working days to
close (as a proportion of all closed Assessments)

Smaller is Better Latest Quarter 87.4% 88.2%
There were 536 Assessments closed in the quarter of
which 473 (88.2%) took more than 19 working days
to complete.

n/a

Good Performance High/Low Reporting Basis Sep21 Dec21 Mar22 Jun22
Actual
Sep22

Target
Sep22

Comments
Comparator
Group

Good Performance High/Low Reporting Basis Sep21 Dec21 Mar22 Jun22 Actual Sep22 Comments
Comparator
Group

Hospital Discharge and Reablement

% of clients who need no long term care after their period of
reablement

Bigger is Better Latest Quarter 89.5% 91.3% 89.4% 90.0% 85.0%
We are unable to report on this metric as this
PowerBI dashboard has been unavailable since 15
June 2022

n/a

Delayed transfers of care from hospital due to Adult Social
Care per 100,000 population

Smaller is Better Rolling Year 3.50
DTOC measures were suspended on 1st March 2020
There is no data available at present.

Good Performance High/Low Reporting Basis Sep21 Dec21 Mar22 Jun22
Actual
Sep22

Target
Sep22

Comments
Comparator
Group

Good Performance High/Low Reporting Basis Sep21 Dec21 Mar22 Jun22
Actual
Sep22

Target
Sep22

Comments
Comparator
Group

Adult Safeguarding

% of Section 42 enquiries this quarter where the risk was
reduced or removed

Bigger is Better Latest Quarter 85.3% 87.3% 81.8% 81.7% 82.6% 85.0%

There were 155 Section 42 closures during Quarter 2.
Of these only 11 (7.1%) were closed with the Risk
Remaining, however there were 16 closures (10.3%)
where the outcome was 'Inconclusive'.

84.5%

% of S42 Enquiries open for more than 26 weeks Smaller is Better Latest Quarter 39.1% 26.2% 24.2% 17.7% 20.1% 25.0%

At the end of September 2022 there were 169 open
Section 42 Enquiries (down by 6 from the end of
Quarter 1 2022/23). Of these 34 (20.1%) had been
open for more than 26 weeks.

n/a

Good Performance High/Low Reporting Basis Sep21 Dec21 Mar22 Jun22
Actual
Sep22

Target
Sep22

Comments
Comparator
Group

3

% of Section 42 enquiries this quarter where the risk was
reduced or removed

Bigger is Better Latest Quarter 85.3% 87.3% 81.8% 81.7% 82.6% 85.0%

There were 155 Section 42 closures during Quarter 2.
Of these only 11 (7.1%) were closed with the Risk
Remaining, however there were 16 closures (10.3%)
where the outcome was 'Inconclusive'.

84.5%

% of S42 Enquiries open for more than 26 weeks Smaller is Better Latest Quarter 39.1% 26.2% 24.2% 17.7% 20.1% 25.0%

At the end of September 2022 there were 169 open
Section 42 Enquiries (down by 6 from the end of
Quarter 1 2022/23). Of these 34 (20.1%) had been
open for more than 26 weeks.

n/a

Good Performance High/Low Reporting Basis Sep21 Dec21 Mar22 Jun22
Actual
Sep22

Target
Sep22

Comments
Comparator
Group

P
age 137

javascript:sortRowsViewMode('A1','Col2')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('A1','Col14')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('A1','Col4')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('A1','Col5')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('A1','Col6')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('A1','Col7')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('A1','Col8')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('A1','Col9')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('A1','Col11')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('A1','Col12')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('A1','Col2')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('A1','Col14')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('A1','Col4')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('A1','Col5')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('A1','Col6')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('A1','Col7')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('A1','Col8')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('A1','Col9')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('A1','Col11')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('A1','Col12')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('B1','Col2')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('B1','Col3')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('B1','Col4')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('B1','Col5')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('B1','Col6')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('B1','Col7')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('B1','Col8')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('B1','Col11')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('B1','Col12')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('A1','Col2')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('A1','Col14')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('A1','Col4')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('A1','Col5')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('A1','Col6')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('A1','Col7')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('A1','Col8')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('A1','Col9')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('A1','Col11')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('A1','Col12')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('E1','Col2')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('E1','Col3')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('E1','Col4')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('E1','Col5')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('E1','Col6')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('E1','Col7')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('E1','Col8')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('E1','Col9')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('E1','Col11')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('E1','Col12')


Transforming Adult Social Care
Commissioning 

Quality Assurance

% of GCC Commissioned Providers judged to be Good or
Outstanding by CQC

Bigger is Better Latest Quarter 92.3% 92.6% 91.2% 91.3% 90.2% 90.0%

Latest data from CQC (in relationship to 235 Social
Care providers) indicates:
14 providers are rated as Outstanding  down from
18 at Quarter 1 2022/23
198 providers are rated as Good  down from 203
at Quarter 1 2022/23
23 providers are rated as Requires Improvement 
up from 20 at Quarter 1 2022/23
There are no providers rated Inadequate  down
from 1 at Quarter 1 2022/23

n/a

Good Performance High/Low Reporting Basis Sep21 Dec21 Mar22 Jun22
Actual
Sep22

Target
Sep22

Comments
Comparator
Group

Assessments

Average waiting time for a Care Act Compliant Assessment (in
working days)

Smaller is Better Snapshot 17.0 17.0 17.0 6.0 6.0 30.0 n/a

Good Performance High/Low Reporting Basis Sep21 Dec21 Mar22 Jun22
Actual
Sep22

Target
Sep22

Comments
Comparator
Group

Long Term Care

Permanent admissions 1864 to residential & nursing care
homes per 100,000 population

Smaller is Better Rolling Year 16.4 14.8 15.1 14.0 5.9 11.7

There were 22 permanent admissions in the 12
months to 30 September 2022. Admission rates for
the previous 4 quarters have been refreshed to
capture delays in data entry.

11.7

Permanent admissions aged 65+ to residential & nursing care
homes per 100,000 population

Smaller is Better Rolling Year 274.7 267.5 253.9 232.4 228.8 421.2

There were 319 permanent admissions in the 12
months to 30 September 2022. Admission rates for
the previous 4 quarters have been refreshed to
capture delays in data entry.

421.2

Good Performance High/Low Reporting Basis Sep21 Dec21 Mar22 Jun22
Actual
Sep22

Target
Sep22

Comments
Comparator
Group

Mental Health

% of referrals for an AMHP assessment that led to support or
protection being put in place

Bigger is Better Latest Quarter 60.9% 60.5% 57.4% 56.0% 62.0% 60.0%

There were 350 AMHP Assessments completed in the
quarter (up by 10.8% from Quarter 1). The outcome
from 217 Assessments (62%) was detention or other
support being put in place.

n/a

% of Adults receiving secondary Mental Health services in
settled accommodation

Bigger is Better Snapshot 88.0% 89.0% 89.0% 89.0% 88.0% 85.0% August 2022 figure as supplied by GHC 55.0%

Good Performance High/Low Reporting Basis Sep21 Dec21 Mar22 Jun22
Actual
Sep22

Target
Sep22

Comments
Comparator
Group

Learning Disability

4

% of Adults with Learning Disabilities in settled
accommodation

Bigger is Better Snapshot 79.1% 78.6% 78.6% 78.6% 78.6% 78.0% 73.8%

Total number of people in Employment with a Disability (or
work limiting health condition) supported by GCC Forward
Services

Bigger is Better Latest Quarter 547 558 560 n/a

% of Adults with Learning Disabilities in Employment Bigger is Better Annual 6.4% 3.1% 0.8% 2.7%

Update for 2021/22 due in Autumn 2022, however at
the end of September 2022 there were 48 individuals
(known to Adult Social Care) supported via the
Forwards programme

n/a

Good Performance High/Low Reporting Basis Sep21 Dec21 Mar22 Jun22
Actual
Sep22

Target
Sep22

Comments
Comparator
Group

Good Performance High/Low Reporting Basis Mar18 Mar19 Mar20 Mar21 Actual Mar22 Comments
Comparator
Group

P
age 138

javascript:sortRowsViewMode('A1','Col2')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('A1','Col14')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('A1','Col4')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('A1','Col5')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('A1','Col6')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('A1','Col7')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('A1','Col8')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('A1','Col9')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('A1','Col11')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('A1','Col12')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('A1','Col2')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('A1','Col14')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('A1','Col4')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('A1','Col5')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('A1','Col6')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('A1','Col7')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('A1','Col8')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('A1','Col9')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('A1','Col11')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('A1','Col12')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('A1','Col2')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('A1','Col14')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('A1','Col4')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('A1','Col5')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('A1','Col6')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('A1','Col7')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('A1','Col8')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('A1','Col9')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('A1','Col11')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('A1','Col12')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('A1','Col2')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('A1','Col14')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('A1','Col4')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('A1','Col5')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('A1','Col6')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('A1','Col7')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('A1','Col8')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('A1','Col9')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('A1','Col11')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('A1','Col12')


Levelling Up Our Communities

Addressing Public Health Inequalities

Proportion of all Opiate Users in treatment, who successfully
completed treatment and did not represent within 6 months of
completion

Bigger is Better Quarter in
Arrears

4.4% 3.8% 4.1% 4.3% 4.3% 6.3%

The Q1 performance is 4.3% (57/1,325), which is the
same as the previous quarter. Projecting forward by 6
months we are anticipating that this performance will
slowly increase recovering to around 5%. There are
multiple reasons for this low performance including
the halt on discharges and enhanced risk
management brought about by the pandemic which
still affects this metric. This is also affected by the
relative size of the opiate caseload and that there are
a cohort of entrenched opiate users who are resistant
to moving through treatment, and work is underway
to improve progress within this cohort. It would
require 30 further completions to bring this into the
LA family comparator top quartile

5.7%

Proportion of all NonOpiate Users in treatment, not
representing 6 months after completion

Bigger is Better Quarter in
Arrears

21.3% 18.3% 20.3% 23.7% 26.4% 33.2%

The Q1 performance is 26.4% (181/684), this is an
increase from last quarter. Projecting forward 6
months from this point we are anticipating that the
performance will continue to slowly improve
recovering to around 29%. There are multiple
reasons for this low performance including the halt on
discharges and enhanced riskmanagement brought
about by the pandemic which still affects this metric.
73 further completions would be required to bring this
to LA family comparator top quartile.

33.2%

Proportion of adult alcohol misusers who successfully
completed treatment and did not represent within 6 months of
completion

Bigger is Better Quarter in
Arrears

25.9% 23.3% 26.7% 29.5% 35.6% 35.0%

The Q1 performance is 35.6% (291/817), this is an
increase from the last quarter and now above target.
Projecting forward 6 months we are anticipating that
the performance will continue to increase to around
38%. 49 further completions would be required to
bring this to LA family comparator top quartile.

36.9%

% of pregnant smokers achieving a 4 week quit Bigger is Better Quarter in
Arrears

82.0% 80.0% 67.0% 80.0% 66.0% 70.0%

The service continues to achieve good outcomes with
66% of pregnant women achieving a 4week quit in
Q1. This is lower than the Q4 figure (80%) but still
significantly higher than the latest national data
(20/21) figure of 48%. The target for this indicator is
70%  the service has achieved 42/64 4 week quits
which is 3 quits short of achieving the 70% target.
The service is aware that the 66% is lower than their
usual rate and a case review has identified that
improvements are required to the induction of new
staff, which the provider is addressing.

n/a

% of HLS customers that achieve a significant risk factor
improvement

Bigger is Better Quarter in
Arrears

63.6% 62.0% 67.3% 68.4% 71.0% 65.0%

The number of people engaging with the service and
achieving an improvement has increased to
1168/1644 compared to 649/949 in Q4. The
percentage achieving improvement has also
increased to 71% compared to 68.4% in Q4. The
increase is largely due to a significant increase in
those attending Slimming World in the 3 months post
Christmas and who then achieved a 5%
improvement.

n/a

Good Performance High/Low
Reporting
Basis

Jun21 Sep21 Dec21 Mar22
Actual
Jun22

Target
Jun22

Comments
Comparator
Group

% Reception Children with obesity (including severe obesity) Smaller is Better Academic Year 9.0% 9.8% 9.1% 10.0% 13.6%

In 2020/21, Gloucestershire saw an increase in
receptionage children with obesity or severe obesity
compared with prepandemic levels. Data for
Reception has not been published at local authority
level, we have therefore been unable to benchmark
our performance against peer comparators. However,
the increase in prevalence of obesity or severe
obesity in Gloucestershire has been reflected at both
a regional and national level.

n/a

% Year 6 Children with obesity (including severe obesity) Smaller is Better Academic Year 16.2% 16.3% 18.3% 18.4% 21.6%

In 2020/21, Gloucestershire saw an increase in Year 6
children who have obesity or severe obesity
compared with prepandemic levels. However it
should be noted that this was based upon a
10% sample, so performance should be seen
as an estimation. Data for Year 6 has not been
published at local authority level, we have therefore
been unable to benchmark our performance against
peer comparators. However, the increase in
prevalence of obesity or severe obesity in
Gloucestershire has been reflected at both a regional
and national level.

n/a

Reception: Inequality in the prevalence of obesity (including
severe obesity

Smaller is Better Academic Year 7.3% 7.4% 6.8% 5.3% 8.5%

The Slope Index of Inequality (SII) is a measure of
the social gradient in child obesity, i.e. how much
child obesity varies with deprivation. Gloucestershire
saw an increase in the SII for Receptionage children
compared to prepandemic figures. SII data has not
yet been released at a regional or national level for
2020/21.

n/a

Year 6: Inequality in the prevalence of obesity (including
severe obesity)

Smaller is Better Academic Year 13.1% 12.2% 16.7% 18.0% 16.3%

The Slope Index of Inequality (SII) is a measure of
the social gradient in child obesity, i.e. how much
child obesity varies with deprivation. The estimated
figures for Year 6age children in Gloucestershire
appears to have remained constant compared to pre
pandemic figures. SII data has not yet been released
at a regional or national level for 2020/21.

n/a

Good Performance High/Low Reporting Basis Sep17 Sep18 Sep19 Sep20 Actual Sep21 Comments
Comparator
Group

Suicide rate per 100,000 Population Smaller is Better 3Year Average 9.8 10.4 10.2 11.0 11.3 11.4

The suicide rate in Gloucestershire for the three year
period 20192021 is 11.3 per 100,000 of the
population. This is a very slight increase from the rate
in the previous three year period (11.0 in 201820).
Whilst the National rate has remained constant (10.4),
the Regional rate has too seen a slight increase since
20182020 (from 11.6 to 12), resulting in
Gloucestershire remaining above the national
average rate and below the rate for the South West.
The number of suicide deaths in 2021 registered also
remains in line with the average number of deaths
per year from suicide over the last 10 years in
Gloucestershire. The Gloucestershire Suicide
Prevention Partnership continues to monitor deaths
from suicide in the county as part of the ongoing
delivery of the countywide suicide prevention strategy
and action plan. 

Good Performance High/Low Reporting Basis Dec17 Dec18 Dec19 Dec20
Actual
Dec21

Target
Dec21

Comments
Comparator
Group

5

P
age 139

javascript:sortRowsViewMode('A1','Col2')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('A1','Col14')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('A1','Col4')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('A1','Col5')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('A1','Col6')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('A1','Col7')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('A1','Col8')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('A1','Col9')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('A1','Col11')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('A1','Col12')


Levelling Up Our Communities

Addressing Public Health Inequalities

Proportion of all Opiate Users in treatment, who successfully
completed treatment and did not represent within 6 months of
completion

Bigger is Better Quarter in
Arrears

4.4% 3.8% 4.1% 4.3% 4.3% 6.3%

The Q1 performance is 4.3% (57/1,325), which is the
same as the previous quarter. Projecting forward by 6
months we are anticipating that this performance will
slowly increase recovering to around 5%. There are
multiple reasons for this low performance including
the halt on discharges and enhanced risk
management brought about by the pandemic which
still affects this metric. This is also affected by the
relative size of the opiate caseload and that there are
a cohort of entrenched opiate users who are resistant
to moving through treatment, and work is underway
to improve progress within this cohort. It would
require 30 further completions to bring this into the
LA family comparator top quartile

5.7%

Proportion of all NonOpiate Users in treatment, not
representing 6 months after completion

Bigger is Better Quarter in
Arrears

21.3% 18.3% 20.3% 23.7% 26.4% 33.2%

The Q1 performance is 26.4% (181/684), this is an
increase from last quarter. Projecting forward 6
months from this point we are anticipating that the
performance will continue to slowly improve
recovering to around 29%. There are multiple
reasons for this low performance including the halt on
discharges and enhanced riskmanagement brought
about by the pandemic which still affects this metric.
73 further completions would be required to bring this
to LA family comparator top quartile.

33.2%

Proportion of adult alcohol misusers who successfully
completed treatment and did not represent within 6 months of
completion

Bigger is Better Quarter in
Arrears

25.9% 23.3% 26.7% 29.5% 35.6% 35.0%

The Q1 performance is 35.6% (291/817), this is an
increase from the last quarter and now above target.
Projecting forward 6 months we are anticipating that
the performance will continue to increase to around
38%. 49 further completions would be required to
bring this to LA family comparator top quartile.

36.9%

% of pregnant smokers achieving a 4 week quit Bigger is Better Quarter in
Arrears

82.0% 80.0% 67.0% 80.0% 66.0% 70.0%

The service continues to achieve good outcomes with
66% of pregnant women achieving a 4week quit in
Q1. This is lower than the Q4 figure (80%) but still
significantly higher than the latest national data
(20/21) figure of 48%. The target for this indicator is
70%  the service has achieved 42/64 4 week quits
which is 3 quits short of achieving the 70% target.
The service is aware that the 66% is lower than their
usual rate and a case review has identified that
improvements are required to the induction of new
staff, which the provider is addressing.

n/a

% of HLS customers that achieve a significant risk factor
improvement

Bigger is Better Quarter in
Arrears

63.6% 62.0% 67.3% 68.4% 71.0% 65.0%

The number of people engaging with the service and
achieving an improvement has increased to
1168/1644 compared to 649/949 in Q4. The
percentage achieving improvement has also
increased to 71% compared to 68.4% in Q4. The
increase is largely due to a significant increase in
those attending Slimming World in the 3 months post
Christmas and who then achieved a 5%
improvement.

n/a

Good Performance High/Low
Reporting
Basis

Jun21 Sep21 Dec21 Mar22
Actual
Jun22

Target
Jun22

Comments
Comparator
Group

% Reception Children with obesity (including severe obesity) Smaller is Better Academic Year 9.0% 9.8% 9.1% 10.0% 13.6%

In 2020/21, Gloucestershire saw an increase in
receptionage children with obesity or severe obesity
compared with prepandemic levels. Data for
Reception has not been published at local authority
level, we have therefore been unable to benchmark
our performance against peer comparators. However,
the increase in prevalence of obesity or severe
obesity in Gloucestershire has been reflected at both
a regional and national level.

n/a

% Year 6 Children with obesity (including severe obesity) Smaller is Better Academic Year 16.2% 16.3% 18.3% 18.4% 21.6%

In 2020/21, Gloucestershire saw an increase in Year 6
children who have obesity or severe obesity
compared with prepandemic levels. However it
should be noted that this was based upon a
10% sample, so performance should be seen
as an estimation. Data for Year 6 has not been
published at local authority level, we have therefore
been unable to benchmark our performance against
peer comparators. However, the increase in
prevalence of obesity or severe obesity in
Gloucestershire has been reflected at both a regional
and national level.

n/a

Reception: Inequality in the prevalence of obesity (including
severe obesity

Smaller is Better Academic Year 7.3% 7.4% 6.8% 5.3% 8.5%

The Slope Index of Inequality (SII) is a measure of
the social gradient in child obesity, i.e. how much
child obesity varies with deprivation. Gloucestershire
saw an increase in the SII for Receptionage children
compared to prepandemic figures. SII data has not
yet been released at a regional or national level for
2020/21.

n/a

Year 6: Inequality in the prevalence of obesity (including
severe obesity)

Smaller is Better Academic Year 13.1% 12.2% 16.7% 18.0% 16.3%

The Slope Index of Inequality (SII) is a measure of
the social gradient in child obesity, i.e. how much
child obesity varies with deprivation. The estimated
figures for Year 6age children in Gloucestershire
appears to have remained constant compared to pre
pandemic figures. SII data has not yet been released
at a regional or national level for 2020/21.

n/a

Good Performance High/Low Reporting Basis Sep17 Sep18 Sep19 Sep20 Actual Sep21 Comments
Comparator
Group

Suicide rate per 100,000 Population Smaller is Better 3Year Average 9.8 10.4 10.2 11.0 11.3 11.4

The suicide rate in Gloucestershire for the three year
period 20192021 is 11.3 per 100,000 of the
population. This is a very slight increase from the rate
in the previous three year period (11.0 in 201820).
Whilst the National rate has remained constant (10.4),
the Regional rate has too seen a slight increase since
20182020 (from 11.6 to 12), resulting in
Gloucestershire remaining above the national
average rate and below the rate for the South West.
The number of suicide deaths in 2021 registered also
remains in line with the average number of deaths
per year from suicide over the last 10 years in
Gloucestershire. The Gloucestershire Suicide
Prevention Partnership continues to monitor deaths
from suicide in the county as part of the ongoing
delivery of the countywide suicide prevention strategy
and action plan. 

Good Performance High/Low Reporting Basis Dec17 Dec18 Dec19 Dec20
Actual
Dec21

Target
Dec21

Comments
Comparator
Group

6

P
age 140

javascript:sortRowsViewMode('C1','Col2')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('C1','Col3')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('C1','Col4')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('C1','Col5')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('C1','Col6')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('C1','Col7')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('C1','Col8')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('C1','Col11')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('C1','Col12')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('D1','Col2')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('D1','Col3')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('D1','Col4')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('D1','Col5')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('D1','Col6')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('D1','Col7')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('D1','Col8')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('D1','Col9')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('D1','Col11')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('D1','Col12')


WORK PLAN BRIEFING NOTE 

ADULT SOCIAL CARE AND COMMUNITIES SCRUTINY COMMITTEE

24 JANUARY 2023

Recruitment and Retention of Staff in the Independent Sector

The Adult Transformation Programme includes a workforce portfolio which 
incorporates an internal workforce workstream and an external one that focuses on 
the independent care sector. The external workstream aims to support independent 
care provider recruiters and the care community to recruit and retain a skilled and 
valued workforce that delivers high-quality adult social care to Gloucestershire 
communities. 

There are three themes to the work:

 Engage - with providers and the workforce
 Encourage - best practice in recruitment and retention 
 Enable - providers to build a sustainable, capable, and values-based care 

sector workforce

To progress these three themes various initiatives are underway: 

Proud to Care

Using data processes and tools developed over the last year Proud to Care is now 
able to target new cohorts of people to promote care as a career, connect potential 
care workforce to local recruiters and explore and expand care entry options. 

A local campaign in the Forest of Dean last year saw a promotional Forest of Dean 
care recruitment campaign video , featuring local employers and carers describing 
why they like working in care and in the Forest of Dean. Numerous events were held 
over a 3-month period including face to face walk up information sessions, job centre 
attendance and media promotion (social media, newspaper, and Sky TV Ad) 
targeted to the area. 

During this time the online job’s board resource has been revamped to reflect a 
district approach making it much easier for providers to reach candidates who want 
to work in their area.  The Proud to Care Gloucestershire jobs board can be found  
here.

The contract for Pro Learn – an online resource to enable providers to access 
training opportunities for their staff is being renewed.

A new “External Workforce Development” post has been created and is currently 
being advertised which will support the provider market with all things to do with 
training and development including: - 

Page 141

Agenda Item 10

https://youtu.be/7uGFxSl9X2E
https://youtu.be/7uGFxSl9X2E
https://www.proudtocareglos.org.uk/find-a-job/search-jobs/


WORK PLAN BRIEFING NOTE 

ADULT SOCIAL CARE AND COMMUNITIES SCRUTINY COMMITTEE

24 JANUARY 2023

 work with the whole of integrated commissioning and our provider 
organisations and their representatives to understand workforce 
challenges across the external market

 work with Skills for Care and Gloucestershire Learning Providers Network 
(local colleges, university, adult education, and independent training 
providers) and other stakeholders to develop the training offer.

 work with Proud to Care to dovetail training with recruitment support. 

 work with ICS partners to manage and develop our digital enablement of 
care providers strategy

 work with stakeholders to maintain or redevelop the Fundamentals of Care 
training programme locally.

Brokerage

An external consultant has been employed to work with Brokerage staff on 
commissioning processes, predominantly in the domiciliary care sector. This work 
has facilitated the building of a sound knowledge and database of providers, 
workforce and recruitment in the county to allow targeted recruitment to take place 
thus supporting the work of Proud to Care.

This database however has the primary purpose to identify capacity of providers 
local to packages being sought by brokers. This “hyper-local” commissioning 
function has enabled us to target our scant domiciliary care resources much more 
effectively and supports providers in recruitment and retention as they are more 
confident that they can offer staff sustainable employment in the area that they want 
to work. 

This change in practice, alongside careful use of commissioning incentives, has 
increased the number of people we support in the community significantly over the 
last 6 months. 

Commissioning

Commissioners regularly collaborate with the local provider representative 
organisation (GCPA), local providers and system partners to build an understanding 
of market support needs. Where barriers to entering/remaining/progressing in the 
sector are identified we then work with partners to support sustainable solutions.

Page 142



WORK PLAN BRIEFING NOTE 

ADULT SOCIAL CARE AND COMMUNITIES SCRUTINY COMMITTEE

24 JANUARY 2023

Recognising that there are multiple interfaces between our provider market and the 
many facets of the health and social care system as a whole we aim to streamline 
and coordinate our offer of provider support into a single access hub that 
incorporates: information and advice; access to training opportunities; digital 
development; quality improvement; clinical advice and guidance; recruitment and 
retention support.   

The new External Workforce Development post will be working on this as a priority 
project once appointed. 

Page 143



This page is intentionally left blank



Work Plan Items 2022-23 

Gloucestershire Health Overview and Scrutiny Committee and Adult Social Care and Communities Scrutiny Committee

 
HOSC Work Plan Items ASCC Work Plan Items

Future Items: 

1. Suicide/Mental Health Support: At the ASCC meeting on 6 September 2022, the 
committee proposed a joint review (ASCC and HOSC) of work to support people of 
all ages at risk of taking their own lives. 

Future items: 

1. Suicide/Mental Health Support: At the ASCC meeting on 6 September 2022, 
the committee proposed a joint review (ASCC and HOSC) of work to support 
people of all ages at risk of taking their own lives.

2. Action on Adverse Childhood Experiences (ACEs) Gloucestershire 
Collaboration Presentation. 

3. Recommendation to the Environment Scrutiny Committee that the 
committee, (Air Quality Management Task Group), consider the impact of air 
pollution from wood burners and the burning of other substances.

4. Behavioural Science – 6 Month Update 

5. Gloucestershire Combatting Drug Partnership – Update 

6. Care Act Reform – Information Session to all Councillors 

HOSC – 14 March 2023 ASCC – 7 March 2023

 Review Winter Sustainability and Surge 
Management Plan 2022/23 (ASCC members 
invited to join the meeting remotely to 
consider/ask questions on this item)

 CQC Assurance Update
 Motion 908 (Violence Against Women) Report

HOSC – 31 January 2023 Notes ASCC – 24 January 2023 Notes

 NHS Gloucestershire ICB/ICP Presentation to 
the Committee 

 Ophthalmology

 Transformational Changes in Adult Social Care – 
Autumn Update

 Director of Public Health Annual Report 2023 
 GSAB Annual Report
 Request from Corporate Scrutiny Committee (Dec 

2022) to consider the establishment of an ASCC 

P
age 145



Work Plan Items 2022-23 

Gloucestershire Health Overview and Scrutiny Committee and Adult Social Care and Communities Scrutiny Committee

scrutiny task group to look at social care staff 
shortages and retention. 

HOSC – 6 December 2022 Notes HOSC/ASCC Joint Committee Meeting 15 November 
2022

Notes

 Dentistry 
 Mental Health 
 Ophthalmology – deferred to Jan 2022
 CQC Inspection Update 

Add Dentistry new 
arrangements/involvement 
of HOSC (post April 2023) 
to the committee work 
plan for consideration at a 
future meeting.

 One item agenda: Scrutiny Review of Urgent and 
Emergency Care in Gloucestershire

HOSC – 18 October (Joint Meeting) Notes ASCC – 6 September 2022 Notes
 Joint Meeting with ASCC to consider the Winter 

Sustainability and Surge Management Plan 
2022/23

 Council Motion 881 - Tackling poverty and 
deprivation in Gloucestershire.

Members to consider a report in response to 
Council Motion 881, (Tackling Poverty and 
Deprivation in Gloucestershire). At the Council 
meeting on 8 September 2021, it was agreed to 
‘bring regular progress reports on the progress 
of the Health and Wellbeing Board’s seven 
strategic priorities to the Health Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee’. The report to include an 
update on the outcomes of the Gloucestershire 
Build Back Better Levelling Up Our 
Communities Conference held on 19 May 2022.

 FFTF2 – Consultation Outcomes Briefing

 

 Voluntary and Community Sector/Covid-19 
Funding/Community Grant Scheme Update (a 
presentation from Di Billingham) 

 Signs and symptoms of suicide (to be followed up 
with an item on suicide risks and prevention at a 
later meeting)

 Behavioural Change.

P
age 146



Work Plan Items 2022-23 

Gloucestershire Health Overview and Scrutiny Committee and Adult Social Care and Communities Scrutiny Committee

HOSC – 12 July 2022 Notes ASCC – 5 July 2022 Notes
 Introduction to local screening and 

immunisation services presentation (a 
presentation from Dr Matthew Dominey - 
Consultant in Public Health/Screening and 
Immunisation Lead for NHS England and NHS 
Improvement – Southwest

 SWAST Presentation 

 GP Retention and Recruitment Update 

 Review Gloucestershire Memorandum of 
Understanding Process/Form 

FFTF2 – end of 
engagement 

 New Library Strategy 

 Civil Protection Team Presentation 

 Included in the ASC Information report at this 
meeting will be updates on: - 

i) The outcome of the OSJ consultation – 
ii) Progress on the planning arrangements for 

ASC reforms 
iii) Ageing Well Initiative

HOSC – 17 May 2022 Notes ASCC – 10 May 2022
 Fit for the Future 2 Update (including an update 

on the MOU’s considered at the March 
meeting). 

FFTF2 – start of 
engagement

 Motion 890 (Domestic Abuse Review)
 Drug/Alcohol Contract Briefing

Trading Standards Presentation 

 Possible NHS Gloucestershire ICB/ICP 
Presentation to the Committee (to clarify the 
role of HOSC/scrutiny of the ICP)

 Transformational Changes in Adult Social Care – 
Autumn Update. 

 Director of Public Health Annual Report

Standard information reports (presented at each meeting) include: - 

Health Overview and Scrutiny Committee: - 

1. NHS One Gloucestershire Integrated Care System (ICS) Performance Report – a report on the performance of the Gloucestershire Integrated 
Care System (ICS) against NHS constitutional and other agreed standards.

P
age 147



Work Plan Items 2022-23 

Gloucestershire Health Overview and Scrutiny Committee and Adult Social Care and Communities Scrutiny Committee

2. One Gloucestershire NHS Integrated Care Board (ICB) Update Report - a report from the One Gloucestershire NHS Integrated Care Board (ICB), 
known collectively as NHS Gloucestershire. The report to include updates from NHS representatives and partners responsible for overseeing the day-
to-day running of the NHS in Gloucestershire, including the commissioning, (buying), of services and the development of plans to meet the health 
needs of the local population.

Adult Social Care and Communities Scrutiny Committee: - 
1. Quarterly Performance Report
2. Public Health Update Report 
3. Adult Social Care Report 
4. Chief Fire Officer Report 

P
age 148


	Agenda
	3 Minutes
	Minutes
	4 Behavioural Science

	4 Director of Public Health Annual Report 2022/23
	Item 4 - Annual Public Health Report 2022-23

	5 Gloucestershire Safeguarding Adults Board Annual Report
	6 Public Health Update Report
	7 Adult Social Care Update Report
	8 Chief Fire Officer Update Report
	9 Quarter 2 (2022/23) Performance Scorecard Report
	10 Work Plan
	Scrutiny Work Plan Grid (Jan 2023) (002)




